DISSERTATION

SOIL ORGANIC MATTER AND AGGREGATE DYNAMICS IN AN ARCTIC ECOSYSTEM

Submitted by

Rodney T. Simpson

Graduate Degree Program in Ecology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2010

Doctoral Committee:

Director: N. LeRoy Poff

Advisor: John C. Moore

Philip Cafaro Keith Paustian Johan Six Copyright by Rodney T. Simpson 2010

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

SOIL ORGANIC MATTER AND AGGREGATE DYNAMICS IN AN ARCTIC ECOSYSTEM

Warming has been linked to changes in Arctic soil carbon cycling. Cold temperatures and anoxic conditions in the Arctic diminish microbial activity. As a result mineralization rates are low and the system is nitrogen-limited, further reducing biological activity. Reducing this constraint on nutrient availability has resulted in a vegetation shift and loss of soil carbon; however, the mechanisms behind soil carbon loss are not well understood. The focus of this study was on the active mineral layer directly below the organic horizon.

Soils were collected during the 2007 growing season from a long-term nutrient addition experiment in which soils had been fertilized with additional N and P since 1996 and 1989 at the Arctic LTER site at Toolik Lake, on the Alaskan North Slope. Roots were separated from the soil to estimate biomass. Soils were separated into four size classes of water-stable aggregates (Large and small macroaggregates, microaggregates, and silt+clay). Small macroaggregates were separated into three subfractions (coarse particulate organic matter (POM), occluded microaggregates, and silt+clay). Density floatation was used to separate light fraction (LF) organic matter from heavy fraction in small macroaggregates and microaggregates. Intra-aggregate POM (iPOM) content was determined in small macroaggregates and microaggregates. Differences in aggregate size distribution, C and N allocation, and C:N in each fraction were analyzed.

Small Macroaggregates were the dominant aggregate fraction in all treatments. Mid-season declines in large macroaggregate abundance from soils with nutrient addition differed statistically from the control, though both comprised <10% of the whole soil. The ratio of free:occluded microaggregates rose over the growing season, which indicated that microaggregates occluded within small macroaggregates were released upon macroaggregate disruption. Occluded microaggregates tended to possess higher carbon and nitrogen contents than free microaggregates due to increased physical protection within the macroaggregate. As a result, the ratio of free:occluded microaggregate C:N declined over the growing season, possibly due to N-rich, formerly occluded microaggregates entering the free microaggregate pool. Nutrient addition resulted in changes in C allocation in the small aggregate LF and microaggregate iPOM to an increasingly large amount over the growing season. Nitrogen allocation responded in a similar manner, resulting in a lower C:N in the LF of soils under nutrient addition since 1989. Nutrient addition resulted in an increase in root biomass by the middle of the growing season; however by the final sampling date, root biomass declined.

Nutrient addition affected aggregate size class distribution only in mid-June, which indicated that this is a dynamic period of aggregate formation and may be dependent on the microbial community and N availability. Macroaggregate turnover, as evidenced by free:occluded microaggregate abundance, occurred earlier in the growing

iii

season in soils with nutrient addition than the control. As a result, SOM formerly occluded within macroaggregates may be increasingly susceptible to decomposition by the microbial community over the growing season. The re-allocation of SOM from physically protected aggregates to light fraction with nutrient addition may result in shifts in SOM stability in these soils. The observed increases in the proportion of soil carbon as light fraction and iPOM with nutrient addition indicate a shift towards an increase in POM fractions that tend to be labile, potentially mineralizable sources of organic matter. The balance between the rates of organic matter input and decomposition may favor decomposition, resulting in a short-term loss of carbon in Arctic soil. Carbon content may stabilize in the future as its remaining stocks become increasingly processed by the microbial community. These results highlight the importance of multiple sample collection dates, which are necessary if we are to improve our understanding of factors driving SOM stabilization in Arctic soils.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support of many people. First, thank you to John Moore for serving as advisor. He has provided much encouragement and advice through many years of work. No one could ask for a person more committed to providing opportunities for research and outreach experience for his graduate students while allowing them to develop their own ideas and choose their own intellectual paths.

Thank you to Philip Cafaro, Keith Paustian, and Johan Six for serving on the graduate committee and providing valuable advice on improving the dissertation itself in addition to encouraging broader-perspective views and highlighting the importance of being aware of the research and general science history that has contributed to the current state of soil ecology.

Thank you to Tom Creegan, Dave Swartz, and especially to Greg Selby and Karl Wyant for helping with sample collection and processing. It has been a pleasure to work with Greg and Karl through the years, and their humor and commitment to long hours of work are much appreciated. Thank you to Dan Reuss and Colin Pinney at the Natural Resource Ecology Laboratory for providing laboratory advice and helping in trouble-shooting laboratory-related issues. Jim zumBrunnen of the Franklin A. Graybill Statistical Laboratory at Colorado State University provided data analysis advice. Kim Melville-Smith and D.J. Groves provided logistical assistance at NREL; in addition, Kim was willing to provide transportation to and from the airport for sample collection trips, often at very early hours of the morning.

Logistical support for field research was provided by the staff of Toolik Field Station. Arctic LTER field plot use permission and advice were generously provided by Gus Shaver and Jim Laundre of the Marine Biological Laboratory, Woods Hole, MA.

Thank you to friends and family, particularly to Anne Simpson, for support and encouragement. This dissertation was supported by NSF Grant OPP #0425606 to Laura Gough and John Moore and NSF DDIG DEB #0909747 to John Moore and Rodney Simpson.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Abstract</u> ii
Acknowledgements
Chapter 1: Literature Review and Background 1
Section 1.1. Introduction: Changes in Low arctic systems
Section 1.1 Subsection 1: Impact of rising temperature
Section 1.1 Subsection 2: Impact of Changes in Vegetation
Section 1.2. Soil, Soil Organic Matter, and Soil Aggregates
Section 1.2 Subsection 1: Soil10
Section 1.2 Subsection 2: Soil Organic Matter12
Section 1.2 Subsection 3: General description of Soil Aggregates13
Section 1.2 Subsection 4: Role of Aggregates in Soil Carbon Storage
and Stabilization15
Section 1.2 Subsection 5: Aggregate sub-structure16
Section 1.2 Subsection 6: Light Fraction organic matter
Section 1.3. Arctic Linkages to Soil Organic Matter dynamics
Section 1.3 Subsection 1:Role of disturbance21
Section 1.4. 2006 Field Season Work27
Section 1.5. 2007 Field Season Work and Hypotheses
Section 1.6. References
Chapter 2: Field sampling, initial aggregate separation, and
Macroaggregate sub-fractionation
Section 2.1: Introduction
Section 2.2. Procedures
Section 2.2 Subsection 1:Study Site
Section 2.2 Subsection 2: Site Description and Methods
Section 2.3 Subsection 3: Statistical methods

Section 2.3. Results	62
Section 2.3 Subsection 1: Aggregate size distribution (H1)	62
Section 2.3 Subsection 2: Carbon and Nitrogen Results for aggregate	
size classes (H2)	66
Section 2.3 Subsection 3: Small macroaggregate-derived	
sub-fractions (H3)	77
Section 2.3 Subsection 4: Comparisons between free and	
macroaggregate-derived microaggregates	82
Section 2.4. Discussion	87
Section 2.4 Subsection 1: Aggregate size distribution (H1)	87
Section 2.4 Subsection 2: Aggregate C and N content (H2)	88
Section 2.4 Subsection 2: Macroaggregate-derived	
microaggregates (H3)	01
Section 2.4 Subsection 4: Comparisons between free and	
occluded microaggregates	92
Section 2.4 Subsection 5: Potential linkages to other studies	03
Section 2.4 Subsection 5: Forential mixages to other studies	04
Section 2.4 Subsection 7: Effects of time under nutrient addition	94
Section 2.4 Subsection 7. Effects of time under nutrent addition	95
Section 2.5 References	97
<u>Section 2.5. References</u>	
er 3: Light Fraction and intra-aggregate Particulate Organic Matter	
separations from Small Macroaggregates and Microaggregates	.101
Section 3.1. Introduction	.101
Section 3.2. Procedures	108
Section 3.2 Subsection 1: Density Separation Procedure	.108
Section 3.2 Subsection 2: Statistical methods	.109
	110
Section 3.3. Results.	110
Section 3.3 Subsection 1: Silt+Clay-associated Carbon	
and Nitrogen (P4.1)	110
Section 3.3 Subsection 2: Light Fraction and iPOM Carbon	
(P4.2 and P4.3)	112
Section 3.3 Subsection 3: Light Fraction Nitrogen (P4.4)	119
Section 3.3 Subsection 4: Light Fraction Carbon:Nitrogen (P4.5)	.124
Section 3.3 Subsection 5: Mineral Soil Live Root Biomass (P4.6)	.126
Section 2.4 Discussion	107
<u>5001011 5.4. Discussion</u>	.12/
	126

Chapter 4: Integration of results into a conceptual model of soil organic	
<u>matter stabilization within aggregates</u> 141	
Section 4.1 Introduction 141	
Section 4.1 Subsection 1: Chapter 2 summary 141	
Section 4.1 Subsection 2: Chapter 3 summary	
Section 4.2. Soil Organic Matter, microbes, food web, and nutrient addition146	
Section 4.2 Subsection 1: Linkages between nutrient addition and	
foodweb dynamics146	
Section 4.2 Subsection 2: Linkages between nutrient addition and	
microbial activity146	
Section 4.2 Subsection 3: Linkages between nutrient addition and	
aggregate/particulate organic	
matter dynamics147	
Section 4.2 Concentral model of relationships between accordances DOM	
Section 4.5. Conceptual model of relationsmps between aggregates, POM, and biota with nutriant addition	
Section 4.4. Long-term effects/Unanswered Questions/ Future Work 152	
Section 1.1. Long term encets, enanswered Questions, Future Work	
Section 4.5. References155	
Appendix A158	
Appendix B160	
Appendix C16/	
Annondix D	
Appendix F	
Appendix F	
Appendix G198	
Appendix H205	
Appendix 1	
Appendix J	
Appendix K 233	
¹ 1 pponoi/1 11	

CHAPTER ONE

LITERATURE REVIEW AND BACKGROUND

Section 1.1. Introduction: Changes in Low arctic systems

Arctic ecosystems contain an estimated 14% of the global terrestrial carbon pool (Post *et al.* 1982), stored in soil organic matter (SOM). Cold temperatures and anoxic conditions in the Arctic inhibit microbial activity, lowering decomposition rates and thereby stabilizing soil organic matter (Hobbie *et al.* 2000), which is formed from decomposing plant material, animal carcasses and excrement, and microbes (Schreiner and Shorey 1911; Miller and Gardiner 1998). Under these conditions, mineralization rates are low relative to plant demand, resulting in a nitrogen-limited-system, further reducing biological activity. Until recently, climatic conditions had remained relatively stable since the beginning of the Holocene epoch 10,000 years ago, resulting in a net carbon sink (Greene *et al.* 2008). Warming trends in the Arctic appear to have altered this climatic constraint on soil biological activity, leading to increased decomposition and soil CO₂ efflux (Doles 2000; Oechel *et al.* 2000; Hobbie *et al.* 2002; Mack *et al.* 2004).

Arctic ecosystems are being intensely studied with regard to nutrient cycling because observed local-level to ecosystem-level changes in the system, particularly vegetation and carbon storage dynamics, may be accurate early indicators of broader-scale changes in global vegetation and carbon cycling dynamics to come (Shaver *et al.* 1992). Rising temperature in the Arctic has resulted in longer growing seasons due to earlier thaw and later freeze, which impacts vegetation composition (Stow *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, long-term nutrient addition experiments (1982-present) have demonstrated a shift from tussock tundra dominated by *Eriophorum vaginatum* to shrub tundra dominated by the dwarf arctic birch, *Betula nana* (Chapin *et al.* 1995; Shaver *et al.* 2001).

Preliminary fieldwork was conducted (a detailed description of which is provided below) at a long-term nutrient addition site located at the Arctic Long Term Ecological Research (LTER) site at Toolik Lake, Alaska. The results from this work demonstrated the presence of soil macroaggregates in arctic soils and provided evidence that soil structure (aggregate formation) is positively linked to carbon storage in arctic soils and is affected by change (nutrient addition). This preliminary work led to several questions (details below) regarding the location and stability of SOM within the soil matrix:

- 1. What linkages exist between soil C and macroaggregate sub-structure elements in arctic soils?
- 2. What are the temporal dynamics of aggregates in arctic soils over the growing season?
- 3. Is SOM more stable within aggregates compared to non-aggregate-associated light fraction?
- 4. What are the relationships between light fraction and live root biomass dynamics?

Based on the above questions, the following hypotheses were developed, and a more detailed description will be provided below:

- **H1:** Aggregate size distribution in arctic tundra is dynamic under natural conditions and responds to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and temperature.
- H2: Aggregate carbon and nitrogen content in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions and respond to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, aggregate size distribution, and temperature.
- **H3**: Macroaggregate substructure size distribution and C:N in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions and respond to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and soil macroaggregate turnover.
- H4: Particulate organic matter carbon content, nitrogen content, and locationwithin the soil matrix as either light fraction or iPOM in arctic tundra aredynamic under natural conditions and respond to changes in organic matterinputs, microbial activity, soil aggregate turnover, and temperature.

Subsequent sections in this chapter will provide the rationale behind the above hypotheses. The following two subsections introduce two topics related to arctic change: (1) the impact of rising temperature in the Arctic and (2) the impact of shifts in vegetation cover and composition.

Section 1.1 Subsection 1: Impact of rising temperature

Arctic ecosystems have warmed significantly over the past 30 years (Oechel *et al.* 2000; Serreze *et al.* 2000). An increase in CO_2 and CH_4 production with increased SOM decomposition may result in a positive feedback to increased temperatures (White *et al.* 2004). Over time, a positive respiration feedback to temperature may result in carbon loss from arctic soils. Carbon in the organic horizon would be lost through increased decomposition, while increased temperature would lead to a widening of the active mineral layer through permafrost thawing (Schuur *et al.* 2009), which would expose organic matter to decomposition and resulting CO_2 efflux.

Increasing temperature in the Arctic may result in longer growing seasons due to earlier thaw and later freeze, increased precipitation, and increased nutrient availability (reviewed in Stow *et al.* 2004; Tape *et al.* 2006). These changes have the potential to impact vegetation composition. On a short-term scale, carbon loss is predicted to occur from arctic soils, but shrub expansion and subsequent shift of biomass to aboveground woody tissue may stabilize arctic terrestrial carbon, though not in the soil (Oechel *et al.* 1993). While increased decomposition would result in carbon loss, the remaining carbon would be more processed and therefore more chemically stable than current carbon stocks. An increase of shrub abundance over the past 50 years has been documented (Sturm *et al.* 2001).

Arctic soils are nutrient-limited due to unavailable organic matter in the permafrost layer (Hobbie and Chapin 1998). As this layer thaws due to increasing temperature, more

labile nutrients will become available to the microbial community, which can potentially result in a greater efflux of CO_2 from these soils (Hobbie *et al.* 2002; Grogan and Chapin 2000). Increases in nitrogen availability may alter SOM turnover by altering decomposition and plant growth rates (Neff *et al.* 2002).

Microbial activity and the nutrient cycles they mediate may also be affected by increased temperatures (Oelbermann *et al.* 2008). Microbial respiration rapidly increases in response to increased temperature. Uchida *et al.* (2010) measured a 20% increase in microbial respiration within one hour of increasing soil temperature by 2°C from a base temperature of 9°C on soils from a New Zealand grassland. However, higher temperature increases of 24°C reduced activity. Nadelhoffer *et al.* (1991) conducted a series of incubations of arctic soils and found that carbon and nitrogen mineralization rates were not affected by temperatures below 9°C, but doubled when the temperature was increased to 15°C. Increases in temperature remove constraints on microbial enzyme activity and on microbial metabolism in general, thereby increasing decomposition rates; however, constraints on nutrient availability may still remain (Wallenstein *et al.* 2009).

Microbially-produced enzymes that metabolize structurally-complex molecules generally have higher Q_{10} values for carbon mineralization, as evidenced by low respiration rates with low temperature (Mikan *et al.* 2002). Decomposition of relatively stable organic compounds is more temperature sensitive than labile compounds, meaning as temperatures rise, more resistant pools of organic matter will be relatively more sensitive than labile pools, if Q_{10} is higher for resistant compounds (Kirschbaum 1995, 2006; Koch *et al.* 2007; Conant *et al.* 2008). Reducing at least one constraint (temperature) on the decomposition of organic matter with intermediate turnover rates could potentially result in carbon loss.

Direct N+P additions to tundra have resulted in carbon losses from soil. Mack *et al.* (2004) reported a net carbon loss in soils after nearly 20 years of nutrient addition, including a 50% decrease in root biomass. This carbon loss occurred through the whole soil profile, but was greatest in mineral soils underlying a thick organic layer, which is of particular interest because carbon stored in this layer had been sequestered in the past, but as nutrient availability became less of a limiting factor through warming, the pool was depleted. We do not know whether this observed carbon loss will continue or if it is a component of a shift to an altered steady state, nor do we know if the carbon loss observed by Mack *et al.* (2004) occurred at a steady rate or if there were changes in the rate of carbon loss. A large fraction of the global soil carbon pool is found within Arctic systems; therefore, an increased rate of carbon dioxide release from tundra soils will have a potentially major impact on atmospheric greenhouse gas concentration (Melillo *et al.* 1990).

Section 1.1 Subsection 2: Impact of Changes in Vegetation

Much of the observed change in arctic tundra vegetation has been focused on conversion from tussock tundra to shrub tundra. This change occurs when the vegetation transition zone is correlated with climatic factors, including summer temperature and winter snow

conditions, and dominant species have properties that allow them to increase in abundance following a climate shift (reviewed in Epstein *et al.* 2004).

Changes in the vegetation composition, including a shift from tussock to shrub tundra in response to nutrient addition, has been demonstrated in the Arctic (Shaver *et al.* 2001; Sturm *et al.* 2001; Tape *et al.* 2006). Chapin *et al.* (1995) found that vegetation biomass increased after three years of nutrient addition, but composition did not change; however, after nine years, *Betula nana* dominated plots that had nutrient addition. *Betula* dominance increased from 70% after nine years to 90% of total plant cover after 15 years of nutrient addition (Shaver *et al.* 2001). This dominance was not based on recruitment, but on the increased growth rate of individuals already present (Bret-Harte *et al.* 2002). As a result the experimental plots shifted from being tussock tundra to an intermediary form between tussock and shrub tundra. Previous nutrient addition studies have shown that in *Betula*, stem length increases for the first few years, then declines as branching increases in later years (Bret-Harte *et al.* 2002), which results in a plant structure that differs from those measured under normal conditions.

A shift from tussock to shrub tundra could have a potentially far-reaching impact. The organic layer of soil is thinner under shrub tundra than tussock tundra. Soil carbon is also less in shrub tundra, and winter temperatures are warmer under shrubs than tussocks. Also, shrub branches protruding above the snow layer help to conduct heat to the immediate area around the shrub, leading to accelerated snowmelt and a positive

feedback to warming (Chapin *et al.* 2005). These factors can result in increased CO_2 efflux from these soils (Epstein *et al.* 2004).

Under control conditions, *Betula* produces mostly short shoots. Bret-Hart *et al.* (2001) reported that nutrient addition resulted in an increase in long-shoot production in *Betula*, which is of importance because long shoots are able to produce branches, whereas short shoots are not. The extensive branching of *Betula* with nutrient addition affected canopy height and structure, and its leaf area index tripled with nutrient addition (Bret-Harte *et al.* 2001). However, a warming treatment using greenhouses had little effect on long shoot production, except when greenhouses were combined with nutrient addition. These results demonstrated developmental plasticity in response to increased nutrient availability in that additional apical meristems were recruited for shoot elongation. A greater number of meristems has allowed *Betula* to greatly increase its branching which has enabled it become dominant over the other vegetation types in response to nutrient addition, which in turn may affect ecosystem-scale processes (Bret-Harte *et al.* 2001).

Vegetation shifts may result in a reallocation of carbon from belowground to woody structures aboveground (Chapin *et al.* 1995). This alone does not explain the soil carbon loss reported by Mack *et al.* (2004) because fresh organic matter inputs, consisting of leaf litter and root exudates still enter the SOM pool. Sullivan *et al.* (2007) found that long-term nutrient addition led to a shift in root biomass production and distribution. *Eriophorum*, the tussock graminoid, has deep annual roots whereas *Betula*, the shrub whose growth is enhanced by nutrient addition, has long-lived roots that are shallower

than the *Eriophorum* roots. This shift in root dynamics has led to a loss of carbon at lower depths.

Soil structure is a central component of conceptual models that effectively explain relationships between soil structure and SOM dynamics within temperate systems, particularly in cultivated systems and temperate grasslands (Elliott 1986, Six *et al.* 1998, 1999). These conceptual models could possibly be applied to arctic soils, but would need to be modified in order to account for differences in arctic vs. temperate soils. For instance, in tussock tundra the active mineral soil layer is the interface between organic soil and permafrost soil, and is influenced by both permafrost below and organic soil above it. Interactions between the organic and mineral soil horizons occur within the active mineral layer, including organic matter cycling and belowground foodweb activity. These interactions may be dependent on physical stabilization of SOM through the biologically-mediated formation of water stable soil aggregates.

In the following sections, descriptions of soil, soil organic matter, and soil aggregate dynamics are provided. An attempt is made to link the concepts of soil carbon storage and soil aggregate dynamics with the previously-described changes in the Arctic. Results from the 2006 field season are provided, and the objectives of the 2007 field season are introduced, accompanied by four conceptual hypotheses that form the basis of this dissertation.

Section 1.2. Soil, Soil Organic Matter, and Soil Aggregates

In this section, concepts related to soil, soil organic matter, and soil aggregate dynamics that are relevant to my research are introduced. This section is separated into six subheadings, starting with a general description of soil and soil formation factors, followed by discussions of soil organic matter, soil aggregates, and linkages between aggregates and soil carbon storage, and ending with a description of aggregate substructure and light fraction organic matter. The objective in this section is to increasingly narrow the scope of interest down to the light fraction organic matter while keeping the overall concept of the dynamic role of soil in terrestrial carbon storage in context.

Section 1.2 Subsection 1: Soil

Soil is comprised of particles that may include sand, silt, clay, and organic matter as well as pore space between the particles which is filled with gases or water. Soil is discernable from the parent material from which it originated in that it has undergone physical and chemical weathering of primary and secondary minerals (Birkeland 1999; Soil Survey Staff 1999). Jenny (1994, 1st edition published in 1941) provided a fundamental equation of soil formation, s = f(cl, o, r, p, t), where the five independent factors of soil formation are climate (cl), organisms (o), topography (r), parent material (p), and time (t). These five factors interact with each other to form soil. In the next paragraph, a brief description of arctic soils with respect to the previously mentioned soil forming factors (Jenny 1994; Miller and Gardiner 1998; Birkeland 1999) is provided. Soils may take hundreds to thousands of years to develop, and over that time, their characteristics change due to, for example, parent material weathering and organic matter accumulation. On the other hand, soils may be degraded, for example, through thermokarst formation due to thawing permafrost, on a much shorter time scale (Osterkamp and Romanovsky 1999).

Soils in Arctic Alaska are underlain by continuous permafrost, and vary depending on vegetation type, parent material age, and topography. Wet sedge tundra is most commonly found on the arctic coastal plain and occurs on flat, low-lying areas. The two most abundant tundra types, moist acidic and non-acidic tundra, are generally found in upland areas with gentle hillslopes (Shaver and Chapin 1991). The direction a slope faces also influences soil formation; south- and west-facing slopes receive more radiation in the Northern Hemisphere than north- and east-facing ones, which may affect productivity.

Soils in Arctic Alaska are largely formed from glacial till parent material, and the age of the soil is dependent on how long the area has been de-glaciated. Moist non-acidic tundra occurs on relatively young soils that were deglaciated between 11,500-25,000 years ago (Hamilton 1986). Because they are not as weathered, moist non-acidic tundra soils have more base cations than moist acidic tundra. Moist acidic tundra occurs on older soils that have undergone more weathering and paludification than non-acidic tundra (Walker *et al.* 1994), and may have been deglaciated longer than 100,000 years ago (Hamilton 1986).

Section 1.2 Subsection 2: Soil Organic Matter

According to Jenny (1994), soil may be treated as an open system with components entering or leaving the soil, including SOM. Changes in the dynamics of the five soil forming factors can influence the accumulation or release of SOM carbon, which may range from 0.08% in Antarctic dry valley soils to 50% in peat soils (Freckman and Virginia 1997; Chiou et al. 2000). Soil organic matter originates primarily from plant litter and microbial biomass and consists of many different compounds with varying structure, content, and recalcitrance. According to Kögel-Knabner (2002), who reviewed the components of SOM, initial plant inputs may include aboveground plant material such as branches, leaves, and fruits, while belowground plant inputs include roots and root exudates. Plant-derived compounds include cellulose and lignin, both of which decompose slowly (particularly lignin), as well as soluble materials, lipids, and other labile compounds. Proteins, released by both plants and microbes, are a nitrogen-rich source for organic matter that can be easily degraded if not protected by the soil matrix. Microbial contributions to the SOM pool include amino sugars, extra-cellular polysaccharides, and biomass – all of which are easily degraded when they are not mineral-associated (Kögel and Bochter 1985; Kögel-Knabner 2002). These organic matter pools are not stable, but are dynamic and undergo transformations, including humification, which is the formation of increasingly complex and recalcitrant compounds (Zech et al. 1997).

In the following sections, relationships between SOM and soil aggregates are described. The relationship between the two is mutualistic – aggregates formed through biotic

means require organic matter as a nucleation site while at the same time, organic matter gains physical protection from decomposition by being occluded within the aggregate. As described in an earlier section, Arctic SOM is stabilized by cold temperatures and an anoxic soil environment. If warming results in a reduction of these two restrictions, physical protection of SOM through stabilization in aggregates may moderate organic matter decomposition rates and subsequent SOM loss in the Arctic if aggregation increases due to climate change and if aggregate-associated SOM is less sensitive to climate change than non-aggregate-associated SOM.

Section 1.2 Subsection 3: General description of Soil Aggregates

Soil aggregates are the basic units that define soil structure and are comprised of sand, silt, clay, and organic matter bound together by organic and inorganic binding agents (Tisdall and Oades, 1982; Tisdall, 1994). Aggregates have typically been categorized into two major size classes: macroaggregates (>250µm) and microaggregates (53-250µm) (Tisdall and Oades 1982; Tisdall 1994). Aggregates provide a means to stabilize SOM through physical protection (Buyanovsky *et al.* 1994).

Soil aggregates are dynamic entities within the soil matrix, with turnover rates dependent on several factors, including the microbial community, SOM quality, and the soil environment, including clay content, wet/dry cycles, and freeze/thaw cycles (reviewed in Six *et al.* 2004). The process of aggregate formation is initiated when microbes begin to decompose a piece of particulate organic matter (POM) or dissolved organic matter (DOM) that has been adsorbed onto clay surfaces (Reviewed in Guggenberger and

Kaiser 2003). The extracellular polysaccharides excreted by the microbes using the POM as a substrate, cause clays and other soil particles to stick around the POM. This eventually results in the creation of an aggregate. Particulate organic matter is a SOM fraction that can be isolated from mineral-associated organic matter through density separation (Golchin *et al.* 1995) and is highly susceptible to degradation following soil disturbance, and is partially protected within aggregates from decomposition (Cambardella and Elliott 1992). When macroaggregates are disrupted, there is a loss of SOM due to organic matter decomposition (Elliott 1986).

Once SOM is encrusted with clay and becomes part of an aggregate, the rate of decomposition of that material is reduced as oxygen becomes limiting to the microbial community (Oades 1984). As organic matter held within macroaggregates is decomposed, microbially-produced mucilages combine with clay to initiate microaggregate formation (Oades 1984; Six *et al.* 1998). Microaggregates are stabilized by processed organic matter and inorganic binding agents (Tisdall 1994; Molope *et al.* 1987; Beare *et al.* 1997). Hyphal entanglement holds macroaggregates together, but does not provide the structural stability found in microaggregates (Waters and Oades 1991; Beare *et al.* 1994). If aggregate disruption rates exceed rates of aggregate formation (e.g., with soil tillage), then soil organic matter is less likely to be protected within an aggregate than it would be in less-disturbed systems (Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1998, 1999). This relationship between aggregate formation and carbon storage will be described in subsequent sections.

Section 1.2 Subsection 4: Role of Aggregates in Soil Carbon Storage and Stabilization

The soil matrix consists of several microenvironments characterized by changes in the microbial community, soil texture, oxygen availability, and SOM content (Ladd *et al.* 1996). Soil organic matter can be stabilized (protected from decomposition) chemically through associations with silt and clay (Feng and Simpson 2008), biochemically through the formation of recalcitrant compounds (e.g., humus), or physically through soil aggregation (Six *et al.* 2002). These factors and processes interact with one another to regulate feedbacks between fresh organic matter inputs and decomposition, including nutrient availability. Aggregates limit the release of nutrient-rich OM, which affects decomposition as well as inputs by regulating plant nutrient uptake. Slow decomposition rates relative to organic matter inputs results in a net gain of carbon, while increased decomposition results in carbon loss through CO_2 efflux.

Soil physical processes, in particular the stabilization of soil carbon through the formation and stabilization of water-stable aggregates provide a mechanism for carbon stabilization and storage in soils (Oades 1984; Six *et al.* 1999; Six *et al.* 2000; Plante and McGill 2002). In cultivated systems, annual disturbance through tillage tends to increase aggregate turnover (Six *et al.* 1998), which has been linked to carbon loss in those systems. Elliott (1986) observed a reduction in macroaggregate formation with cultivation, which was coupled with observations of increased carbon concentration as well as greater amount of new and more labile carbon in macroaggregates vs.

Six *et al.* (1999, 2000) proposed a model of aggregate turnover in which increases in physical disturbance led to a breakup of macroaggregates, which exposed aggregate-protected particulate organic matter (iPOM) fractions to the microbial community. Soil organic matter decomposition rates subsequently increased. Increased physical disturbance led to an increase in macroaggregate turnover. This resulted in a release of iPOM held within the macroaggregate as well as occluded microaggregates. Additionally, by increasing macroaggregate turnover rates, disturbance inhibits microaggregate formation around newly incorporated iPOM within the macroaggregate structure. As a result, there is an increase in carbon-depleted microaggregates in response to increased macroaggregate turnover.

Section 1.2 Subsection 5: Aggregate sub-structure

Aggregate sub-structure refers to the components that comprise an aggregate, including POM, silt+clay, and (in the case of macroaggregates) microaggregates. For example, macroaggregates can be fractionated into their sub-structural elements, including intra-aggregate-particulate organic matter (iPOM), macroaggregate-derived microaggregates, and silt+clay fraction (Six *et al.* 1998, see Fig. 1). Particulate organic matter can be separated from mineral-associated organic matter (Theodorou 1990), and may either be associated with aggregates, or may be free from aggregate association (Six *et al.* 1998). Free POM is referred to as the Light Fraction (LF), and can be separated from the Heavy Fraction (HF), which includes aggregates, and iPOM within the aggregates, through density flotation.

Aggregate formation is not entirely a hierarchical process wherein large aggregates are formed from smaller ones. Rather, iPOM contained within a macroaggregate can become a location of microaggregate formation within the macroaggregate (Oades 1984; Golchin *et al.* 1994; Six *et al.* 1998; Gale *et al.* 2000). When the macroaggregate is disrupted, the microaggregate, which is more stable than the macroaggregate, tends to stay intact longer, thereby providing a physical means of carbon stabilization (Oades 1984; Angers *et al.* 1997). However, organic matter existing as iPOM within the macroaggregate, and not stabilized in a microaggregate disruption (Denef *et al.* 2001). Six *et al.* (2000) have shown that microaggregates contained within macroaggregates are an important component of soil carbon storage, containing a large proportion of aggregate carbon that is susceptible to degradation if exposed to the decomposer community.



Figure 1.1. Soil fractionation diagram based on methods of Six *et al.* (1999). LF = Light Fraction, HF = Heavy Fraction, POM = Particulate Organic Matter, iPOM = :ntra-aggregate Particulate Organic Matter.

Natural and anthropogenic disturbances to soils either disrupt the aggregated structure of soils by breaking aggregates down to their sub-structural components, or, change conditions in ways that accelerate the decomposition of more labile organic components. In a grassland system, Six *et al.* (1998) found that a loss of free, non-occluded organic matter (light fraction) made up 42% of the carbon loss attributed to cultivation. In addition, differences in cultivation intensity (no-till vs. conventional till) resulted in a loss of fine inter-particulate organic matter (iPOM) with conventional tillage. Fine iPOM is contained within microaggregates. These results indicate that a feedback loop exists between SOM and aggregate formation. Aggregates protect SOM, but organic matter is also necessary for aggregate formation.

Section 1.2 Subsection 6: Light Fraction organic matter

The light fraction is comprised largely of roots and other plant debris, hyphae, and charcoal (Spycher *et al.* 1983). It has a C:N lower than roots, but greater than mineral-associated organic matter, which indicates that some decomposition has occurred, but it is still relatively labile (Molloy and Speir 1977; Molloy *et al.* 1977; Sollins *et al.* 1984; Theodorou 1990). Light fraction turnover time is slower than fresh litter, but faster than mineral-associated organic matter (Christensen 2001).

The pool size, along with carbon and nitrogen dynamics of the light fraction, are indicators of labile SOM turnover dynamics (Janzen *et al.* 1992). Soil organic matter fractionation has been used to estimate the stability of carbon pools in grassland and cultivated soils. In native sod, Cambardella and Elliott (1992) found that mineral associated carbon constituted 60% of soil organic carbon, while the POM fraction made up the remaining 40%. With increasing cultivation intensity, the proportion of carbon associated with the mineral fraction increased while the POM fraction decreased, along with total carbon. These results suggest that POM-C is the carbon fraction lost with disturbance through cultivation and is an intermediate turnover fraction. Dalal and Mayer (1986) observed an organic carbon loss in light fraction that was 2-11 times greater than HF following cultivation; this loss may have been due to a lack of physical protection of LF carbon.

Section 1.3. Arctic Linkages to Soil Organic Matter dynamics

Long-term nutrient addition experiments at Toolik Lake, Alaska have provided a means by which increases in nutrient availability due to warming are simulated (Shaver *et al.* 2001). These long-term experiments have several components, including type of tundra (moist acidic, moist non-acidic, dry heath, and wet sedge), warming inside greenhouses, grazing exclusion, and time under nutrient addition, with the earliest experiments being started in 1981, and the most recent in 2006 (Chapin and Shaver 1988; Shaver and Chapin 1991; Chapin et al. 1995; Hobbie et al. 2005). These types of studies have yielded two important results. First, arctic soils are generally nutrient limited, with additions of N and P inducing increased activities of soil biota (Doles 2000) and significant shifts in plant communities from tussock to shrub dominance in response to added N+P in moist acidic tundra (Hobbie and Chapin 1998). Second, 20 years of nutrient addition have led to a decrease in soil carbon (Mack et al. 2004). Additionally, shifts in microbial activity have been described in response to changes in arctic nutrient addition and vegetation cover (Doles 2000; Clemmensen et al. 2006; Wallenstein et al. 2009; Gough *et al.* in preparation; Moore *et al.* in preparation). What is missing is an understanding of the physical mechanisms of carbon storage at play.

Shifts in nutrient availability, vegetation, and the soil microbial community all interact with one another in affecting the decomposition of organic substrates and stabilization of SOM in mineral soil by promoting and protecting soil aggregates (Six *et al.* 1999; Six *et al.* 2000; Plante and McGill 2002). At the same time, the formation and stabilization of

the aggregates that protect SOM are also mediated by nutrient availability, vegetation input, and microbial activity (Six *et al.* 2000; Six *et al.* 2004).

Section 1.3 Subsection 1:Role of disturbance

Six *et al.* (1999) developed a conceptual model of soil aggregate temporal dynamics that showed that reduced physical disturbance resulted in greater aggregate stability over time. The model was based on studies of grassland and agricultural soil responses to different forms of tillage and management practices. For example, agricultural soils under conventional tillage are routinely disturbed through regular cultivation, resulting in significant losses of SOM in a few decades, while those under less intrusive no-till or minimum tillage management are less disturbed and retain more of their original SOM. This effect has been documented by Elliott (1986), who demonstrated that physical disturbance results in carbon loss due to aggregate disruption when compared to undisturbed (native grassland) and relatively undisturbed (no-till) soils. Six *et al.* (1998) measured a 30% loss of POM between conventionally-tilled and no-till soils, though the no-till POM content was only 50% of native grassland soil.

Tussock tundra soils, on the other hand, are disturbed though cryoturbation, which results in annual physical disruption through organic and mineral soil mixing along with destroying plant roots through freezing and thawing (Benninghoff 1952; Bockheim *et al.* 1998). Cryoturbation, coupled with cold temperatures, water saturated (ice) conditions, and the resulting low microbial and invertebrate activity leads to an accumulation of SOM (Michaelson *et al.* 1996; Hobbie *et al.* 2000). Warming temperatures have the

potential to reverse these trends by creating more aerobic conditions by increasing the depth of the water table through thawing permafrost (Benninghoff 1952) and increasing nutrient availability, both of which could increase microbial activity and SOM decomposition rates, along with net primary productivity (NPP). Microbial activity, litter inputs (NPP), and nutrient availability are all components of soil aggregate formation (Six *et al.* 1999). An objective of this dissertation has been to test the applicability of the soil aggregate stability model of Six *et al.* (1999) to arctic soils.

Importance of physical stabilization of SOM and the risk of thawing permafrost

The importance of SOM stabilization within soil aggregates is well documented, particularly in grasslands and in agricultural systems of varying levels of cultivation intensity, from conventional tillage to no-tillage (Tisdall and Oades 1982; Elliott 1986, Six *et al.* 1998, 1999). Initially, tussock tundra may appear to share many characteristics with grassland soils, but they have many differences as well. Soils in both systems possess rich levels of SOM in mineral soils, relatively low levels of aboveground productivity when compared to forest systems, and wide-ranging seasonal climate conditions. On the other hand, the high SOM-containing mineral layer is overlain by a think organic soil horizon in tussock tundra. Much of this mineral layer exists as permafrost, thereby preventing access to frozen SOM. Permafrost prevents water movement into the soil profile, which creates an oxygen-poor environment, despite similar (or lower) levels of precipitation compared to grasslands.

Within permafrost soils, organic matter that is not part of the active pool may be decomposed if permafrost thaws to increasing depths (Zimov *et al.* 2006). Faster rates of microbially-mediated organic matter turnover combined with increased carbon availability may greatly increase atmospheric CO₂ concentration because particulate organic matter (POM) is generally not protected within aggregates in the permafrost layer. The decomposition of older SOM tends to be more temperature-sensitive than younger SOM (Kirschbaum 1995, 2006). Increasing temperatures could result in a loss of older, more stabilized carbon from arctic soils and temperature may also affect NPP, which could impact the rate of OM input into the soil.

Relationships between temperature and decomposition/NPP with regard to C storage. Soil organic matter stocks are inversely related to NPP at high latitudes, as there are large soil carbon pools in the Arctic, and a relatively low rate of NPP due to constraints on both production and decomposition. However, within the region, Low Arctic systems tend to be more productive and store more carbon than High Arctic systems, which are additionally constrained by low precipitation levels. Soil aggregate formation depends on an input of fresh organic matter (Six *et al.* 1999), so if those input rates are low, then older soil organic matter components may be used. In the case of the Arctic, a large pool of labile SOM that has undergone little decomposition exists in the soil. This fraction may form the basis for aggregate formation in arctic soils. However, increases in decomposition rates may result in a reduction of old, labile carbon in arctic soils. Carbon loss from warmed soils indicates that decomposition rates change faster than NPP rates (reviewed in von Lützow and Kögel-Knabner 2009). Increasing temperature warms the

soil, which precipitates a chain of events that change ecosystem properties and carbon storage. Permafrost thaws, resulting in increased microbial and invertebrate mineralization rates of soil nitrogen and carbon at greater depths, increasing nutrient availability, the rooting zones of plants and the efflux of CO₂ (Grogan and Chapin 2000; Hobbie *et al.* 2002). Carbon stored in permafrost will be lost through increased rates of decomposition and root respiration, which is linked to a thickening of the mineral soil active layer (Lee *et al.* 2010).

In Arctic soils, warming may affect aggregate size distribution. If decomposition rates exceed the rate of net primary production (NPP), then in the immediate short term an increase in aggregate formation would be expected, but as fresh litter stocks declined, aggregate formation rates would decrease (Six et al. 1999), resulting in less SOM protection and a subsequent loss of carbon. If NPP increases alongside the rate of decomposition, then fresh litter inputs would increase, which could result in no difference in carbon content. However, the stability of that carbon may change; rather than being incorporated into aggregates, it may remain free as part of light fraction organic matter, which is a relatively young, labile SOM fraction.

Changes in the location of particulate organic matter (POM) from being occluded within aggregates to existing as free, non-aggregate-associated light fraction may affect arctic SOM stability. If aggregates do play a role in protection of SOM from decomposition, then light fraction organic matter would be the SOM fraction most vulnerable to decomposition while iPOM would be stabilized within aggregates. Additionally, if

macroaggregate substructure provides increased levels of physical protection, then microaggregates within macroaggregates should contain higher levels of SOM than free microaggregates. As biological activity increases with depth in arctic soils (Gough *et al* in preparation), then the influence of biologically-mediated SOM stabilization mechanisms, such as aggregate formation will have applicability to increasingly larger pools of arctic soil carbon.

In the Arctic soils, changes in the light fraction will be a good indicator of SOM stability. If physical protection does play a role in stabilizing arctic SOM, once constraints on nutrient availability are removed, then light fraction organic matter could be decomposed. If, however, NPP rates increase with increasing nutrient availability, then increases in root growth may offset light fraction losses with nutrient addition. An increase in LF quality (lower C:N) would be indicative of increased LF decomposition because some LF carbon would have been consumed and respired whereas the nitrogen would have been conserved within the LF-associated microbial community.

Dynamics of arctic soil organic matter (SOM) storage may be influenced by changes in ecosystem structure and function (Oechel *et al.* 1993; Oechel and Vourlitis 1995; Clein *et al.* 2000. Determining the factors influencing soil carbon turnover in arctic soils is an important aspect in understanding carbon efflux between soil and atmosphere (Shaver *et al.* 2006). Warming may increase decomposition rates, making nitrogen more available, which would result in an increase in NPP and C storage (Hobbie *et al.* 1998; Shaver *et al.* 1992), which would constitute a negative feedback, thereby limiting carbon loss from the soil (Clein *et al.* 2000). Conversely, warming may increase the decomposition rate to a greater degree than it does the NPP rate, resulting in a net loss of carbon (Oechel *et al.* 1993). The objective of my research was to examine potential mechanisms of SOM carbon loss/accumulation through physical stabilization in water-stable soil aggregates in the active mineral soil layer of Low Arctic tussock tundra in response to long-term nutrient addition.

The research described in this dissertation has focused on understanding how the aforementioned biotic and abiotic factors interact in the face of climate change to affect SOM dynamics in the soils of a changing Arctic. This goal was approached by studying the soils from native moist acidic tundra, with an array of plots from a long-term nutrient addition study. Plots included controls that received no nitrogen or phosphorus, and plots that had annual nutrient addition since 1989 and since 1996 with nitrogen and phosphorus (10 g N m⁻² yr⁻¹ as NH₄NO₃ and 5 g P m⁻² yr⁻¹ P as P₂O₅ each Spring) (Hobbie and Chapin, 1998). From soils collected from these plots over the 2006-2007 growing seasons, soil aggregate size distribution along with carbon and nitrogen content of aggregates and particulate organic matter fractions were measured. These variables among the treatments were compared, and studied in light of current conceptual models of aggregate/SOM dynamics (Six *et al.* 1999) with an eye towards understanding how predicted changes in climate might affect the distribution of organic matter in Arctic soils.
Section 1.4. 2006 Field Season Work

In order to determine the applicability of the Six *et al.* (1999) model to arctic soils, preliminary studies were developed to determine first, if biotically-mediated aggregate formation exists in arctic soils despite a short growing season, low temperature, and low oxygen availability due to intermittent water saturation, and second, the extent to which aggregates play a role on stabilizing soil organic matter. If water-stable aggregates exist in arctic soils and play a role in protecting SOM from decomposition, then soils with a high degree of structure would possess a higher carbon content than less-structured soils (Reviewed above). In 2006, soils from a long-term nutrient addition experiment (10 g N m^{-2} yr⁻¹ as NH₄NO₃ and 5 g P m⁻² yr⁻¹ P as P₂O₅ each Spring) were collected from the Arctic Long Term Ecological Research (LTER) site at Toolik Lake, Alaska (Hobbie and Chapin 1998; Mack *et al.* 2004). There were two sets of nutrient addition plots – those fertilized since 1996 and 1989, as well as a control.

Soils from sample collections were separated into four water-stable aggregate size classes using the wet sieving method of Elliott (1986): large (>2000µm) and small (250-2000µm) macroaggregates, microaggregates (53-250µm), and a silt + clay fraction (<53µm). Soil aggregate mean weight-diameter (MWD) is a measure of average aggregate size and is an indicator of soil aggregation (van Bavel 1949). The MWD is the sum of the average size of each aggregate size fraction (\bar{x}) multiplied by the proportion (*w*) each fraction makes of the whole soil. The mean fraction diameters for large and small macroaggregates, microaggregates, and silt+clay were 5000, 1125, 151.5, and 26.5 µm, respectively.

$$MWD = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{\chi_i} W_i$$
 (Equation 1.1)

At spring thaw, all soils had the same structural characteristics (MWD = ~850µm). Aggregates were present in all treatments; formation was not limited by the arctic climate. Aggregate MWD was greatest in control soils, but increased between the two sampling dates for all treatments ($p\leq0.05$), which may indicate that aggregate turnover in the Arctic is a biologically-mediated process, dependent on fresh inputs of particulate organic matter (Fig 1.2). Both microbial activity and plant growth are stimulated by springtime nutrient flushes (Giblin *et al.* 1991; Wallensten *et al.* 2009), which may in part have driven aggregate formation. This mechanism of aggregate formation has been observed in other systems, including cultivated and grassland soils (Six *et al.* 2000).



Year N+P treatment plots established.

Figure 1.2. Aggregate mean weight-diameter (μ m) of mineral soils sampled in 2006 from soils fertilized since 1989 and 1996, with control. Bars indicate mean \pm standard error. Asterisks indicate significant date effect ($p \le 0.05$).

The total organic carbon content of all soils and aggregate fractions collected in 2006 was measured. Carbon content increased over the growing season in control soils, but not in soils with nutrient addition. In addition, control soils measured in July had a higher carbon content than soils under nutrient addition since 1996 (Fig 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Soil carbon content (%C) of the top 10cm of mineral soils sampled in June and July 2006 from soils fertilized since 1989 and 1996, with control. Bars indicate mean \pm standard error. Letters indicate treatment effect at $p \le 0.10$. *Indicates date effect at $p \le 0.05$.

These observations support the findings of Mack *et al.* (2004), who, using a July sample collection, demonstrated a net carbon loss in soils after 20 years of nutrient addition. The results from the June sampling used for this dissertation did not show a difference in soil carbon with nutrient addition. However, the reason for the large difference in soil carbon content, which is ten times the annual NPP (Shaver and Chapin 1991; Chapin *et*

al. 1995) of moist acidic tundra, between control soils and soils with nutrient addition is unclear. This discrepancy may be due to sampling error, lateral movement of organic material, or possibly a downward movement of organic matter. It became clear that these soils may undergo shifts in carbon storage over the course of the growing season and that sample collections on multiple dates would be necessary in order to detect seasonal variation in soil aggregate and carbon storage dynamics.

Research conducted in 2006 demonstrated that water-stable aggregates exist in arctic soils, and that their formation is affected by nutrient addition, which also affects soil carbon content. Research in 2006 on soil carbon indicated a lower rate of carbon accumulation in soils with nutrient addition. It is possible that differences in aggregate formation dynamics may be linked to carbon storage in arctic soils.

Section 1.5. 2007 Field Season Work and Hypotheses

Results from the 2006 sampling suggested that linkages between aggregate structure and soil carbon storage may exist in arctic soils. The objective of the dissertation research for the 2007 field season was to separate arctic soils into several fractions, including aggregate-associated vs. unassociated (light fraction) organic matter and macroaggregate sub-structure elements (See Literature Review for a description), as well as the four aggregate classes that were separated in 2006 (see figure 1.1). In addition, plots were sampled taken multiple times in June 2007 in order to track temporal dynamics over the growing season, which lasts from early June through mid-August (Walker *et al.* 1999) Conceptually, the objective for the 2007 field season was to answer the following questions (From the Introductory section):

- 1. What linkages exist between soil C and macroaggregate sub-structure elements in the Arctic?
- 2. What are the temporal dynamics of aggregates in arctic soils over the growing season?
- 3. Is SOM more stable within aggregates than as non-associated light fraction?
- 4. What are the relationships between light fraction and live root biomass dynamics?

Soil fractionations and subsequent carbon and nitrogen measurements were separated into four hypotheses that were previously listed and are described in more detail here: **H1:** Aggregate size distribution in arctic tundra is dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and temperature.

Hypothesis 1 is predicated on established mechanisms identified in grassland and cultivated systems (e.g. Tisdall and Oades 1982; Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1999) along with preliminary research conducted at the Arctic LTER. The mechanisms at play include a positive relationship between aggregate size and carbon storage (Macroaggregates tend to store more carbon than microaggregates) as well as a link between microbial activity, substrate inputs, and aggregate formation. Increases in the rate of root growth and root exudate production due to nutrient addition would increase substrate availability. Increases in microbial activity are dependent on nutrient availability, and both would be enhanced by nutrient addition in a nitrogen-limited system. Low rates of decomposition lead to aggregate formation, while high rates result in aggregate disruption. This leads to the following predictions:

P1.1: Nutrient addition should alter aggregate size distribution dynamics. If decomposition rates are much greater than rates of organic matter input, then a loss of soil structure measured as a decline in macroaggregates and increase in microaggregates, resulting in a shift in aggregate size distribution could be observed over the growing season.

P1.2: If both input and decomposition rates increase as a result of nutrient addition, then soil structure may remain the same. However, if the input rate increases to a larger degree than the decomposition rate, the aggregate size distribution may shift resulting in an increase in macroaggregate formation over the growing season.

Hypothesis 1 was tested by collecting soil samples from a set of long-term nutrient addition plots at the Arctic LTER over the 2007 growing season. The soil was initially coarse-sieved (8mm) and air-dried, and later separated into four classes of water-stable aggregates.

H2: Aggregate carbon and nitrogen content in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, aggregate size distribution, and temperature.

Hypothesis 2 is based on positive linkages between aggregate formation/stability and SOM storage that have been established in other systems (e.g. Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1998). Macroaggregates tend to be more positively-associated with enhanced carbon storage than microaggregates; however, microaggregates are structurally more stable than macroaggregates. Therefore, disturbance tends to result in a loss of macroaggregates, and subsequently, a loss of soil carbon. Preliminary work conducted at the Arctic LTER provided evidence that reduced macroaggregate formation over the growing season was linked to a loss of soil carbon in soils under increased nutrient

addition. Soils under the control treatment tended to contain more macroaggregates, which was due to increased macroaggregate formation and possibly to reduced rates of macroaggregate turnover (compared to soils with nutrient addition) and contained more carbon as well. These observations led to the following predictions:

- **P2.1:** Nutrient addition should alter aggregate carbon and nitrogen storage dynamics by enhancing microbial activity, thereby increasing the rate of decomposition. As a result, aggregate turnover will be increased, resulting in increased SOM availability and carbon loss by the end of the growing season.
- P2.2: If nutrient addition sufficiently enhances substrate production, then carbon content may not differ seasonally with nutrient addition because the rates of both incoming carbon (substrate production) and outgoing carbon (carbon dioxide efflux due to decomposition) may both be increased throughout the growing season, resulting in an equilibrium between input and output rates.

P2.3: If nitrogen is conserved within the soil, particularly in a nitrogen-limited system, then aggregate nitrogen content would most likely not change in response to increased inputs. However, if the rate of decomposition exceeds the rate of substrate input, then the amount of nitrogen relative to carbon may increase by the end of the growing season, resulting in a lower aggregate C:N.

Hypothesis 2 was tested by measuring the total carbon and nitrogen contents of each of the four water-stable aggregate size classes from soils that were collected from long-term nutrient addition plots at the Arctic LTER over the 2007 growing season.

H3: Macroaggregate substructure size distribution and C:N in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and soil macroaggregate turnover.

In H3, the idea that linkages exist between SOM content and small macroaggregate substructure dynamics in low arctic systems (introduced above, in the 'aggregate substructure' section) is proposed. Microaggregate formation can occur within the structure of a macroaggregate (Oades, 1984; Golchin *et al.* 1994; Angers *et al.* 1997; Six *et al.* 1998). This occurs when microbes contained within a macroaggregate begin to decompose a piece of intra-aggregate particulate organic matter. Over time, oxygen becomes limiting, and the newly-formed microaggregate protects the iPOM within it (Oades 1984). This structure is further protected through its inclusion within the larger

macroaggregate structure. Soils that undergo low rates of aggregate turnover tend to contain a higher amount of microaggregates contained within macroaggregates, which also contain higher carbon concentrations (Angers *et al.* 1997) than disturbed soils, where the microaggregates within macroaggregates become free microaggregates upon macroaggregate disruption. These concepts, based on previously established mechanisms (Angers *et al.* 1997; Six *et al.* 1999) led to the following predictions:

- **P3.1:** Nutrient addition should alter macroaggregate substructure dynamics by stimulating the microbial community resulting in an increase in aggregate turnover over the growing season. Microaggregates occluded within macroaggregates in early June may enter the free microaggregate pool upon macroaggregate disruption later in the growing season.
- **P3.2:** Nutrient addition affects the SOM content of microaggregates, which may decline as macroaggregate turnover increases as the growing season progresses.

Hypothesis 3 was tested by isolating three sub-macroaggregates (coarse POM, microaggregates within macroaggregates, and silt+clay contained within macroaggregates) from a subsample of previously-isolated small macroaggregates (described in H1 and H2) from soils that were collected from long-term nutrient addition plots at the Arctic LTER over the 2007 growing season. The proportion of each of these sub-fractions comprised of the macroaggregate was quantified, the carbon and nitrogen content of each sub-fraction was measured.

H4: Particulate organic matter carbon content, nitrogen content, and location within the soil matrix as either light fraction or iPOM in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, soil aggregate turnover, and temperature.

Organic matter inputs, including roots and root exudates are original sources of substrate for POM in soils. Light fraction organic matter is a POM fraction that has undergone some microbial processing, but is still a relatively young, labile fraction when compared to the total SOM pool (Molloy and Speir 1977; Molloy *et al.* 1977; Sollins *et al.* 1984; Theodorou 1990). Intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) is contained within aggregates (Cambardella and Elliott 1992), but can re-enter the light fraction pool upon aggregate disruption. Free light fraction organic matter is not physically-protected within aggregates, and is more susceptible to decomposition, particularly with increased nutrient availability. These characteristics of light fraction and iPOM, in addition to those previously described in the 'light fraction organic matter' section above, led to the following predictions:

P4.1: Nutrient addition should have a lower impact on mineral-associated silt+clay carbon and nitrogen concentrations during the growing season than it would on POM fractions.

- P4.2: Nutrient addition should alter light fraction carbon content dynamics. If new organic matter inputs increase due to active root decomposition, then the rate of material entering the light fraction pool will increase. At the same time, if the rate of light fraction decomposition increases with nutrient addition, then its contribution to the soil carbon pool may decrease by the end of the growing season.
- **P4.3**: Nutrient addition should alter intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) carbon content dynamics. If nutrient addition has resulted in shifts in the plant community, plant growth rates, and decomposition, then material being incorporated into aggregates (iPOM) could be reduced by the end of the growing season through a decrease in pool size (due to a loss of light fraction), or increased through increased aggregate formation as the growing season progresses.
- P4.4: Nutrient addition should alter light fraction nitrogen storage dynamics.
 Increased root growth due to nutrient addition provides new material for microbial decomposition and subsequent incorporation into the SOM pool. At the same time, nutrient addition stimulates decomposition. Therefore, the proportion of aggregate and whole soil nitrogen that the light fraction comprises should increase over the growing season if the light fraction is being decomposed at a greater rate in soils with nutrient addition than control soils.

- P4.5: If both the rate of light fraction formation and decomposition are increasing with nutrient addition, then over the course of the growing season, the light fraction C:N would decrease if decomposition exceeds formation, and would increase if formation exceeds decomposition. A lower C:N results from carbon being lost as carbon dioxide while nitrogen is conserved within the system.
- P4.6: Root biomass dynamics are affected by nutrient addition. If root biomass increases, then there will be a seasonal increase in the amount of fresh, labile organic matter entering the SOM pool, comprising the light fraction and iPOM fractions.

Hypothesis 4 was tested by isolating the light fraction through density flotation from small macroaggregates and free microaggregates from soils that were collected from long-term nutrient addition plots at the Arctic LTER over the 2007 growing season, and quantified the carbon and nitrogen from these fractions. The heavy fraction was separated into mineral-associated carbon (silt+clay) and iPOM. The carbon content of the mineral-associated fraction was measured, and iPOM carbon content was determined through solving by difference. Because of the low nitrogen concentrations and instrument detection limits, it was not possible to determine iPOM nitrogen content.

The remainder of the dissertation is organized as follows: Chapter 2 of the dissertation focuses on H1, H2, and H3. Chapter 3 focuses on H4. In Chapter 4, potential linkages

between the four hypotheses are discussed and a conceptual model of the relationships between them is proposed.

Section 1.6. References

Angers, D.A, S. Recous, and C. Aita. 1997. Fate of carbon and nitrogen in water-stable aggregates during decomposition of ¹³C¹⁵N-lavelled wheat straw in situ. European Journal of Soil Science 48: 295-300.

Beare, M.H., P.F. Hendrix, and D.C. Coleman. 1994. Water-stable aggregates and organic matter fractions in conventional and no-tillage soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58: 777-786.

Beare, M.H., S. Hu, D.C. Coleman, and P.F. Hendrix. 1997. Influences of mycelial fungi on soil aggregation and organic matter storage in conventional and no-tillage soils. Applied Soil Ecology 5: 211-219.

Benninghoff, W.S. 1952. Interaction of vegetation and soil frost phenomena. Arctic 5: 34-44.

Birkeland, P.W. 1999. The soil profile, horizon nomenclature, and soil characteristics. In: Soils and geomorphology, 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, New York. pp. 1-28.

Bockheim, J.G., D.A. Walker, L.R. Everett, F.E. Nelson, and N.I. Shiklomanov. 1998. Soils and cryoturbation in moist nonacidic and acidic tundra in the Kuparuk River Basin, Arctic Alaska, U.S.A. Arctic and Alpine Research 30: 166-174.

Bret-Harte, M.S., G.R. Shaver, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2002. Primary and secondary stem growth in arctic shrubs: implications for community response to environmental change. Journal of Ecology 90: 251-267.

Bret-Harte, M.S., G.R. Shaver, J.P Zoerner, J.F. Johnstone, J.L. Wagner, A.S. Chavez, R.F. Gunkelman, IV, S.C. Lippert, and J.A. Laundre. 2001. Developmental plasticity allows *Betula nana* to dominate tundra subjected to an altered environment. Ecology 82: 18-32.

Buyanovsky, G.A., M. Aslam, and G.H. Wagner. 1994. Carbon turnover in soil physical fractions. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58: 1167-1173.

Cambardella, C.A. and E.T. Elliott. 1992. Particulate soil organic-matter changes across a grassland cultivation sequence. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56: 777-783.

Chapin, F.S., III and G.R. Shaver. 1988. Differences in carbon and nutrient fractions among arctic growth forms. Oecologia 77: 506-514.

Chapin, F.S., III, G.R. Shaver, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, and J.A. Laundre. 1995. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology 76: 694-711. Chapin, F.S., III, M. Sturm, M.C. Serreze, J.P. McFadden, J.R. Key, A.H. Lloyd, A.D. McGuire, T.S. Rupp, A.H. Lynch, J.P. Schimel, J. Beringer, W.L. Chapman, H.E. Epstein, E.S. Euskirchen, L.D. Hinzman, G. Jia, C.L. Ping, K.D. Tape, C.D.C. Thompson, D.A. Walker, and J.M. Welker. 2005. Role of land-surface changes in Arctic summer warming. Science 310: 657-660.

Chiou, C.T., D.E. Kile, D.W. Rutherford, G. Sheng, and S.A. Boyd. 2000. Sorption of selected organic compounds from water to a peat soil and its humic-acid and humin fractions: potential sources of sorption nonlinearity. Environmental Science and Technology 34: 1254-1258.

Christensen, B.T. 2001. Physical fractionation of soil and structural and functional complexity in organic matter turnover. European Journal of Soil Science. 52: 345-353.

Clein, J.S., B.L. Kwiatkowski, A.D. McGuire, J.E. Hobbie, E.B. Rastetter, J.M. Melillo, and D.W. Kicklighter. 2000. Modelling carbon responses of tundra ecosystems to historical and projected climate: a comparison of a plot- and a global-scale ecosystem model to identify process-based uncertainties. Global Change Biology 6: 127-140.

Clemmensen, K.E., A. Michelsen, S. Jonasson, and G.R. Shaver. 2006. Increased ectomycorrhizal fungal abundance after long-term fertilization and warming of two arctic tundra ecosystems. New Phytologist 171: 391-404.

Conant, R.T., R.A. Drijber, M.L. Haddix, W.J. Parton, E.A. Paul, A.F. Plante, J. Six, and J.M. Steinweg. 2008. Sensitivity of organic matter decomposition to warming varies with its quality. Global Change Biology 14: 868-877.

Dalal, R.C. and R.J. Mayer. 1986. Long-term trends in fertility of soils under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping in southern Queensland. III: Distribution and kinetics of soil organic carbon in particle-size fractions. Australian Journal of Soil Research 24: 293-300.

Denef, K., J. Six, H. Bossuyt, S.D. Frey, E.T. Elliott, R. Merckx, and K. Paustian. 2001. Influence of dry-wet cycles on the interrelationship between aggregate, particulate organic matter, and microbial community dynamics. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33: 1599-1611.

Doles, J. 2000. A survey of soil biota in the arctic tundra and their role in mediating terrestrial nutrient cycling. Masters Thesis, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Northern Colorado, Greeley, CO 80639.

Elliott, E.T. 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in native and cultivated soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 50: 627-633.

Epstein, H.E., J. Beringer, W.A. Gould, A.H. Lloyd, C.D. Thompson, F.S. Chapin, III, G.J. Michaelson, C.L. Ping, T.S. Rupp, and D.A. Walker. 2004. The nature of spatial transitions in the Arctic. Journal of Biogeography 31: 1917-1933.

Feng, X. and M.J. Simpson. 2008. Temperature responses of individual soil organic matter components. Journal of Geophysical Research 113: G03036.

Freckman, D.W. and R.A. Virginia. 1997. Low-density Antarctic soil nematode communities: distribution and response to disturbance. Ecology 78: 363-369.

Gale, W.J., C.A. Cambardella, and T.B. Bailey. 2000. Root-derived carbon and the formation and stabilization of aggregates. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64: 201-207.

Giblin, A.E., K.J. Nadelhoffer, G.R. Shaver, J.A. Laundre, and A.J. McKerrow. 1991. Biogeochemical diversity along a riverside toposequence in arctic Alaska. Ecological Monographs 61: 415-435.

Golchin, A., J.M. Oades, J.O. Skjemstad, and P. Clarke. 1994. Study of free and occluded particulate organic matter in soils by solid state ¹³C CP/MAS NMR spectroscopy and scanning electron microscopy. Australian Journal of Soil Research 32: 285-309.

Golchin, A., P. Clarke, J.M. Oades, and J.O. Skjemstad. 1995. The effects of cultivation on the composition of organic matter and structural stability of soils. Australian Journal of Soil Research 33: 975-993.

Gough, L., J.C. Moore, G.R. Shaver, R.T. Simpson, and D.R. Johnson. In Preparation. Linking above- and belowground responses to increased nutrients in arctic tundra.

Greene, C.H., A.J. Pershing, T.M. Cronin, and N. Ceci. 2008. Arctic climate change and its impacts on the ecology of the North Atlantic. Ecology 89: S24-S38.

Grogan, P. and F.S. Chapin, III. 2000. Initial effects of experimental warming on aboveand belowground components of net ecosystem CO₂ exchange in Arctic tundra. Oecologia 125: 512-520.

Guggenberber, G. and K. Kaiser. 2003. Dissolved organic matter in soil: challenging the paradigm of sorptive preservation. Geoderma 113: 293-310.

Hamilton, T.D. 1986. Late Cenozoic glaciation of the Central Brooks Range. *In*: Hamilton, T.D., K.M. Reed, and R.M. Thorson (eds.) <u>Glaciation in Alaska: the geologic</u> record. Alaska Geological Society, Fairbanks, AK. pp. 9-49. Hobbie, J.E., B.L. Kwiakowski, E.B. Rastetter, D.A. Walker, and R.B. McKane. 1998. Carbon cycling in the Kuparuk basin: plant production, carbon storage, and sensitivity to future changes.

Hobbie, S.E. and F.S. Chapin, III. 1998. The response of tundra plant biomass, aboveground production, nitrogen, and CO_2 flux to experimental warming. Ecology 79: 526-545.

Hobbie, S.E., J.P. Schimel, S.E. Trumbore, and J.R. Randerson. 2000. Controls over carbon storage and turnover in high-latitude soils. Global Change Biology 6: 196-210.

Hobbie, S.E., T.A. Miley, and M.S. Weiss. 2002. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in soils from acidic and nonacidic tundra with different glacial histories in northern Alaska. Ecosystems 5: 761-744.

Hobbie, S.E., L. Gough, and G.R. Shaver. 2005. Species compositional differences on different-aged glacial landscapes drive contrasting responses of tundra to nutrient addition. Journal of Ecology 93: 770-782.

Janzen, H.H., C.A. Campbell, S.A. Brandt, G.P. Lafond, and L. Townley-Smith. 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56: 1799-1806.

Jenny, H. 1994. <u>Factors of Soil Formation: A System of Quantitative Pedology</u>. Dover Publication, Inc. New York.

Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 2006. The temperature dependence of organic-matter decomposition – still a topic of debate. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 2510-2518.

Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 1995. The temperature-dependence of soil organic matter decomposition, and the effect of global warming on soil organic-C storage. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 27: 753-760.

Koch, O., D. Tscherko, and E. Kandeler. 2007. Temperature sensitivity of microbial respiration, nitrogen mineralization, and potential soil enzyme activities in organic alpine soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21: GB4017.

Kögel, I. and R. Bochter. 1985. Amino sugar determination in organic soils by capillary gas chromatography using a nitrogen-selective detector. Z. Pflanzenernahr. Bodenkd. 148:260-267.

Kögel-Knabner, I. 2002. The macromolecular organic composition of plant and microbial residues as inputs to soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34: 139-162.

Ladd, J. N., R.C. Foster, P. Nannipieri, and J.M. Oades. 1996. Soil structure and biological activity. *In*: G. Stotzky and J.-M. Bollag (ed). <u>Soil Biochemistry Volume 9</u>. Marcel Dekker, pp 23-78.

Lee, H., E.A.G. Schuur, and J.G. Vogel. 2010. Soil CO₂ production in upland tundra where permafrost is thawing. Journal of Geophysical Research 115: G01009.

Mack, M.C., E.A.G. Schuur, M.S. Bret-Harte, G.R. Shaver, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2004. Ecosystem carbon storage in arctic tundra reduced by long-term nutrient fertilization. Nature 431: 440-443.

Melillo, J.M., T.V. Callaghan, F.I. Wodward, E. Salati, and S.K. Sinha. 1990. pp. 282-310. *In:* Houghton, J.T., G.T. Jenkins, and J.J. Ephraums (Ed.) <u>Climate change, the</u> <u>IPCC scientific assessment</u>. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Michaelson, G.L., C.L. Ping, and J.M. Kimble. 1996. Carbon storage and distribution in tundra soils of Arctic Alaska, U.S.A. 1996. Arctic and Alpine Research 28: 414-424. Mikan, C.J., J.P Schimel, A.P. Doyle. 2002. Temperature controls of microbial respiration in arctic tundra soils above and below freezing. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34: 1785-1795.

Mikan, C.J., J.P. Schimel, and A.P. Doyle. 2002. Temperature controls on microbial respiration in arctic tundra soils above and below freezing. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34: 1785-1795.

Miller, R.W. and D.T. Gardiner. 1998. Soil composition and importance. In: Soils in our environment, 8th ed. Prentice Hall, NJ. pp. 1-21.

Molloy, L.F. and T.W. Speir. 1977. Studies on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands 12: Constituents of the soil light fraction. New Zealand Journal of Science 20: 167-177.

Molloy, L.F., B.A. Bridger, and A. Cairns. 1977. Studies on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands 13: Structural carbohydrates in tussock leaves, roots, and litter and in the soil light and heavy fractions. New Zealand Journal of Science 20: 443-451.

Molope, M.B., I.C. Grieve, and E.R. Page. 1987. Contributions by fungi and bacteria to aggregate stability of cultivated soils. Journal of Soil Science 38: 71-77.

Moore, J.C., L. Gough, H. Horton, R. Simpson, K. Wyant, and G. Selby. In Preparation. Transitions in soils and soil communities to nutrient addition in a moist acidic arctic tundra ecosystem. *In*: Hobbie, J. and G. Kling (eds). A warming Arctic: ecological consequences for tundra, streams, and lakes. Oxford University Press.

Nadelhoffer, K.J., A.E. Giblin, G.R. Shaver, and J.A. Laundre. 1991. Effects of temperature and substrate quality on element mineralization in six arctic soils. Ecology 72: 242-253.

Neff, J.C., A.R. Townsend, G. Gleixner, S.J. Lehman, J. Turnbull, and W.D. Bowman. 2002. Variable effects of nitrogen additions on the stability and turnover of soil carbon. Nature 419: 915-917.

Oades, J.M. 1984. Soil organic matter and structural stability: mechanisms and implications for management. Plant and Soil 76: 319-337.

Oechel, W.C., S.J. Hastings, G. Vourlitis, M. Jenkins, G. Riechers, and N. Gruelke. 1993. Recent changes of arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source. Nature 361: 520-533.

Oechel, W.C. and G.L. Vourlitis. 1995. Effects of global change on carbon storage in cold soils. *In*: Lal, R., J. Kimble, E. Levine, and B.A. Stewart (eds.)Soils and global change. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp.117-129.

Oechel, W.C., G.L. Vourlitis, S.J. Hastings, R.C. Zulueta, L. Hinzman, and D. Kane. 2000. Acclimation of CO_2 exchange in the Alaskan Arctic in response to decadal climate warming. Nature 406: 978-981.

Oelbermann, M., M. English, and S.L. Schiff. 2008. Evaluating carbon dynamics and microbial activity in arctic soils under warmer temperatures. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 88:31-44.

Osterkamp, T.E. and V.E. Romanovsky. 1999. Evidence for warming and thawing of discontinuous permafrost in Alaska. Permafrost and Periglacial Processes 10: 17-37.

Plante, A.F. and W.B. McGill. 2002. Soil aggregate dynamics and the retention of organic matter in laboratory-incubated soil with differing simulated tillage frequencies. Soil and Tillage Research 66: 79-92.

Post, W.M., W.R. Emanuel, P.J. Zinke, and A.G. Stangenberger. 1982. Soil carbon pools and world life zones. Nature 298:156-159.

Schriener, O. and E.C. Shorey. 1911. Soil organic matter as material for biochemical investigation. Journal of The Franklin Institute 171: 295-300.

Schuur, E.A.G., J.G. Vogel, K.G. Crummer, H. Lee, J.O Sickman, and T.E. Osterkamp. 2009. The effect of permafrost thaw on old carbon release and net carbon exchange from tundra. Nature 459: 556-559.

Serreze, M.C., J.E. Walsh, F.S. Chapin, III, T. Osterkamp, M. Dyurgerov, V. Romanovsky, W.C. Oechel, J. Morison, T. Zhang, R.G. Barry. 2000. Observational evidence of recent change in the northern high-latitude environment. Climatic Change 46: 159-207.

Shaver, G.R. and F.S. Chapin, III. 1991. Production: biomass relationships and element cycling in contrasting arctic vegetation types. Ecological Monographs 61: 1-31.

Shaver, G.R., W.D. Billings, F.S. Chapin, III, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, W.C. Oechel, and E.B. Rastetter. 1992. Global change and the carbon balance of arctic ecosystems. Bioscience 42: 433-442.

Shaver, G.R., M.S. Bret-Harte, M.H. Jones, J. Johnstone, L. Gough, J. Laundre, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2001. Species composition interacts with fertilizer to control long-term change in tundra productivity. Ecology 82: 3163-3181.

Shaver, G.R., A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, K.K. Thieler, M.R. Downs, J.A. Laundre, and E.B. Rastetter. 2006. Carbon turnover in Alaskan tundra soils: effects of organic matter quality, temperature, moisture and fertilizer. Journal of Ecology 94: 740-753.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, K. Paustian, and J.W. Doran. 1998. Aggregation and soil organic matter accumulation in cultivated and native grassland soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62: 1367-1377.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. 1999. Aggregate and soil organic matter dynamics under conventional and no-tillage systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63: 1350-1358.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. 2000. Soil macroaggregate turnover and microaggregate formation: a mechanism for C sequestration under no-tillage agriculture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32: 2099-2103.

Six, J., R.T. Conant, E.A. Paul, and K. Paustian. 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. Plant and Soil 241: 155-176.

Six, J., H. Bossuyt, S. Degryze, and K. Denef. 2004. A history of research on the link between (micro)aggregates, soil biota, and soil organic matter dynamics. Soil and Tillage Research 79: 7-31.

Soil Survey Staff of the United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service. 1999. Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 8th ed. Pocahontas Press, Inc. Blacksburg, VA.

Sollins, P., G. Spycher, and C.A. Glassman. 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 16: 31-37.

Stow, D.A., A. Hope, D. McGuire, D. Verbyla, J. Gamon, F. Heummrich, S. Houston, C. Racine, M. Sturm, K. Tape, L. Hinzman, K. Yoshikawa, C. Tweedie, B. Noyle, C. Silapaswan, D. Douglas, B. Griffith, G. Jia, H. Epstein, D. Walker, S. Daeschner, A. Petersen, L. Zhou, and R. Myneni. 2004. Remote sensing of vegetation and land-cover change in arctic tundra ecosystems. Remote Sensing of Environment 89: 281-308.

Spycher, G., P. Sollins, and S. Rose. 1983. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. Soil Science 135: 79-87.

Sturm, M., C. Racine, and K. Tape. 2001. Increasing shrub abundance in the Arctic. Nature 411: 546-547.

Sullivan, P.F., M. Sommerkorn, H.M. Rueth, K.J. Nadelhoffer, G.R. Shaver, and J.M Welker. 2007. Climate and species affect fine root production with long-term fertilization in acidic tussock tundra near Toolik Lake, Alaska. Oecologia 153: 643-652.

Tape, K., M. Sturm, and C. Racine. 2006. The evidence for shrub expansion in northern Alaska and the Pan-Arctic. Global Change Biology 12: 686-702.

Theodorou, C. 1990. Nitrogen transformation in particle size fractions from a second rotation pine forest soil. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 21: 407-413.

Tisdall, J.M. 1994. Possible role of soil microorganisms in aggregation in soils. Plant and Soil 159: 115-121.

Tisdall, J.M. and J.M. Oades. 1982. Organic matter and water-stable aggregates in soils. Journal of Soil Science 3: 141-161.

Uchida, Y., T.J. Clough, F.M. Kelliher, and R.R. Sherlock. 2010. Soil and microbial respiration responses to changing temperature and substrate availability in fertile grassland. Australian Journal of Soil Research 48: 395-403.

van Bavel, C.H.M. 1949. Mean weight diameter of soil aggregates as statistical index of aggregation. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings 14: 20-23.

von Lützow, M. and I. Kögel-Knabner. 2009. Temperature sensitivity of soil organic matter decomposition – what do we know? Biology and Fertility of Soils 46: 1-15.

Walker, M.D., D.A. Walker, and N.A. Auerbach. 1994. Plant communities of a tussock tundra landscape in the Brooks Range foothills, Alaska. Journal of Vegetation Science 5: 843-866.

Walker, M.D., D.A. Walker, J.M. Welker, A.M. Arft, T. Bardsley, P.D. Brooks, J.T. Fahnestock, M.H. Jones, M. Losleben, A.N. Parsons, T.R. Seastedt, and P.L. Turner. 1999. Long-term experimental manipulation of winter snow regime and summer temperature in arctic and alpine tundra. Hydrological Processes 13: 2315-2330.

Wallenstein, M.D., S.K. McMahon, and J.P. Schimel. 2009. Seasonal variation in enzyme activities and temperature sensitivities in Arctic tundra soils. Global Change Biology 15: 1631-1639.

Waters, A.G. and J.M. Oades. 1991. Organic matter in water-stable aggregates. *In:* W.S. Wilson (ed). <u>Advances in soil organic matter research: the impact on agriculture and the environment</u>. Royal Society of Chemistry, UK, pp. 163-174.

White, D.M., D.S. Garland, C.L. Ping, and G. Michaelson. 2004. Characterizing soil organic matter quality in arctic soil by cover type and depth. Cold Regions Science and Technology 38: 63-73.

Zech, W., N. Senesi, G. Guggenberger, K. Kaiser, J. Lehmann, T.M. Miano, A. Miltner, and G. Schroth. 1997. Factors controlling humification and mineralization of soil organic matter in the tropics. Geoderma 79: 117-161.

Zimov, S.A., E.A.G. Schuur, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2006. Permafrost and the global carbon budget. Science 312: 1612-1613.

CHAPTER TWO

FIELD SAMPLING, INITIAL AGGREGATE SEPARATION, AND MACROAGGREGATE SUB-FRACTIONATION

Section 2.1: Introduction

Soil organic matter (SOM) is formed through the decomposition of plant-derived material, dead consumers, and microbial by-products (Kögel-Knabner 2002). Controls inducing slow decomposition include low temperature and high levels of soil moisture (McKane *et al.* 1997; Hobbie *et al.* 2000). Over time, as decomposition progresses, labile materials are first consumed, followed by compounds of increasing recalcitrance. Decomposition may result in organic matter humification, which yields complex organic matter compounds that possess high chemical stability and long residence times in the soil (Kramer *et al.* 2003).

Arctic SOM is stabilized by low temperature and low oxygen availability (Hobbie *et al.* 2000), which is different from temperate SOM, which is stabilized through humification due to decomposition (Kramer *et al.* 2003). Soil organic matter is also stabilized though mineral associations (Feng and Simpson 2008), which occur in both arctic and temperate regions. Cold, anoxic conditions may limit decomposition in arctic soils, but rising temperatures may remove this constraint by increasing thaw depth, thereby lowering the water table, which persists on top of permafrost (Uhlířová *et al.* 2007). A large portion

of the Arctic soil carbon pool consists of labile, relatively unmodified carbon that may be destabilized due to rising temperatures and increasing nutrient availability (Oechel *et al.* 1993), which would lead to increased microbial respiration (Sollins *et al.* 1996). Understanding factors that affect decomposition rates, including physical protection of SOM within water-stable soil aggregates (Chapter One) are important for improving our understanding of future effects of warming on arctic ecosystems.

Water-stable soil aggregates (See Chapter One for a review) occur in both arctic and temperate soils. Macroaggregate formation in temperate soils is positively linked with SOM accumulation (Jastrow 1996; Six *et al.* 1999; Six *et al.* 2000; Plante and McGill 2002) because they restrict SOM access by microbes and soil fauna (Sollins *et al.* 1996; Christensen 2001). Physical stabilization of SOM through occlusion within soil aggregates is well documented (e.g. Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1998). Soils that undergo less physical disturbance (i.e., grassland and no-tilled cultivated systems) tend to possess larger aggregates and more carbon than soils that are disturbed, particularly conventionally-tilled soils (Tisdall and Oades 1982; Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1998).

Macroaggregates (>250µm) can be separated into sub-fractions, including microaggregates within macroaggregates. Microaggregate-within-macroaggregatestabilized SOM adds a level of physical stability additional to SOM occlusion within macroaggregates (Oades 1984; Angers *et al.* 1997; Denef *et al.* 2001). When the macroaggregate is disrupted, the microaggregate, which is more stable, tends to stay intact longer, thereby providing a physical means of carbon stabilization (Oades 1984; Angers *et al.* 1997). Carbon existing as intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) within the macroaggregate – but not the microaggregate within macroaggregate would be susceptible to decomposition upon macroaggregate disruption whereas the iPOM would remain protected within the microaggregate within the macroaggregate (Denef *et al.* 2001). Six *et al.* (2000) have shown that microaggregates contained within macroaggregates contain a large proportion of aggregate carbon and are an important component of soil carbon storage.

The focus of the research for this dissertation has been on measuring the size distribution and temporal dynamics of water-stable soil aggregates as a means of physical stabilization of arctic SOM. Six *et al.* (1999) developed a conceptual model of soil aggregate temporal dynamics which showed that reduced physical disturbance resulted in greater aggregate stability over time. Tussock tundra soils are annually disturbed through cryoturbation, so instead of direct physical disturbance, effect of disturbance through nutrient addition has been studied. Long-term nutrient addition has resulted in vegetation shifts from tussock to shrub tundra and a loss of soil carbon (Hobbie and Chapin 1998; Mack *et al.* 2004). It is important to distinguish that the model of aggregate stability developed by Six *et al.* (1999) used cultivation as a primary disturbance. The objective of this dissertation has been to test the applicability of the conceptual model of Six *et al.* (1999) to low arctic systems, using vegetation shifts and nutrient addition as disturbances.

This chapter includes a field site description, sampling methods, and laboratory analysis for aggregates size distribution (H1 from Chapter 1 and carbon and nitrogen content (H2

from Chapter 1) as well as macroaggregate substructure size fraction distribution with carbon and nitrogen content (H3 from Chapter 1). Light and heavy density fraction separation measurements, including intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) are covered (H4 from Chapter 1) in Chapter 3. The hypotheses listed in Chapter 1 to be covered in Chapter 2 are listed here, along with predictions:

- **H1:** Aggregate size distribution in arctic tundra is dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and temperature.
- P1.1: Nutrient addition should alter aggregate size distribution dynamics. If decomposition rates are much greater than rates of organic matter input, then a loss of soil structure measured as a decline in macroaggregates and increase in microaggregates, resulting in a shift in aggregate size distribution could be observed over the growing season.
- **P1.2:** If both input and decomposition rates increase as a result of nutrient addition, then soil structure may remain the same. However, if the input rate increases to a larger degree than the decomposition rate, the aggregate size distribution may shift resulting in an increase in macroaggregate formation over the growing season.

- H2: Aggregate carbon and nitrogen content in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, aggregate size distribution, and temperature.
- P2.1: Nutrient addition should alter aggregate carbon and nitrogen storage dynamics by enhancing microbial activity, thereby increasing the rate of decomposition. As a result, aggregate turnover will be increased, resulting in increased SOM availability and carbon loss by the end of the growing season.
- P2.2: If nutrient addition sufficiently enhances substrate production, then carbon content may not differ seasonally with nutrient addition because the rates of both incoming carbon (substrate production) and outgoing carbon (carbon dioxide efflux due to decomposition) may both be increased throughout the growing season, resulting in an equilibrium between input and output rates
- **P2.3:** If nitrogen is conserved within the soil, particularly in a nitrogen-limited system, then aggregate nitrogen content would most likely not change in response to increased inputs. However, if the rate of decomposition exceeds the rate of substrate input, then the amount of nitrogen relative to carbon may increase by the end of the growing season, resulting in a lower aggregate C:N.

- **H3**: Macroaggregate substructure size distribution and C:N in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, and soil macroaggregate turnover.
- **P3.1:** Nutrient addition should alter macroaggregate substructure dynamics by stimulating the microbial community resulting in an increase in aggregate turnover over the growing season. Microaggregates occluded within macroaggregates in early June may enter the free microaggregate pool upon macroaggregate disruption later in the growing season.
- **P3.2:** Nutrient addition affects the SOM content of microaggregates, which may decline as macroaggregate turnover increases as the growing season progresses.

Section 2.2. Procedures

Section 2.2 Subsection 1:Study Site

Field research was conducted at the Arctic Long Term Ecological Research (LTER) at Toolik Lake (Fig. 2.1), in the northern foothills of the Brooks Range in Alaska (68°38' N, 149°34' W, elevation 760 m). The area is dominated by tussock tundra. Moist acidic tundra (MAT) has an organic layer >20 cm thick overlaying a mineral soil with imbedded permafrost. Vegetation consists of graminoids (mostly *Eriophorum vaginatum*), deciduous shrubs (mostly *Betula nana*), evergreens (mostly *Ledum palustre* and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea*), and mosses (mostly *Sphagnum spp.*, *Hylocomium splendens*, and *Aulacomnium spp.*) (Chapin *et al.* 1995; McKane *et al.* 1997).

Experimental plots within the moist acidic tundra were arranged in a randomized complete block design with four blocks. Within each block, nutrient addition plots $(5x20 \text{ m}, 10 \text{ g N m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1} \text{ as NH}_4\text{NO}_3 \text{ and } 5 \text{ g P m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1} \text{ as P}_2\text{O}_5 \text{ each Spring})$ have been maintained since 1989 and 1996 (Hobbie and Chapin, 1998).



Figure 2.1. Location of Arctic LTER at Toolik Field Station, Alaska. Image created by Andrew Balser, University of Alaska, Fairbanks.

Section 2.2 Subsection 2: Site Description and Methods

1. Sample Collection

In 2007, soils were collected from a long-term nutrient addition experiment at the Arctic LTER at Toolik Lake, Alaska (Hobbie and Chapin 1998; Mack *et al.* 2004). Sample collections were made in early, mid, and late June, as well as August.

2. Laboratory methods

Soils were refrigerated at Toolik Field Station until they were sieved. Within a few days of sample collection, field-moist mineral soils were gently sieved through an 8 mm sieve.

Rocks, live roots, and dead organic matter were removed and quantified. The remaining soil was allowed to air dry. Soils were then transported to the Natural Resource Ecology Laboratory at Colorado State University for further fractionation and laboratory analysis.

Soils were separated into four water-stable aggregate size classes using the wet sieving method of Elliott (1986): large (>2000 µm) and small (250-2000 µm) macroaggregates, microaggregates (53-250 μ m), and a silt + clay fraction (<53 μ m). A 2000 μ m sieve was placed in a pan filled with water so the mesh of the sieve was under $\sim 1.5-2$ cm of water. A 100 g soil sample was poured onto the mesh and sat undisturbed for five minutes to allow for slaking, which is the breakdown of unstable aggregates due to internal pressure changes upon submersion. The sieve was then moved up out of and back into the water 50 times in 2 minutes. The fraction remaining on top was poured into a pre-weighed pan and organic matter larger than 2000 µm was removed as this is not part of the soil organic matter pool (Six *et al.* 2002). The pan was oven-dried at 60°C. Rocks larger than 2 mm were then removed. The remaining material constituted of the large macroaggregate (>2000 μ m) fraction. Material that passed through the sieve was poured over a 250 µm sieve and the process repeated (except organic matter removal). The fraction remaining on the sieve constituted of the small macroaggregate fraction (250- $2000 \,\mu\text{m}$). Material that passed through the sieve was poured over a 53 μm sieve and the process repeated. The fraction remaining on the sieve constituted of the microaggregate fraction (53-250 μ m). Material that passed through the 53 μ m was centrifuged, the water decanted, and poured into a pre-weighed pan. This fraction constituted the silt+clay fraction. After oven-drying and weighing the fractions, sub-samples were finely ground

for carbon and nitrogen analysis. Total organic carbon and nitrogen of all aggregate fractions were quantified by dry combustion using a Leco TruSpec CN analyzer (Leco Corporation, St. Joseph, Michigan).

Microaggregate Isolation:

Microaggregates contained within small macroaggregates (250-2000 µm) were isolated using the method of Six et al. (2000). A 10 g subsample was placed on top of a 250 µm sieve along with fifty glass beads (4 mm diam.). The sieve was gently shaken on a reciprocal shaker so that the macroaggregates were broken up with the aid of the beads. Continuous water flow through the sieve carried microaggregates through the sieve in order to not further disrupt them. Material passing through the 250 µm sieve was washed onto a 53 µm sieve, which was moved in water in the same manner as the initial aggregate separation procedure. This separation yields three fractions: the material remaining on the 250 µm sieve is considered to be coarse particulate organic matter (coarse POM); aggregates passing through the 250 μ m sieve but retained on the 53 μ m sieve are considered microaggregates isolated from within macroaggregates; and material passing through the 53 μ m sieve is considered clay and silt particles not associated with stable microaggregates. All aggregate and POM fractions were dried (65°C), weighed, and finely ground. Total organic carbon and nitrogen of all aggregate fractions were quantified by dry combustion using a Leco TruSpec CN analyzer (Leco Corporation, St. Joseph, Michigan).

Mean Weight-Diameter

The mean weight-diameter (MWD) presented in Equation 2.1 is a measure of average aggregate size (van Bavel 1949). The MWD is the sum of the average size of each aggregate size fraction (\bar{x}) multiplied by the proportion each fraction makes of the whole soil (*w*). The mean fraction diameters for large and small macroaggregates, microaggregates, and silt+clay were 5000, 1125, 151.5, and 26.5 µm, respectively.

$$MWD = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{\chi_i} W_i$$
 Equation 2.1

Section 2.3 Subsection 3: Statistical methods

Field plots were arranged in a randomized complete block design (n=4) with nutrient addition and sample date as main effects. Control soils collected from block 1 in late June were not used in analysis because the samples collected at that time were not organic soils. All data were analyzed using SAS statistics software for analysis of variance (SAS Institute, 2003). Sub-samples were nested within treatment plots within each block. Block and block*treatment interactions were treated as random effects. Kenward-Roger degrees of freedom were used because the number of subsamples per plot varied from 1-3. Mean separations were tested using Tukey's honestly significant difference. Because of high natural heterogeneity in arctic soils, effects were considered to be significant at p≤0.10. Data were log transformed to meet assumptions of normality.

Section 2.3. Results

In the results section, data on aggregate size distribution and aggregate mean weighdiameter (Hypothesis 1) are presented, followed by data on whole soil carbon, aggregate carbon and nitrogen, and carbon:nitrogen ratios for both whole soil and aggregates (Hypothesis 2). Then, similar data are presented for small macroaggregate-derived fractions, and end by comparing free microaggregates to those occluded within small macroaggregates (Hypothesis 3).

Section 2.3 Subsection 1: Aggregate size distribution (H1)

Aggregate size distribution did not differ with nutrient addition in early June, but did by mid-June when control soils had more macroaggregates and fewer free microaggregates than soils with nutrient addition. Control soils were comprised of significantly more large macroaggregates than soils with nutrient addition since 1989 and significantly more small macroaggregates than soils with nutrient addition since 1996. At the same time, there were fewer microaggregates in control soils than soils with nutrient addition since both 1996 and 1989. By late June and August, there were no longer differences in aggregate size distribution (Fig 2.2).

Control soils had a larger proportion of macroaggregates than soils with nutrient addition, which led to a greater mean weight-diameter than soils under long term nutrient addition (since 1989).


Figure 2.2 Water-stable aggregate size distribution. Upper case letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macroaggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same size fraction (p≤0.10).

Control aggregate MWD was greater than soils with nutrient addition since 1989 (Fig. 2.3, p≤0.05). There were no significant date or treatment effects on MWD for soils with nutrient addition since 1996, but as a general pattern, the MWD decreased in these soils over the growing season. A similar pattern was measured in control soils, which differed from patterns observed the previous year (Chapter One). In soils with nutrient addition since 1989, the MWD remained constant throughout the growing season, which also differed from soils measured in 2006 (Chapter One). There were no significant effects of nutrient addition on the upper 15 cm whole mineral soil carbon content (Fig. 2.4). Furthermore, differences in carbon allocation and C:N ratios of soils were not observed. Whole soil carbon content did not differ significantly with nutrient addition (Fig. 2.4).



Figure 2.3. Mean weight-diameter (MWD) of water-stable aggregates collected from control and fertilized mineral soils (units = μ m). Bars represent mean ± standard error. Asterisks indicate a significant seasonal average treatment effect (p≤0.05).



Figure 2.4. Whole mineral soil (15cm depth) carbon content (mg C/g whole soil) of control and fertilized mineral soils. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.

Section 2.3 Subsection 2: Carbon and Nitrogen Results for aggregate size classes (H2)

The carbon concentration of large macroaggregates differed with nutrient addition. Large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had a significantly lower seasonal average carbon concentration than the control ($p \le 0.05$) (Fig. 2.5). The large macroaggregate carbon content of soils with nutrient addition since 1996 did not differ from either the control or soils with nutrient addition since 1989. There were no treatment effects on carbon concentration in any of the other aggregate fractions. There were more large macroaggregates in the control than in soils with nutrient addition since 1989, and they had a greater carbon concentration. This means on a whole soil basis, more carbon was associated with large macroaggregates in the control than in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 ($p \le 0.05$) (Fig. 2.6). However, because this fraction made up a small proportion of the soil, procedural limitations prevented its separation into light fraction and heavy fraction components. This limitation on further large macroaggregate fractionation has been noted in other studies (Tan *et al.* 2007). The large macroaggregate fraction is less stable than small macroaggregates and is easily disrupted (Six *et al.* 1998). In all soils, the small macroaggregates comprised the largest aggregate fraction in term of abundance. This means on a whole soil basis, at least twice as much carbon was contained within the small macroaggregate fraction than in any other.



Figure 2.5. Carbon concentration of water-stable aggregates (mg C/g aggregate fraction). Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macro aggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Asterisks indicate significant differences between a seasonal average of N+P treatments of the same size fraction (p \leq 0.05).



Year N+P treatment initiated

Figure 2.6. mg C/g whole soil in each aggregate fraction Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macroaggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. A seasonal average difference exists between the fractions marked with asterisks (p≤0.05). Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same size fraction (p≤0.10).

Aggregate fraction nitrogen concentration differed only in large macroaggregates, where soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had, on a seasonal average, a lower nitrogen

concentration than the control ($p\leq0.10$, Fig. 2.7). The lower seasonal average nitrogen concentration in large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 was due to a decline in nitrogen concentration over the growing season. The seasonal average nitrogen concentration of large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1996 did not differ from the control or soils with nutrient addition since 1989. There were no treatment effects on nitrogen concentration on any of the other aggregate fractions.



Figure 2.7. Nitrogen concentration of water-stable aggregates. Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macroaggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. A seasonal average difference exists between the fractions marked with asterisks (p≤0.10).

Aggregate nitrogen content on a whole soil basis was affected by nutrient addition (Fig. 2.8). On a whole-soil basis, the large macroaggregate fraction contained more nitrogen in the control than soils with nutrient addition since 1989 as a seasonal average ($p \le 0.05$)

and at the August sampling date ($p \le 0.075$), but there were no treatment effects at any of the specific June sampling dates. Large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1996 did not differ from the control or soils with nutrient addition since 1989 in terms of the amount of large macroaggregate nitrogen that was contributed to the whole soil nitrogen pool. However, the amount whole soil nitrogen content contributed by small macroaggregates was significantly affected by nutrient addition in mid June when the control soils contained more small macroaggregate nitrogen than soils with nutrient addition since 1996 ($p \le 0.075$). Though there was a difference between the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1996, whole soil nitrogen content of small macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 did not differ from the control or soils with nutrient addition since 1996. Microaggregate whole soil nitrogen content was significantly affected by nutrient addition in late June when soils with nutrient addition since 1989 contained more small macroaggregate nitrogen than control soils ($p \le 0.075$), but microaggregate whole soil nitrogen content of soils with nutrient addition since 1996 did not differ from the control or soils with nutrient addition since 1989. The whole soil nitrogen content of the silt and clay fraction was significantly affected by nutrient addition in late June when soils with nutrient addition since both 1989 and 1996 contained more nitrogen than control soils ($p \le 0.075$). In all soils, the small macroaggregates comprised the largest aggregate fraction in term of abundance. This means on a whole soil basis, more nitrogen was contained within the small macroaggregate fraction than in any other.



Year N+P treatment initiated

Figure 2.8. mg N/g whole soil in each aggregate fraction. Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macroaggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. A seasonal average difference exists between fractions marked with asterisks (p≤0.05). Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same size fraction and date (p≤0.075).



Figure 2.9. Whole soil carbon:nitrogen. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Letters indicate significant difference between fertilization treatments on the same sample date (p \leq 0.075).

Whole soil C:N declined over the growing season in all nutrient addition treatments, including the control ($p\leq0.05$). In late June, whole soil C:N was also affected by nutrient addition, with soils with nutrient addition since 1989 having a lower C:N than soils with nutrient addition since 1996 and the control ($p\leq0.075$, Fig. 2.9).

In general, the C:N of aggregates declined over the growing season ($p \le 0.075$, Fig. 2.10), except for large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1996. On a seasonal average, the large macroaggregate C:N was lower in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control while the C:N of large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control while the C:N of large macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 ($p \le 0.10$, Fig. 2.10). However, due to low nitrogen levels and subsequent instrument (LECO) detection limits, only two blocks were used in late June for large macroaggregates from plots with nutrient addition since 1989. In late June, the C:N was lower in both microaggregates and silt+clay from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than both the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1996 ($p \le 0.05$, Fig. 2.10).



Figure 2.10. Carbon:Nitrogen ratio of water-stable aggregates. Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Large Macroaggregates, B=Small Macroaggregates, C=Microaggregates, D=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same size fraction (p≤0.05). A seasonal average difference exists between fractions marked with asterisks (p≤0.10).

Section 2.3 Subsection 3: Small macroaggregate-derived sub-fractions (H3)

In this section, the distribution of carbon and nitrogen content of macroaggregate-derived coarse sand and POM, microaggregates, and silt+clay fractions is described. On a seasonal average, small macroaggregates in soils with nutrient addition since 1996 contained significantly more coarse sand and POM (>250 μ m) and less silt+clay than the control (p≤0.10, Fig. 2.11). On a seasonal average, microaggregates comprised approximately 50% of macroaggregate mass, which is similar to southeastern US soils under no-tillage cultivation (Simpson *et al.* 2004) and soils of differing clay mineralogy (Denef *et al.* 2004) There was no difference in microaggregate-within-macroaggregate abundance with nutrient addition except in late June, where control soils contain significantly more macroaggregate-derived microaggregates than soils with nutrient addition since 1989 and 1996 (p≤0.075, Table 2.1). Macroaggregate-derived fractions did not significantly differ in carbon concentration with nutrient addition (Fig. 2.12).



Figure 2.11. Seasonal average of the distribution of small macroaggregate subfractions: coarse sand and POM (>250 μ m), microaggregates (53-250 μ m), and silt+clay (<53 μ m) from arctic soils, mid-June 2007. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Letters indicate significant difference (p≤0.10) between treatments of the same aggregate sub fraction.

N+P treatment	% of small macroaggregate as microaggregates
Control	57.26 (1.09) a
Sinc e 1996	49.71 (2.48) b
Since 1989	47.80 (0.93) Ъ
Table 2.1. Percent of small macroaggregate (250-2000µm) weight as microaggregates (53-250µm) in Late June only. Standard errors are in	





Year N+P treatment initiated

Figure 2.12. Carbon concentration in small macroaggregate subfractions (mg C/g fraction). Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Coarse sand and POM, B=Microaggregates from small macros C=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.



Figure 2.13. Nitrogen concentration in small macroaggregate sub-fractions (mgN/g fraction). Uppercase letters indicate aggregate sub fraction (A=Coarse sand and POM, B=Microaggregates from small macros C=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same size fraction (p≤0.05).

Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen concentration did not differ significantly with treatment, except in August, when coarse sand and POM from soils with nutrient addition since 1989 contained a higher nitrogen concentration than the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1996 ($p \le 0.05$, Fig. 2.13). Trends within the microaggregatewithin-macroaggregate sub-fraction suggest that N concentration may have declined in soils with nutrient addition since 1996 while it increased in soils with nutrient addition



Figure 2.14. C:N ratio of small macroaggregate subfractions. Uppercase letters indicate aggregate size fraction (A=Coarse sand and POM, B=Microaggregates from small macros C=silt+clay). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.

since 1989 over the growing season (Fig. 2.13). There were no significant differences in

C:N in the macroaggregate sub-fractions with nutrient addition (Fig. 2.14).



Figure 2.15. Ratio of free:occluded (within small macroaggregate) carbon concentration (mg C/g microaggregate). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.

Section 2.3 Subsection 4: Comparisons between free and macroaggregate-derived

microaggregates

In order to compare characteristics of free microaggregates with macroaggregate-derived microaggregates, the ratios of the abundance, carbon, nitrogen, and C:N ratios of free microaggregates over occluded microaggregates within macroaggregates were compared. If the ratio >1, then free microaggregates contained more C,N, or comprised more of the soil than macroaggregate-derived microaggregates. Occluded microaggregates had a



Figure 2.16. Ratio of Free:Occluded (within small macroaggregates) micro aggregate abundance (g micro aggregates/g whole soil). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between N+P treatments of the same sample date (p≤0.075).

greater carbon concentration than free microaggregates ($p \le 0.075$), but there were no

significant nutrient addition effects (Fig. 2.15).

Control soils tended to contain more occluded than free microaggregates in June, but by

August, there were more free than occluded control microaggregates whereas the ratio of

free:occluded microaggregates tended to increase in mid-June in soils with nutrient

addition (Fig. 2.16). In mid-June, the free:occluded microaggregate ratio was significantly greater in soils with nutrient addition since 1996 than the control ($p \le 0.075$).

The ratio of free:occluded microaggregate nitrogen concentration always remained under 1, meaning occluded microaggregates had a higher nitrogen concentration than free microaggregates ($p\leq0.05$). However, the free:occluded nitrogen concentration ratio of soils collected in August was significantly ($p\leq0.075$) greater than those collected in June (Fig. 2.17).



Figure 2.17. Ratio of free:occluded (within small macroaggregates) microaggregate nitrogen concentration (mgN/g microaggregate). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Asterisks indicate a significant date effect from other sampling dates for each fertilization treatment (p \leq 0.075).

Increases in free microaggregate nitrogen concentration combined with little difference in carbon concentration over the growing season resulted in a lowering of the free microaggregate carbon:nitrogen ratio relative to occluded microaggregates (Fig. 2.18) over the growing season. The free:occluded microaggregate C:N in August was lower

than June sample dates for all nutrient addition treatments ($p \le 0.05$).



Figure 2.18. Ratio of free:occluded (within small macroaggregates) microaggregate nitrogen carbon:nitrogen. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Asterisks indicate a significant date effect from other sampling dates for each fertilization treatment (p \leq 0.05).

Section 2.4. Discussion

Section 2.4 Subsection 1: Aggregate size distribution (H1)

The objective of Hypothesis 1 was to determine if aggregate formation varies temporally over the growing season and with nutrient addition. Aggregate size distribution did not differ with nutrient addition at the beginning of the growing season. However mid-June aggregate distribution differed with nutrient addition. Control soils had more macroaggregates and fewer microaggregates than soils with nutrient addition. By the end of the season, however, there were no significant differences in size distribution with treatment. Mid-June soils were collected early in the growing season, approx. 15 days after spring thaw. These results suggest that the structure of Arctic soils is variable early in the growing season and undergo dynamic shifts in aggregate size fractions was similar to those under cultivation in a temperate soil as measured by Six *et al.* (2002).

Though there were no treatment differences at the beginning or end of the growing season, nutrient addition effects during the growing season may result in periods of shifts in SOM stability. Long-term effects may result from these observed changes in soil structure. It is likely that both organic matter inputs and decomposition increased (Prediction 1.2), but these rate shifts have not had a definitive effect on soil structure aside from a seasonally average lower MWD in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control (Fig. 2.3).

Section 2.4 Subsection 2: Aggregate C and N content (H2)

Nutrient addition (Hypothesis 2) did not affect whole mineral soil carbon or nitrogen content, which is contrary to the measurements of Mack *et al.* (2004), who measured a loss of carbon with long-term nutrient addition in both the organic and mineral layers from soils on a hillslope next to the one soils from the current study were collected. Prediction 2.1 described that aggregate carbon loss would occur in response to nutrient addition, and this was observed in large macroaggregates, but not in other fractions. Large macroaggregates in control soils had a higher carbon concentration and contributed more to the whole soil carbon than large macroaggregates in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 (Figs 2.5 and 2.6). However, larger macroaggregates comprised the smallest proportion of the total soil.

Microbial enzyme activity may be inhibited by nutrient addition if the amount of added nitrogen is sufficiently high. As a result, aggregate carbon content may be lower in these soils. Huang *et al.* (2010) found that manure applications increased aggregate carbon content. However, inorganic fertilizer applications did not. The present study was conducted on field plots that have received long-term inorganic fertilizer applications, and may have been affected similarly; at the same time, tussock tundra is nitrogen limited, so rather than having inhibitory effects on decomposition due to excess inorganic nitrogen, it is a lack of nitrogen that permits decomposition to take place (Wallenstein *et al.* 2009). The reason for a lack of change in aggregate carbon content in response to nutrient addition is unclear at this stage; however, later analyses on SOM

allocation may provide information on how arctic SOM is impacted by nutrient addition (See Chapter 3).

Aggregate nitrogen concentration (Prediction 2.3) was not significantly affected by nutrient addition except in soils with nutrient addition since 1989, where the concentration was lower than the control. On a whole soil basis, there was more nitrogen allocated to small macroaggregates in control soils and more allocated to free microaggregates and silt+clay fractions in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 (Fig 2.8). This change in nitrogen allocation across aggregate size classes was due in part to significant shifts in aggregate size distribution in mid June, but effects observed in late June were due to a combination of shifts in nitrogen concentration and aggregate size distribution, neither of which were significant. However, when aggregate size distribution and nitrogen concentration trends were combined, significantly more nitrogen was allocated to smaller size fractions in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control. Soils with nutrient addition since 1996 had a declining MWD, loss of carbon, and loss of nitrogen over the growing season, but none of these effects were significant. However, this may indicate that MWD, carbon, and nitrogen are related to each other, given that all three declined. In soils of all three treatments, higher MWD's tended to be associated with greater soil carbon content, which may indicate a positive association between these two factors, which has been described by others (e.g. Elliott 1986; Six *et al.* 1998). What is unclear is why the MWD declined in soils with nutrient addition since 1996, but did not in soils with nutrient addition since 1989. These results may indicate that responses to long-term nutrient addition may not proceed in a single

direction, but exhibit dynamic qualities that may result in increases or decreases in soil structure over time.

Whole soil C:N was lower in August than previous sample collection dates across all nutrient addition treatments. In free microaggregates and silt+clay, soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had a lower C:N than the control. This lower C:N was due to an increase in nitrogen concentration and abundance of free microaggregate and silt+clay fractions, which also resulted in a lower MWD for soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Whereas studies conducted in cultivated systems in temperate regions (e.g. Cambardella and Elliott 1992; Six *et al.* 1998, Six *et al.* 1999) have shown a consistent relationship between aggregate size, carbon/nitrogen content, and physical disturbance (disturbance reduces aggregate size and carbon content), nutrient addition in the Arctic does not seem to have the same consistent effect. However, Mack *et al.* (2004) reported a loss of carbon after 20 years of nutrient addition in arctic soils. A decline in carbon content was observed with nutrient addition in the preliminary work in 2006 (See Chapter 1), but no significant difference in whole soil carbon content in 2007 were measured, which may indicate that the response of arctic soils to nutrient addition in terms of aggregate distribution and carbon/nitrogen content is highly variable, and it is unlikely that the long-term carbon loss observed by Mack *et al.* (2004) was due to a linear decline in carbon content, but may have been due to large losses either initially, or during punctuated events during the growing season.

Section 2.4 Subsection 3: Macroaggregate-derived microaggregates (H3)

The distribution of microaggregates within macroaggregates in small macroaggregates (Prediction 3.1) did not differ except in late June, when control small macroaggregates contained a higher proportion of microaggregates within macroaggregates than both nutrient addition treatments. This result is similar to the findings of Simpson *et al.* (2004), who observed a decline in macroaggregate-derived microaggregate content in response to increased cultivation intensity in a temperate soil. In the present study, treatment effects observed earlier in the growing season were resolved with regard to soil structure. By the August sample date, neither aggregate size distribution nor occluded microaggregate content were affected by nutrient addition. Microbial activity tends to be greatest earlier in the growing season in these soils, when nitrogen availability is higher than later in the growing season (Giblin *et al.* 1991). If soil structure and microbial activity are related in arctic soils as they are in other systems (Beare *et al.* 1994, 1997; Bossuyt *et al.* 2001), then differences in aggregate distribution and formation would be expected when microbial activity is high.

On a seasonal average, soils with nutrient addition since 1996 contained more coarse sand and POM than the control, and carbon concentration distribution was not affected by nutrient addition. The carbon concentration (Prediction 3.2) in small macroaggregate sub-fractions was not significantly affected by nutrient addition, though occluded microaggregate carbon concentration declined (but not significantly) over the growing season in soils with nutrient addition since 1996 (Fig. 2.12). The nitrogen concentration in coarse POM of soils with nutrient addition since 1989 was significantly greater than

other soils by the end of the growing season. Soils with nutrient addition since 1996 also had an increase in coarse POM nitrogen concentration, but this effect was not significant. This increase in nitrogen content in coarse POM with nutrient addition may indicate an increase in microbial activity, resulting in carbon loss and nitrogen conservation; however, there were no changes in the C:N of any of the macroaggregate sub-fractions.

Section 2.4 Subsection 4: Comparisons between free and occluded microaggregates

Comparisons were made between free microaggregates with microaggregates occluded within macroaggregates. Occluded microaggregates contained higher concentrations of both carbon and nitrogen than free microaggregates. Except for soils with nutrient addition collected in early June, soils with nutrient addition since both 1996 and 1989 contained more free than occluded microaggregates. Control soils were the opposite through the month of June, but by August, the ratio of free:occluded microaggregates was >1. At the same time, this ratio was also >1 for both nutrient additions, but was declining (Fig. 2.16). The C:N ratio was higher in free than occluded aggregates, but declined significantly by August in all treatments (Fig. 2.18). These results suggest that SOM quality (lower C:N) is greater in occluded than free macroaggregates, meaning that aggregate structure is important in stabilizing SOM in the Arctic. However, a lower C:N may be the result of increased SOM decomposition, which would result in a loss of carbon dioxide and nitrogen conservation, resulting in humification and an overall increase in recalcitrance. This increase in decomposition resistance may not be occurring at this point because even though the C:N is lower in occluded than free microaggregates, it is still >20:1, meaning nitrogen is still limiting in the system.

The results of small macroaggregate sub-structure fractionation suggest that the macroaggregate turnover rate for control macroaggregates increased by the end of the season, when their turnover rate was comparable to macroaggregates from soils with nutrient addition (Fig. 2.16), which may have contributed to size distribution resolution between nutrient addition treatments, meaning more small macroaggregates from the control were breaking down by August than small macroaggregates in soils with nutrient addition. In Figure 2.16, a graph of the ratio of free:occluded microaggregates is displayed. At the end of the season, the ratio of free:occluded microaggregates is >1 whereas it is lower at the beginning of the season. This means there are more free microaggregates than occluded microaggregates at the end of the season, whereas the opposite was true at the beginning of the season. Macroaggregate breakdown and turnover may have led to an increase in nitrogen concentration in free microaggregates (Six *et al.* 1999).

Section 2.4 Subsection 5: Potential linkages to other studies

Nitrogen limitations in tussock tundra (Weintraub and Schimel 2005) may have contributed to small macroaggregate turnover by the August sample collection date, based on an increase in the free:occluded microaggregate ratio (Fig. 2.16). According to the aggregate turnover and stabilization model of Six *et al.* (1999), aggregate formation is dependent on litter input and reformation around POM upon disruption. Low quality (Low N) litter may reduce aggregate formation because it is less susceptible to microbial decomposition. In their work at the same arctic site, Wallenstein *et al.* (2009) found that

microbial enzyme activity declined over the growing season in control tussock tundra, but did not decline in soils where nitrogen was not as limiting as in tussock tundra.

The conclusions of Wallenstein *et al.* (2009) combined with the conceptual model of Six *et al.* (1999), taken together with my results, suggest that macroaggregates in control soils became N-limited, which resulted in a loss of small macroaggregate stability in control soils. Their breakdown led to a release of occluded microaggregates into the free microaggregate pool. The formerly occluded microaggregates contained greater concentrations of carbon and especially nitrogen than free micros, which resulted in a new free microaggregate pool of higher quality than earlier in the season. Microaggregate released from disrupted macroaggregates resulted in an increase in free microaggregate carbon content, which has also been observed in forested systems (He *et al.* 2008). Results in Chapter 3 (see percentage of iPOM C in free microaggregates portion of Fig. 3.5) may also provide evidence that microaggregates with enriched carbon present at the end of the season actually contain the carbon, and that this carbon is not simply an increase in fine light fraction organic matter outside the aggregate.

Section 2.4 Subsection 6: Comparison to preliminary studies

Ending the growing season with high quality microaggregates and SOM may result in the formation of new macroaggregates with greater stability than the ones measured in 2007. Aggregate dynamics during the 2006 growing season were measured as a preliminary study, and soils in the control increased in structure (Increased MWD) and SOM content over the growing season while the MWD of soils under nutrient addition increased somewhat, but less so than the control, while carbon content declined (Chapter One). In 2007, the same effect of nutrient addition over the growing season was not observed as it was in 2006. These results may imply that 2007 may have been a "rebuilding year", meaning there was no difference in soil carbon storage with nutrient addition, and that multi-year cycles of aggregate formation/breakdown may exist in these soils. Soils under nutrient addition were beginning to form macroaggregates that may have contained re-occluded microaggregates whereas control soils were undergoing macroaggregate disruption in August (Fig. 2.16). This release of high-quality microaggregates late in the season, which would serve as seeds of new macroaggregate formation (Angers *et al.* 1997) for the next growing season in control soils.

Section 2.4 Subsection 7: Effects of time under nutrient addition

No clear effects of time under nutrient addition emerged. If significant treatment effects were found, they were typically between control soils and soils with nutrient addition since 1989. One notable exception is figure 2.16, where soils with nutrient addition since 1996 differed from the control whereas soils with nutrient addition since 1989 did not. Soils with nutrient addition since 1996 often did not reflect an intermediate condition between the other two soils (e.g. Figs. 2.3 and 2.4). Often, soils with nutrient addition since 1996 would not differ from either the control or soils with nutrient addition is not necessarily additive. However, soils with nutrient addition for the longest period of time (since 1989) tended to exhibit more differences from the control than soils with nutrient addition since 1996. Conversely, the soils with a shorter period of nutrient

addition did not necessarily exhibit a treatment response that was intermediary between the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1989. In addition, it is unclear whether soils with nutrient addition since 1989 have reached a new steady state, nor is it clear when such a state would be reached.

Conclusions

Aggregate formation and disruption occurred during the course of the growing season in arctic soils. Nutrient addition affected aggregate size class distribution only in mid-June, which indicates that this is a dynamic period of aggregate formation and may be dependent on the microbial community and nitrogen availability. As the growing season progressed, there was a release of previously-occluded microaggregates upon macroaggregate disruption. Because occluded microaggregates tended to possess higher carbon and nitrogen contents than free microaggregates, once macroaggregates were disrupted, occluded microaggregates with a higher OM content than free microaggregate pool, resulting in a free microaggregate pool with SOM quantities more similar to the occluded microaggregate pool. These results highlight the importance of multiple sample collection dates, which are necessary if we are to improve our understanding of factors driving SOM stabilization in Arctic soils.

Section 2.5. References

Angers, D.A, S. Recous, and C. Aita. 1997. Fate of carbon and nitrogen in water-stable aggregates during decomposition of ¹³C¹⁵N-lavelled wheat straw in situ. European Journal of Soil Science 48: 295-300.

Beare, M.H., P.F. Hendrix, and D.C. Coleman. 1994. Water-stable aggregates and organic matter fractions in conventional and no-tillage soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58: 777-786.

Beare, M.H., S. Hu, D.C. Coleman, and P.F. Hendrix. 1997. Influences of mycelial fungi on soil aggregation and organic matter storage in conventional and no-tillage soils. Applied Soil Ecology 5: 211-219.

Bossuyt, H., K. Denef., J. Six., S.D. Frey, R. Merckx, and K. Paustian. 2001. Influence of microbial populations and residue quality on aggregate stability. Applied Soil Ecology 16: 195-208.

Cambardella, C.A. and E.T. Elliott. 1992. Particulate soil organic-matter changes across a grassland cultivation sequence. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56: 777-783.

Chapin, F.S., III, G.R. Shaver, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, and J.A. Laundre. 1995. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology 76: 694-711.

Christensen, B.T. 2001. Physical fractionation of soil and structural and functional complexity in organic matter turnover. European Journal of Soil Science. 52: 345-353.

Denef, K., J. Six, H. Bossuyt, S.D. Frey, E.T. Elliott, R. Merckx, and K. Paustian. 2001. Influence of dry-wet cycles on the interrelationship between aggregate, particulate organic matter, and microbial community dynamics. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33: 1599-1611.

Denef, K., J. Six, R. Merckx, and K. Paustian. 2004. Carbon sequestration in microaggregates of no-tillage soils with different clay mineralogy. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68:1935-1944.

Elliott, E.T. 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in native and cultivated soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 50: 627-633.

Feng, X. and M.J. Simpson. 2008. Temperature responses of individual soil organic matter components. Journal of Geophysical Research 113: G03036. Fog, K. 1988. The effect of added nitrogen on the rate of decomposition of organic matter. Biological Review 63: 433-462.

Giblin, A.E., K.J. Nadelhoffer, G.R. Shaver, J.A. Laundre, and A.J. McKerrow. 1991. Biogeochemical diversity along a riverside toposequence in arctic Alaska. Ecological Monographs 61: 415-435.

He, Y., Z. Xu, C. Chen, J. Burton, Q. Ma, Y. Ge, and J. Xu. 2008. Using light fraction and macroaggregate associated organic matters as early indicators for management-induced changes in soil chemical and biological properties in adjacent native and plantation forests of subtropical Australia. Geoderma 147: 116-125.

Hobbie, S.E. and F.S. Chapin, III. 1998. The response of tundra plant biomass, aboveground production, nitrogen, and CO_2 flux to experimental warming. Ecology 79: 526-545.

Hobbie, S.E., J.P. Schimel, S.E. Trumbore, and J.R. Randerson. 2000. Controls over carbon storage and turnover in high-latitude soils. Global Change Biology 6: 196-210.

Huang, S., X. Peng, Q. Huang, and W. Zhang. 2010. Soil aggregation and organic carbon fractions affected by long-term fertilization in a red soil of subtropical China. Geoderma 154: 364-369.

Jastrow, J.D. 1996. Soil aggregate formation and the accrual of particulate and mineralassociated organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 28: 665-676.

Kögel-Knabner, I. 2002. The macromolecular organic composition of plant and microbial residues as inputs to soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34: 139-162.

Kramer, M.G., P. Sollins, R.S. Sletten, and P.K. Swart. 2003. N isotope fractionation and measures of organic matter alteration during decomposition. Ecology 84: 2021-2025.

Mack, M.C., E.A.G. Schuur, M.S. Bret-Harte, G.R. Shaver, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2004. Ecosystem carbon storage in arctic tundra reduced by long-term nutrient fertilization. Nature 431: 440-443.

McKane, R.B., E.B. Rastetter, G.R. Shaver, K.J. Nadelhoffer, A.E. Giblin, J.A. Laundre, and F.S. Chapin, III. 1997. Reconstruction and analysis of historical changes in carbon storage in arctic tundra. Ecology 78: 1188-1198.

Oades, J.M. 1984. Soil organic matter and structural stability: mechanisms and implications for management. Plant and Soil 76: 319-337.

Oechel, W.C., S.J. Hastings, G. Vourlitis, M. Jenkins, G. Riechers, and N. Gruelke. 1993. Recent changes of arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source. Nature 361: 520-533.
Plante, A.F. and W.B. McGill. 2002. Soil aggregate dynamics and the retention of organic matter in laboratory-incubated soil with differing simulated tillage frequencies. Soil and Tillage Research 66: 79-92.

SAS. 2003. Version 9.1 of the SAS System for Windows. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.

Simpson, R.T., S.D. Frey, J. Six, and R.K. Thiet. 2004. Preferential accumulation of microbial carbon in aggregate structures of no-tillage soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68: 1249-1255.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, K. Paustian, and J.W. Doran. 1998. Aggregation and soil organic matter accumulation in cultivated and native grassland soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62: 1367-1377.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. 1999. Aggregate and soil organic matter dynamics under conventional and no-tillage systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63: 1350-1358.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. 2000. Soil macroaggregate turnover and microaggregate formation: a mechanism for C sequestration under no-tillage agriculture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32: 2099-2103.

Six, J., P. Callewaert, S. Lenders, S. De Gryze, S.J. Morris, E.G. Gregorich, E.A. Paul, and K. Paustian. 2002. Measuring and understanding carbon storage in afforested soils by physical fractionation. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66: 1981-1987.

Sollins, P., P. Homann, and B.S. Caldwell. 1996. Stabilization and destabilization of soil organic matter: mechanisms and controls. Geoderma 74: 65-105.

Tan, Z., R. Lal, L. Owens, and R.C. Izaurralde. 2007. Distribution of light and heavy fractions of soils organic carbon as related to land use and tillage practice. Soil and Tillage Research. 92: 53-59.

Tisdall, J.M. and J.M. Oades. 1982. Organic matter and water-stable aggregates in soils. Journal of Soil Science 3: 141-161.

Uhlířová, E., H. Šantrůčková, and S.P. Davidov. 2007. Quality and potential biodegradability of soil organic matter preserved in permafrost of Siberian tussock tundra. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39: 1978-1989.

van Bavel, C.H.M. 1949. Mean weight diameter of soil aggregates as statistical index of aggregation. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings 14: 20-23.

Wallenstein, M.D., S.K. McMahon, and J.P. Schimel. 2009. Seasonal variation in enzyme activities and temperature sensitivities in Arctic tundra soils. Global Change Biology 15: 1631-1639.

Weintraub, M.N. and J.P. Schimel. 2005. The seasonal dynamics of amino acids and other nutrients in Alaskan Arctic tundra soils. Biogeochemistry 73: 359-380.

CHAPTER THREE

LIGHT FRACTION AND INTRA-AGGREGATE PARTICULATE ORGANIC MATTER SEPARATIONS FROM SMALL MACROAGGREGATES AND MICROAGGREGATES

Section 3.1. Introduction

Arctic soils contain a large proportion of soil organic matter (SOM) that is not chemically stabilized and is, therefore, potentially mineralizable. This SOM pool exists because cold, anoxic conditions restrict decomposition (Weintraub and Schimel 2003; reviewed in Chapter One). Light fraction organic matter, being a labile source of mineralizable carbon and nitrogen that is sensitive to land-use change (Cambardella and Elliott 1992; Whalen *et al.* 2000; He *et al.* 2007; Wagai *et al.* 2009), may be a component of this SOM pool. Tundra SOM is largely of plant origin (Weintraub and Schimel 2003), and due to low decomposition rates, a pool of slightly decomposed light fraction SOM should exist in these soils. Separating organic matter fractions through physical fractionation may help separate SOM with differing turnover times, particularly partially decomposed plant litter in the non-aggregate-associated light fraction from mineral-associated SOM and intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) (Sollins *et al.* 1984; Whalen *et al.* 2000).

The focus of the previous chapter (Chapter 2) of this dissertation was on size distribution and temporal dynamics of water-stable soil aggregates as a means of physical stabilization of arctic SOM. The objective of the work contained within the current chapter was to separate free POM (light fraction) from previously separated aggregate fractions as well as from iPOM fractions contained within small macroaggregates and microaggregates (H4 from Chapter 1). Determining the size and dynamics of light fraction organic matter pools will aid in our understanding of how non-physicallyprotected organic matter is affected by nutrient addition.

Particulate organic matter (POM) can be classified as mineral-free POM and mineralassociated OM (Theodorou 1990). It may either be associated with aggregates as intraaggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM), or free (non-aggregate-associated) POM (Six *et al.* 1998). Free POM is referred to as the Light Fraction (LF), and can be separated from the Heavy Fraction (HF), which includes mineral-associated OM and iPOM, through density separation. The light fraction is generally defined as a POM fraction with a density <1.85 g cm⁻³, and is comprised largely of roots and other plant debris, hyphae, and charcoal (Spycher *et al.* 1983). Light Fraction organic matter is partially decomposed and has a C:N greater than the whole soil, which also contains mineral-associated organic matter and POM occluded within aggregates (Sollins *et al.* 1984; Tan *et al.* 2007), but lower than root C:N (Molloy and Speir 1977; Theodorou 1990), which indicates that some decomposition has occurred (Molloy *et al.* 1977). The light fraction pool has intermediate to fast turnover time (<5 years) that is slower than

fresh litter, but faster than mineral-associated OM (Wander *et al.* 1994; Christensen 2001; Swanston *et al.* 2002; Yamashita *et al.* 2006).

The light fraction is dominated by plant carbohydrates whereas occluded OM is more decomposed and is more recalcitrant, containing a higher lignin and alkyl structure content, than the light fraction. (Golchin *et al.* 1994; Golchin *et al.* 1997). However, when separating light fraction and iPOM into coarse- and fine-sized components, Six *et al.* (1999a, 2001) found that fine light fraction was less labile than iPOM. The aggregate turnover model of Six *et al.* (1998) suggests that formerly occluded OM may re-enter the Free OM (light fraction) pool when aggregates break down. The end result is a mixture of light fraction and formerly occluded POM, but in general, the light fraction is dominated by labile, easily decomposed SOM (Theodorou 1990; Ashagrie *et al.* 2007; Tian *et al.* 2009, but see Swanston *et al.* 2002). Some light fraction may be formally occluded POM, but most consists of fungal biomass and root fragments in particular, and has been linked to root turnover in forest soils (Spycher *et al.* 1983).

Labile organic matter turnover dynamics are linked to the size of the light fraction pool, along with its carbon and nitrogen content (Janzen *et al.* 1992). Soil organic matter fractionation has been used to estimate the stability of carbon pools in grassland and cultivated soils. In a native grassland, mineral associated carbon constituted 60% of soil organic carbon, while the POM fraction made up the remaining 40% (Cambardella and Elliott 1992). Carbon content declined with increasing cultivation intensity, while the proportion of carbon associated with the mineral fraction increased and the POM fraction

decreased. Based on these results, it is likely that the carbon fraction most affected by disturbance through cultiviation is POM-C, which is an organic matter fraction with an intermediate turnover time (Cambardella and Elliott 1992). These results were supported by the work of Six *et al.* (1998), who found that 47.5% of POM was lost as light fraction, which constituted 42% of the soil carbon lost upon cultivation, which is disproportionate to the proportion of total soil carbon that exists as light fraction. Elsewhere, Dalal and Mayer (1986) observed that light fraction carbon loss was 2-11 times greater than heavy fraction (mineral-associated) POM following cultivation; this loss may have been due to a lack of physical protection of light fraction carbon.

Carbon loss in temperate systems has been linked to a loss of light fraction organic matter (Six *et al.* 1998; Cambardella and Elliott 1992; Dalal and Mayer 1986). Because much of the low Arctic consists of tussock tundra, where mineral soil is overlain by a thick organic layer, it is likely that a substantial light fraction pool exists within this system. We do know that shifts in nutrient dynamics in the Arctic can result in a release in carbon from the system (Oechel *et al.* 1993; Mack *et al.* 2004); however, the dynamics of light fraction organic matter in the Arctic are not well-known. We do not know how much light fraction is incorporated into aggregates as iPOM, or the dynamics of occlusion within aggregates or release upon aggregate disruption. If light fraction organic matter is an organic matter fraction that is disproportionately susceptible to decomposition in the Arctic as it is in temperate areas (e.g. Six *et al.* 1998), then understanding the factors that lead to its occlusion within aggregates, existence outside aggregates, and substrate inputs will improve our understanding of soil carbon storage dynamics in the Arctic.

The general hypothesis for this chapter (first discussed in Chapter 1) is:

- H4: Particulate organic matter carbon content, nitrogen content, and location within the soil matrix as either light fraction or iPOM in arctic tundra are dynamic under natural conditions, responding to changes in organic matter inputs, microbial activity, soil aggregate turnover, and temperature.
- P4.1: Nutrient addition should have a lower impact on mineral-associated silt+clay carbon and nitrogen concentrations during the growing season than it would on POM fractions.
- **P4.2**: Nutrient addition should alter light fraction carbon content dynamics. If new organic matter inputs increase due to active root decomposition, then the rate of material entering the light fraction pool will increase. At the same time, if the rate of light fraction decomposition increases with nutrient addition, then its contribution to the soil carbon pool may decrease by the end of the growing season.
- **P4.3**: Nutrient addition should alter intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) carbon content dynamics. If nutrient addition has resulted in shifts in the plant community, plant growth rates, and decomposition, then

material being incorporated into aggregates (iPOM) could be reduced by the end of the growing season through a decrease in iPOM pool size (due to increased macroaggregate turnover), or increased through increased root inputs and subsequent aggregate formation as the growing season progresses.

- **P4.4**: Nutrient should alter light fraction nitrogen storage dynamics. Increased root growth due to nutrient addition provides new material for microbial decomposition and subsequent incorporation into the SOM pool. At the same time, nutrient addition stimulates decomposition. Therefore, the proportion of aggregate and whole soil nitrogen that the light fraction comprises should increase over the growing season if the light fraction is being decomposed at a greater rate in soils with nutrient addition than control soils.
- **P4.5**: If both the rate of light fraction formation and decomposition are increasing with nutrient addition, then over the course of the growing season, the light fraction C:N would decrease if decomposition exceeds formation, and would increase if formation exceeds decomposition. A lower C:N results from carbon being lost as carbon dioxide while nitrogen is conserved within the system.

P4.6: Root biomass dynamics are affected by nutrient addition. If root biomass increases, then there will be a seasonal increase in the amount of fresh, labile organic matter entering the SOM pool, comprising the light fraction and iPOM fractions.

Section 3.2. Procedures

Section 3.2 Subsection 1: Density Separation Procedure

The initial separation of aggregate size classes and soil collection from the field is described in Chapter 2. Of those aggregates, density separations were completed for small macroaggregates (250-2000 μ m) and free microaggregates (53-250 μ m). Sodium polytungstate (SPT) was used to create a high-density solution used to separate light fraction from heavy fractions using the method of Six *et al.* (1998). Using SPT allows carbon and nitrogen measurements to later be made of the light fraction as well as the heavy fraction because SPT has very little impact on the carbon and nitrogen content of the sample (Six *et al.*1999b).

For each LF/HF separation (Fig. 1.1 in Chapter 1), prior to density separation, aggregate fractions were dried (60°C) then cooled to room temperature in a dessicator. Subsamples (5 g) were added to a 50 ml centrifuge tube containing 25 ml of sodium polytungstate (SPT) at a density of 1.85g cm⁻³. Samples were gently mixed in order to avoid aggregate disruption, the centrifuge tubes filled to 40 ml with SPT, and placed under vacuum (138 kPa) to remove air trapped within aggregates. Afterward, centrifuge tubes containing samples were centrifuged (1250 g) for 60 min to separate light from heavy fractions. Floating material, which comprises the light fraction, was aspirated onto a 20µm nylon filter, where the SPT was rinsed off with water. Samples were dried, weighed, and analyzed for carbon and nitrogen content using a Carlo Erba (Milan, Italy). The silt and clay fraction was separated from sand by dispersing the heavy fraction with sodium hexametaphosphate (0.5% solution by weight), then passing the dispersed fraction

through a 53 μ m sieve. The carbon and nitrogen content of the <53 μ m fraction were quantified by dry combustion using a Leco TruSpec CN analyzer (Leco Corporation, St. Joseph, Michigan).

Sodium polytungstate was recycled using the method of Six *et al.* (1999b). Carbon and nitrogen content of the recycled SPT did not exceed the limits of accuracy of the Leco TruSpec CN analyzer (Leco Corporation, St. Joseph, MI) used for measuring carbon and nitrogen content of other aggregate fractions.

Section 3.2 Subsection 2: Statistical methods

Field plots were described in Chapter Two (n=4). Control soils in block 1 from samples collected in late June were not used in analysis because they were organic, and not mineral, soils. All data were analyzed using SAS statistics software for analysis of variance (SAS Institute, 2003). Sub-samples were nested within treatment plots within each block. Block and block*treatment interactions were treated as random effects. Kenward-Roger degrees of freedom were used because the number of subsamples per plot varied from 1-3. Mean separations were tested using Tukey's honestly significant difference. Because of high natural heterogeneity in arctic soils, effects were considered to be significant at p≤0.10. Data were log transformed to meet assumptions of normality.

Section 3.3. Results

Here the results for carbon and nitrogen data from silt+clay (<53µm)-associated organic matter, small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction, carbon data from small macroaggregate and microaggregate iPOM, and whole soil live root biomass are presented. Data is first presented on carbon and nitrogen associated with the silt and clay (<53µm) fraction. Light fraction and iPOM carbon are then presented, followed by light fraction nitrogen and C:N. It was not possible to calculate iPOM nitrogen content due to method constraints; therefore, nitrogen and C:N are presented for the light fraction POM only.

Section 3.3 Subsection 1: Silt+Clay-associated Carbon and Nitrogen (P4.1)

Silt+clay associated carbon and nitrogen comprised the dominant small macroaggregate carbon (Fig. 3.1) and nitrogen (Fig. 3.2) fractions. There were no significant nutrient addition effects. It is not unexpected that there were no treatment effects on SOM associated with silt+clay. This material represents a relatively stable SOM fraction, whereas the light fraction and iPOM fractions can be comprised of labile SOM.



Figure 3.1. Silt and clay ($<53\mu$ m) carbon content (mg C/g aggregate) within small macroaggregates (A) and microaggregates (B). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.



Figure 3.2. Silt and clay (<53 μ m) nitrogen content (mg N/g aggregate) within small macroaggregates (A) and microaggregates (B). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.

Section 3.3 Subsection 2: Light Fraction and iPOM Carbon (P4.2 and P4.3)

This section focuses on light fraction and iPOM carbon, with the data presented from

several different perspectives:

- Figure 3.3 displays the percentage of small macroaggregate and microaggregate carbon as light fraction/iPOM carbon (% of aggregate carbon), which corrects for differences in the total carbon concentration in each aggregate and allows comparisons of the relative contribution of light fraction/iPOM to total aggregate carbon to be made.
- Figure 3.4 displays the amount of light fraction/iPOM C from small macroaggregates and microaggregates on a whole soil basis (mg C/g whole soil), which provides perspective on the actual size of each POM carbon fraction.
- Figure 3.5 displays the percentage of whole soil carbon as small macroaggregate/microaggregate light fraction/iPOM, which corrects for differences in total carbon and allows comparisons of the relative contribution of light fraction/iPOM to be made.
- Figure 3.6 displays the percentage of whole soil carbon as combined small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction carbon, giving a perspective of nearly the total light fraction in these soils. Light fraction associated with the large macroaggregates is not presented because in most instances there was not enough material for light fraction separation, but also because 2000 µm is often given as the upper limit of the size of particulate organic matter in soil (Six *et al.* 2002).

The percentage of small macroaggregate and microaggregate carbon as iPOM-C was significantly affected by nutrient addition (Fig. 3.3). In early June, there were no differences in iPOM C, but in mid-June, the percentage of small macroaggregate C as

iPOM-C was greater in soils with nutrient addition since 1996 than the control. The percentage of microaggregate carbon as iPOM-C was similar to small macroaggregate iPOM-C, except in late June, soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had a greater percent of microaggregate carbon associated with iPOM than soils with nutrient addition since 1996 and the control. By the August sample date, there were no significant treatment differences in iPOM-C allocation within both microaggregates and macroaggregates.

The percentage of small macroaggregate and microaggregate carbon as light fraction carbon did not differ significantly with nutrient addition (Fig. 3.3). However, the patterns of carbon allocation over the growing season were similar to the iPOM. In both iPOM and light fraction, the control soils did not seem to vary between the beginning and end of the growing season. Soils with nutrient addition, on the other hand, appeared to accumulate iPOM and light fraction carbon, having a larger percentage of the small macroaggregate and microaggregate carbon associated with iPOM and light fraction at the end of the season than the beginning.



Figure 3.3. Percent of small macroaggregate C as iPOM-C (A) and LF-C (B), and microaggregate C as iPOM-C (C) and LF-C (D). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date ($p \le 0.10$).

On a whole soil basis (mg C/g light fraction or iPOM), there were no significant treatment effects (Fig. 3.4). In general, there was more small macroaggregate light fraction and iPOM C/ g of whole soil than microaggregate light fraction and iPOM C. This difference was due to soils containing more small macroaggregates than microaggregates in all cases (Chapter 2).



Figure 3.4. Whole soil C (mg C/g whole soil) from small macroaggregate iPOM-C (A) and LF-C (B), and microaggregate iPOM-C (C) and LF-C (D). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p≤0.10).

The percentage of whole soil carbon as light fraction and iPOM carbon was significantly affected by nutrient addition in later sample dates (Figure 3.5). In small macroaggregates, the percentage of whole soil carbon as light fraction carbon was significantly greater ($p \le 0.05$) in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control. Small macroaggregate iPOM C exhibited similar patterns, though there were no significant differences. However, in microaggregates, the percentage of whole soil



Figure 3.5. Percent of whole soil carbon as small macroaggregate iPOM (A) and light fraction (B), and microaggregate iPOM (C) and light fraction (D). Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date ($p \le 0.05$).

carbon as microaggregate iPOM carbon was greater in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1996. There were no significant differences in microaggregate light fraction carbon.



Figure 3.6. Percent of whole soil carbon as combined small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction carbon. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p \leq 0.075).

In Figure 3.6, the percent of whole soil carbon as light fraction carbon is shown for small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction added together. Soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had a significantly larger ($p \le 0.075$) percentage of the whole soil carbon allocated to the light fraction than the control. The only missing light fraction would come from the large macroaggregate light fraction, but because large macroaggregates comprise a small portion of the whole soil, it was not possible to fractionate it (Chapter 2).

Section 3.3 Subsection 3: Light Fraction Nitrogen (P4.4)

This section focuses on light fraction nitrogen content, with the data presented from several different perspectives in a manner similar to the carbon data:

- Figure 3.7 displays the percentage of small macroaggregate and microaggregate nitrogen as light fraction nitrogen (% of aggregate nitrogen).
- Figure 3.8 displays the amount of light fraction nitrogen from small macroaggregates and microaggregates on a whole soil basis (mg N/g whole soil), which provides perspective on the actual size of each POM nitrogen fraction.
- Figure 3.9 displays the percentage of whole soil nitrogen as small macroaggregate/microaggregate light fraction, which corrects for differences in total nitrogen and allows comparisons of the relative contribution of light fraction to be made.
- Figure 3.10 displays the percentage of whole soil nitrogen as combined small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction nitrogen, giving a perspective of nearly the total light fraction in these soils.

The percentage of total aggregate nitrogen comprised as LF-N was determined in the small macroaggregates (250-2000 μ m) and microaggregates (53-250 μ m). As a seasonal average, the LF of soils with nutrient addition contained a greater percentage of aggregate nitrogen than the control. In August, the percentage of aggregate nitrogen from the small macroaggregate LF was significantly greater in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control (Fig. 3.7). Microaggregate LF-N exhibited similar trends, though none differed significantly from one another.



Year N+P treatment established

Figure 3.7. Percent of small macroaggregate (A) and microaggregate (B) nitrogen as light fraction N. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p \leq 0.075). Asterisk indicates seasonal average difference from other N+P treatments (p \leq 0.10).



Figure 3.8. Whole soil light fraction nitrogen (mg LF-N/g soil) from (A) small macroaggregates and (B) microaggregates. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. No significant effects.

Total nitrogen content of the light fraction was determined, but it was not possible to do so for iPOM due to low nitrogen content combined with the large error associated with solving nitrogen content by difference (Total N – LF-N - $<53 \mu m$ N = iPOM-N), whereas total aggregate and light fraction nitrogen contents were directly measured. On a whole soil basis, LF-N increased (but not significantly) over the growing season in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 (Fig. 3.8).

The percentage of total soil nitrogen as light fraction nitrogen was affected by nutrient addition (Fig. 3.9). In small macroaggregates, the percent of total nitrogen as light fraction nitrogen increased over the growing season in soils with nutrient addition since 1989, and by August, was almost twice as much as the control ($p\leq0.05$). A similar pattern was observed in microaggregates, except that in late June, soils with nutrient addition since 1996 contained a significantly greater percentage of soil nitrogen in the light fraction than the control ($p\leq0.10$).





Figure 3.9. Percent of whole soil nitrogen as small macroaggregate (A) and microaggregate (B) light fraction N. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p ≤ 0.05) for small macro (A) LF-N and (p ≤ 0.10) for micro (B) LF-N).

Soils with nutrient addition since 1989 contained a significantly greater percentage of nitrogen in the light fraction by the end of the growing season ($p \le 0.05$) (Figure 3.10). No clear trend was identifiable in soils with nutrient addition since 1996.



Figure 3.10. Percent of whole soil nitrogen as combined small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction nitrogen. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p \leq 0.05).

Section 3.3 Subsection 4: Light Fraction Carbon:Nitrogen (P4.5)

Light fraction C:N was lower in small macroaggregates than microaggregates (Fig 3.11, $p \le 0.0001$). The C:N of the small macroaggregate LF was lower in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control and soils with nutrient addition since 1996 ($p \le 0.05$) as well as being lower than the control for three sampling dates and soils with nutrient addition since 1996 for two sampling dates ($p \le 0.05$). In August, the C:N of the



Figure 3.11. Carbon:Nitrogen ratio of small macroaggregate (A) and microaggregate (B) light fraction. Bars represent mean \pm standard error. Lowercase letters indicate significant differences between nutrient addition treatments on a sample date (p ≤ 0.05). Asterisk indicates seasonal average difference from other N+P treatments (p ≤ 0.05).

microaggregate LF was significantly lower in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control ($p \le 0.05$).





Section 3.3 Subsection 5: Mineral Soil Live Root Biomass (P4.6)

Whole mineral soil live root biomass (Fig. 3.12) increased in all plots in mid-late June, then declined by August ($p \le 0.05$). In mid and late June, soils with nutrient addition since 1989 had significantly greater root biomass than control soils ($p \le 0.10$). By August, the root biomass declined in all treatments, but most notably in soils with nutrient addition.

Section 3.4. Discussion

The research objective of this chapter was to separate Light Fraction and iPOM and mineral-associated SOM fraction from one another in small macroaggregates and free microaggregates. I hypothesized that POM fractions will be affected temporally and that nutrient addition will reduce decomposition constraints of the light fraction. Root biomass increased, coupled with increases in the proportion of soil carbon as particulate organic matter carbon over the growing season. Light fraction quality increased, which may indicate increased decomposition with nutrient addition.

Silt+clay-associated SOM (Prediction 4.1) was the dominant organic matter component in small macroaggregates and microaggregates. Other studies have found that the heavy fraction contains the bulk of SOM. Diochon and Kellman (2009) determined that in a forest soil, at least 70% of SOM was found in the heavy fraction. This pool is more recalcitrant than other SOM pools, particularly the light fraction. Mineral-associated SOM tends to be resistant to decomposition and has a longer turnover time than light fraction and iPOM (Theodorou 1990; Yamashita *et al.* 2006; Tian *et al.* 2009). The particulate organic matter fractions, iPOM and light fraction, are labile SOM fractions that differ from each other in that iPOM is physically protected within aggregate structure whereas light fraction is not (Christensen 2001). Whereas mineral-associated SOM is partially protected from decomposition and environmental change, the light fraction is a labile carbon pool that is sensitive to environmental change (Cambardella and Elliott 1992).

New light fraction would have more carbohydrates than occluded POM, which though being partially decomposed through aggregate formation processes would be older and have a lower carbohydrate content. However, if light fraction persists and is being decomposed and not incorporated into aggregates, than carbohydrates would be lost, leaving lignin and other resistant compounds behind (Six *et al.* 2001). The relative stability of light fraction vs. iPOM is highly dependent on both input (for light fraction) and aggregate turnover rates (for iPOM). If aggregates quickly form around POM, then the stability of Arctic POM would be similar to Six *et al.* (2001). If input rates are high, then it is likely that light fraction would be younger than iPOM and therefore more labile (Golchin *et al.* 1994, 1997).

Golchin *et al.* (1994) used sodium polytungstate at a density of 1.6 g-cm⁻³ whereas the sodium polytungstate used by Six *et al.* (1999, 2001) was 1.85 g-cm⁻³, which is the same density used for the present study. It is likely that some of the more recalcitrant POM that Six *et al.* (1999, 2001) would have floated off would still have remained in the heavy fraction separated by Golchin *et al.* (1994), given that the most labile light fraction is at a lower density than the more recalcitrant light fraction.

In both small macroaggregates and microaggregates, the light fraction (Prediction 4.2) contained a disproportionate amount of carbon in relation to the mass of the fraction (Whalen *et al.* 2000), which has been commonly observed elsewhere. Tan *et al.* (2007) observed that of the small macroaggregate carbon, 5-10% was located in the light fraction, and 3-5% of microaggregate carbon was located in the light fraction. The light

fraction mass was much lower than the heavy fraction, but on an equivalent measure (g C/kg fraction), contained 4.3-5.3 times more carbon than the heavy fraction (Tan *et al.* 2007).

The total Arctic SOM pool contains light fraction OM, which is largely comprised of plant material (Spycher *et al.* 1983; Weintraub and Schimel 2003). High light fraction C:N ratios (Prediction 4.5) indicate that this fraction is a younger fraction that has not decomposed as much as the total SOM pool, whose C:N is similar to the heavy fraction C:N (Turchenek and Oades 1979; Molloy and Speir 1977). However, the aggregate turnover model of Six *et al.* (1999a) suggests that iPOM may reenter the Free OM (light fraction) pool when aggregates break down. The end result is a mixture of LF and formerly occluded POM, but in general, the LF is dominated by labile, easily decomposed SOM, and may be a product of root turnover.

In mid and late June, an increase in root biomass was observed (Prediction 4.6), especially in soils with nutrient addition. However, root biomass then declined by over 80% from the late June root biomass measurements in soils with nutrient addition since 1989. This decline in root biomass in August occurred at the same time an increase in the proportion of SOM as light fraction and iPOM was observed, which indicates an increase in root turnover and incorporation into the light fraction and iPOM. Partial root decomposition has been found to be an important aspect of aggregate stabilization (Gale *et al.* 2000b; Kong and Six 2010). Similar light fraction and iPOM results have been observed elsewhere. Six *et al.* (1999a) suggested that iPOM is a young organic matter

fraction that serves as a site for new macroaggregate formation. In a forested system, light fraction material increased by 50-100% from early spring to summer, peaking in the fall. (Spycher *et al.* 1983). Studies in tussock grasslands (non-arctic) have presented observations of larger proportions of SOM carbon and nitrogen located in the light fraction (Molloy and Speir 1977) than what was observed for this study. Others in native vegetation and cultivated systems have found similar results. Six *et al.* (1999a) found light fraction carbon content in soils from native vegetation in Ohio, Michigan, and Kentucky, and from no-till soils in Ohio and Nebraska that were similar to the soils that were analyzed for the present study.

The light fraction undergoes large seasonal fluctuations and is a labile source of carbon in forest systems (Spycher *et al.* 1983), cultivated systems (Six *et al.* 1998), and grasslands (Molloy and Speir 1977). The observed loss of mineral soil root biomass over the course of the growing season may indicate that the root growth rate is slower than the rate of decomposition. However the proportion of SOM as light fraction was greatest in soils with nutrient addition, which also had the lowest C:N ratio, indicating higher quality than control soils. There are two rates, light fraction decomposition and root growth (and subsequent fragmentation), that need to be considered alongside each other. Based on light fraction quantity, light fraction C:N, and root biomass data, the rates of both light fraction decomposition and root growth increased. Increased root growth provided an organic matter source for more light fraction. A larger light fraction pool was subjected to an increased decomposition rate, which resulted in a lower C:N.

The increase in the C:N ratio in microaggregate light fraction in mid-to-late June suggests that the peak belowground input relative to decomposition occurs at this time during the growing season (Fig. 3.11). The C:N ratio decreases by August. In the free microaggregates, the C:N is less at the end of the season than the beginning only for soils with nutrient addition since 1989, which may indicate that the carbon in these soils is turning over faster than the other soils. If the C:N is greater at the end of the season than the beginning, then the rate of input carbon is greater than the rate of output carbon.

Neff *et al.* (2002), observed an increase in light fraction decomposition with nitrogen addition, while Gregorich *et al.* (1997) observed an increase in the size of the light fraction pool with nutrient addition. The results of the present study may suggest a combination of the results of Gregorich *et al.* (1997) and Neff *et al.* (2002) may exist in the Arctic. Increased light fraction quantity with nutrient addition suggests increased root growth and fragmentation, while lower C:N indicates increased light fraction decomposition. Therefore, nutrient addition may stimulate both plant and microbial activity. At the same time, the observed increase in iPOM carbon (Fig. 3.4) would suggest that some of the light fraction is being incorporated into aggregates. Aggregate stabilization has been linked with higher root-derived iPOM content than in unstable aggregates (Gale *et al.* 2000a; Kong and Six 2010).

Microbial activity does not appear to be controlled by organic matter quantity to the extent that it is in temperate regions (Weintraub and Schimel 2003). Despite an increase in light fraction, no increase in aggregate formation was observed. In soils with nutrient

addition since 1989, the proportion of aggregate carbon as iPOM tended to increase, but the amount of carbon as light fraction also increased and was not incorporated into aggregate structure. There was more light fraction and iPOM, but not more aggregates. The heavy fraction tends to be a source of mineral nitrogen while the light fraction is often a sink, and may be linked with microbial nitrogen immobilization (Whalen *et al.* 2000). The heavy fraction C:N ratios I measured tended to be greater than 20:1. Macroaggregate light fraction C:N was greater than the heavy fraction, but the C:N values of both were similar to each other. Microaggregate LF C:N's were generally >30:1. A decrease in LF C:N with nutrient addition is insufficient to increase decomposition, but because this fraction is not protected within aggregates, it lacks physical protection and may decompose under more favorable conditions, including lower limitations on nitrogen availability, which may affect microbial activity.

Wallenstein *et al.* (2009) suggested that decomposition in arctic tundra soils may be limited to low extracellular microbial enzyme activities, which are limited by nitrogen availability. They found that enzyme activity declined with N availability over the growing season in tussock tundra. However, in shrub tundra, enzyme activity remained constant or increased through the growing season, which may be linked with greater N availability in shrub than tussock tundra through the growing season (Weintraub and Schimel 2005). These results support my observed increase in root turnover in soils with nutrient addition compared to the control. The plots with nutrient addition are becoming an intermediary between control tussock tundra and shrub tundra in terms of vegetation cover (e.g. Chapin *et al.* 1995; Shaver *et al.* 2001), but also in terms of microbial

biomass; for example, Clemmensen *et al.* (2006) observed an increase in fungal biomass with nutrient addition in tussock tundra, and others have observed that shrub tundra fungal biomass > tussock tundra biomass under nutrient addition > control tussock tundra biomass (Gough *et al.* in preparation; Moore *et al.* in preparation).

Increases in root production and turnover rates may be due to increased root herbivory, which affect plant biomass production as well as resource allocation, and may affect fine root growth and the production of root exudates (Bardgett and Wardle 2003). In the same plots sampled for the present study, Gough *et al.* (in preparation) found no phytophagous nematodes in the mineral soil of control plots, but did observe a slight increase in nematode biomass $(5.179 \times 10^{-7} \text{ mg/g soil})$ in mineral soils with nutrient addition since 1989, but not in organic soil. In grassland systems, root biomass production is enhanced through infection by root-feeding nematodes, which may also result in increased nutrient inputs in the soil (Bardgett *et al.* 1999), resulting in increased microbial activity and organic matter turnover (Yeates *et al.* 1998). Root herbivory, combined with active microbial enzyme production through the growing season, may result in increased light fraction production with nutrient addition. Light fraction carbon is correlated with microbial activity (Alvarez and Alvarez 2000) and aggregate formation and stabilization (Miller and Jastrow 1990).

Observations of increases in light fraction and iPOM carbon and nitrogen alongside decreases in root biomass, when coupled with the observations of Wallenstein *et al.* (2009) and Moore *et al.* (unpublished), suggest that a linkage between SOM dynamics, microbial activity, and root herbivory may exist in the Arctic. Aggregate formation is a

microbially-mediated process. An increase in root turnover was observed, along with nutrient addition coupled with increases in light fraction and iPOM carbon as well as light fraction nitrogen. Light fraction quality (lower C:N) is improving (Fig. 3.11), but it is still >20:1, which means nitrogen would still be immobilized within the microbial community. This limitation on microbial activity may inhibit further aggregate formation and stabilization. Even though the light fraction carbon and nitrogen increased with nutrient addition, this fraction should still be considered unstable compared to mineral-associated SOM and iPOM (Ashagrie *et al.* 2007), and may have been the fraction that contributed to a seasonal loss of carbon that was observed in plots with nutrient addition in 2006 (See Chapter 1). In future studies of SOM dynamics in the Arctic, it would be useful to investigate temperature sensitivity of POM fractions. It is possible that further decomposition may be limited not only by nitrogen, but temperature as well, given that when SOM is decomposed, its temperature sensitivity has been shown to increase with increased humification/recalcitrance. (Conant *et al.* 2008).

Conclusions

The re-allocation of SOM from physically protected aggregates to light fraction with nutrient addition may result in shifts in SOM stability in these soils. More nitrogen was allocated to the light fraction in soils with nutrient addition than in control soils, which increased the decomposability of light fraction SOM. At the same time, the amount of iPOM carbon increased with nutrient addition. These two SOM fractions have different levels of sensitivity to decomposition. Light fraction decomposition is mainly influenced
by soil temperature, soil moisture, and residue quality and input, whereas iPOM decomposition is primarily affected by aggregate turnover dynamics (Six *et al.* 1999a).

Nutrient addition results in changes in SOM dynamics during the growing season. The observed increases in the proportion of soil carbon as light fraction and iPOM with nutrient addition indicate a shift towards an increase in POM fractions that tend to be labile, potentially mineralizable sources of organic matter.

Section 3.5. References

Alvarez, R. and C.R. Alvarez. 2000. Soil organic matter pools and their associations with carbon mineralization kinetics. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64: 184-189.

Ashagrie, Y., W. Zech, G. Guggenberger, and T. Mamo. 2007. Soil aggregation, and total and particulate organic matter following conversion of native forests to continuous cultivation in Ethiopia. Soil and Tillage Research 94: 101-108.

Bardgett, R.D. C.S. Denton, and R. Cook. 1999. Below-ground herbivory promotes soil nutrient transfer and root growth in grassland. Ecology Letters 2: 357-360.

Bardgett, R.D. and D.A. Wardle. 2003. Herbivore-mediated linkages between aboveground and belowground communities. Ecology 84: 2258-2268.

Cambardella, C.A. and E.T. Elliott. 1992. Particulate soil organic-matter changes across a grassland cultivation sequence. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56: 777-783.

Chapin, F.S., III, G.R. Shaver, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, and J.A. Laundre. 1995. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology 76: 694-711.

Christensen, B.T. 2001. Physical fractionation of soil and structural and functional complexity in organic matter turnover. European Journal of Soil Science. 52: 345-353.

Clemmensen, K.E., A. Michelsen, S. Jonasson, and G.R. Shaver. 2006. Increased ectomycorrhizal fungal abundance after long-term fertilization and warming of two arctic tundra ecosystems. New Phytologist 171: 391-404.

Conant, R.T., R.A. Drijber, M.L. Haddix, W.J. Parton, E.A. Paul, A.F. Plante, J. Six, and J.M. Steinweg. 2008. Sensitivity of organic matter decomposition to warming varies with its quality. Global Change Biology 14: 868-877.

Dalal, R.C. and R.J. Mayer. 1986. Long-term trends in fertility of soils under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping in southern Queensland. III: Distribution and kinetics of soil organic carbon in particle-size fractions. Australian Journal of Soil Research 24: 293-300.

Diochon, A.C. and L. Kellman. 2009. Physical fractionation of soil organic matter: destabilization of deep soil carbon following harvesting of a temperate coniferous forest. Journal of Geophysical Research 114: G01016.

Gale, W.J., C.A. Cambardella, and T.B. Bailey. 2000a. Surface residue- and rootderived carbon in stable and unstable aggregates. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64: 196-201. Gale, W.J., C.A. Cambardella, and T.B. Bailey. 2000b. Root-derived carbon and the formation and stabilization of aggregates. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64: 201-207.

Golchin, A., J.M. Oades, J.O. Skjemstad, and P. Clarke. 1994. Study of free and occluded particulate organic matter in soils by solid state ¹³C CP/MAS NMR spectroscopy and scanning electron microscopy. Australian Journal of Soil Research 32: 285-309.

Golchin, A., J.A. Baldock, and J.M. Oades. 1997. A model linking organic matter decomposition, chemistry, and aggregate dynamics. *In:* Soil processes and the carbon cycle. R. Lal, J.M Kimble, R.F. Follett, and B.A. Stewart (eds). pp. 245-266. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.

Gough, L., J.C. Moore, G.R. Shaver, R.T. Simpson, and D.R. Johnson. In Preparation. Linking above- and belowground responses to increased nutrients in arctic tundra.

Gregorich, E.G., C.F. Drury, B.H. Ellert, and B.C. Liang. 1997. Fertilization effects on physically protected light fraction organic matter. Soil Science Society of America Journal 61: 482-484.

He, Y., Z. Xu, C. Chen, J. Burton, Q. Ma, Y. Ge, and J. Xu. 2008. Using light fraction and macroaggregate associated organic matters as early indicators for management-induced changes in soil chemical and biological properties in adjacent native and plantation forests of subtropical Australia. Geoderma 147: 116-125.

Janzen, H.H., C.A. Campbell, S.A. Brandt, G.P. Lafond, and L. Townley-Smith. 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56: 1799-1806.

Kong, A.Y.Y. and J. Six. 2010. Tracing root vs. residue carbon into soils from conventional and alternative cropping systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 74: 1201-1210.

Mack, M.C., E.A.G. Schuur, M.S. Bret-Harte, G.R. Shaver, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2004. Ecosystem carbon storage in arctic tundra reduced by long-term nutrient fertilization. Nature 431: 440-443.

Miller, R.M. and J.D. Jastrow. 1990. Hierarchy of root and mycorrhizal fungal interactions with soil aggregation. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 22: 579584.

Molloy, L.F., B.A. Bridger, and A. Cairns. 1977. Studies on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands 13: Structural carbohydrates in tussock leaves, roots, and litter and in the soil light and heavy fractions. New Zealand Journal of Science 20: 443-451.

Molloy, L.F. and T.W. Speir. 1977. Studies on a climosequence of soils in tussock grasslands 12: Constituents of the soil light fraction. New Zealand Journal of Science 20: 167-177.

Moore, J.C., L. Gough, H. Horton, R. Simpson, K. Wyant, and G. Selby. In Preparation. Transitions in soils and soil communities to nutrient addition in a moist acidic arctic tundra ecosystem. In: Hobbie, J. and G. Kling (eds). A warming Arctic: ecological consequences for tundra, streams, and lakes. Oxford University Press.

Neff, J.C., A.R. Townsend, G. Gleixner, S.J. Lehman, J. Turnbull, and W.D. Bowman. 2002. Variable effects of nitrogen additions on the stability and turnover of soil carbon. Nature 419: 915-917.

Oechel, W.C., S.J. Hastings, G. Vourlitis, M. Jenkins, G. Riechers, and N. Gruelke. 1993. Recent changes of arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source. Nature 361: 520-533.

SAS. 2003. Version 9.1 of the SAS System for Windows. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.

Shaver, G.R., M.S. Bret-Harte, M.H. Jones, J. Johnstone, L. Gough, J. Laundre, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2001. Species composition interacts with fertilizer to control long-term change in tundra productivity. Ecology 82: 3163-3181.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, K. Paustian, and J.W. Doran. 1998. Aggregation and soil organic matter accumulation in cultivated and native grassland soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62: 1367-1377.

Six, J., E.T. Elliott, and K. Paustian. 1999a. Aggregate and soil organic matter dynamics under conventional and no-tillage systems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 63: 1350-1358.

Six, J., P.A. Schultz, J.D. Jastrow, and R. Merckx. 1999b. Recycling of sodium polytungstate used in soil organic matter studies. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31: 1193-1196.

Six, J., G. Guggenberger, K. Paustian, L. Haumaier, E.T. Elliott, and W. Zech. 2001. Sources and composition of soil organic matter fractions between and within soil aggregates. European Journal of Soil Science 52: 607-618.

Six, J., R.T. Conant, E.A. Paul, and K. Paustian. 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. Plant and Soil 241: 155-176.

Sollins, P., G. Spycher, and C.A. Glassman. 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 16: 31-37.

Spycher, G., P. Sollins, and S. Rose. 1983. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. Soil Science 135: 79-87.

Swanston, C.W., B.A. Caldwell, P.S. Homann, L. Ganio, and P. Sollins. 2002. Carbon dynamics during a long-term incubation of separate and recombined density fractions from seven forest soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34: 1121-1130.

Tan, Z., R. Lal, L. Owens, and R.C. Izaurralde. 2007. Distribution of light and heavy fractions of soils organic carbon as related to land use and tillage practice. Soil and Tillage Research. 92: 53-59.

Tian, Y.Q., X.L. Xu, M.H. Song, C.P. Zhou, Q. Gao, and H. Ouyang. 2009. Carbon sequestration in two alpine soils on the Tibetan Plateau. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology 51: 900-905.

Theodorou, C. 1990. Nitrogen transformation in particle size fractions from a second rotation pine forest soil. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 21: 407-413.

Turchenek, L.W. and J.M. Oades. 1979. Fractionation of organo-mineral complexes by sedimentation and density techniques. Geoderma 21: 311-343.

Wagai, R., L.M. Mayer, and K. Kitayama. 2009. Nature of the "occluded" low-density fraction in soil organic matter studies: a critical review. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 55: 13-25.

Wallenstein, M.D., S.K. McMahon, and J.P. Schimel. 2009. Seasonal variation in enzyme activities and temperature sensitivities in Arctic tundra soils. Global Change Biology 15: 1631-1639.

Wander, M.M., S.J. Traina, B.R. Stinner, and S.E. Peters. 1994. Organic and conventional management effects on biologically active soil organic matter pools. Soil Science Society of America Journal 58: 1130-1139.

Weintraub, M.N. and J.P. Schimel. 2003. Interactions between carbon and nitrogen mineralization and soil organic matter chemistry in arctic tundra soils. Ecosystems 6: 129-143.

Weintraub, M.N. and J.P. Schimel. 2005. The seasonal dynamics of amino acids and other nutrients in Alaskan Arctic tundra soils. Biogeochemistry 73: 359-380.

Whalen, J.K. P.J. Bottomley, and D.D. Myrold. 2000. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy-fraction additions to soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32: 1345-1352.

Yamashita, T., H. Flessa, B. John, M. Helfrich, and B. Ludwig. 2006. Organic matter in density fractions of water-stable aggregates in silty soils: effects of land use. Soil Biology and Biochemsitry 38: 3222-3234.

Yeates, G.W., S. Saggar, C.S. Denton, and C.F. Mercer. 1998. Impact of clover cyst nematode (*Heterodera trifolii*) infection on soil microbial activity in the rhizosphere of white clover (*Trifolium repens*) – a pulse-labelling experiment. Nematologica 44: 81-90.

CHAPTER FOUR

INTEGRATION OF RESULTS INTO A CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF SOIL ORGANIC MATTER STABILIZATION WITHIN AGGREGATES

Section 4.1. Introduction

The objective of the research conducted for this dissertation has been to determine how soil organic matter (SOM) is distributed within the active mineral layer of tussock tundra soil, and to determine how SOM is affected by long-term nutrient addition. In the previous two chapters, results on SOM and aggregate fractionations were presented. In this chapter, the key findings of Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 are briefly outlined. Relationships between the chapters are then discussed, along with how this work relates to the research of others, and suggest how future research could proceed.

Section 4.1 Subsection 1: Chapter 2 summary

Chapter 2 focused on soil aggregate distribution along with carbon and nitrogen association with aggregates. The key findings of Chapter 2 were:

 Aggregate size distribution did not differ with nutrient addition in early June, but did by mid-June, when control soils had more macroaggregates and fewer microaggregates than soils with nutrient addition. By late June and August, however, there were no longer differences in aggregate size distribution.

- By late June, the whole soil C:N was lower in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than other soils.
- The ratio of free:occluded microaggregates was >1 for soils with nutrient addition, except in early June. The ratio was <1 for control soils in June, but by August was >1, which means there were more free microaggregates than occluded ones.
- As the ratio of free:occluded microaggregates rose over the growing season, so did the nitrogen content of free:occluded microaggregates coupled with a lower C:N.

The results from Chapter 2 provide evidence that aggregate formation and disruption occur during the course of the growing season. Specifically, the ratio of free:occluded microaggregates rose over the growing season, which means that microaggregates held within macroaggregates may have been released upon macroaggregate disruption. Occluded microaggregates tend to possess higher carbon and nitrogen contents than free microaggregates due to increased physical protection within the macroaggregate. Because of this, the ratio of free:occluded microaggregate nitrogen content rose over the growing season, possibly due to nitrogen-rich, formerly occluded microaggregates entering the free microaggregate pool.

Within the aggregate fractions, a lower C:N was measured in aggregates from soils with nutrient addition than control soils. Effects of nutrient addition on aggregate size distribution were observed in mid-June, but there were no differences at the beginning and end of the growing season. At the same time, nutrient addition has affected the plant and microbial community, so shifts in aggregate structure may impact the occlusion of organic matter as it enters the SOM pool. In order to examine this process further, the distribution of particulate organic matter as either light fraction or intra-aggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) was measured, and presented in Chapter 3.

Section 4.1 Subsection 2: Chapter 3 summary

Chapter 3 focused on the location of particulate organic matter (POM) as either occluded within aggregate structure as iPOM or free, non-occluded light fraction organic matter (LF). The key findings of Chapter 3 were:

- In mid-June, the percentage of small macroaggregate C as iPOM was greater in the soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than the control. In late June, the percentage of microaggregate C as iPOM was greater in soils with nutrient addition since 1989 than soils with nutrient addition since 1996.
- The percent of whole soil carbon as both small macroaggregate and microaggregate LF increased over the growing season in soils with nutrient addition since 1989.
- The percent of small macroaggregate N as LF-N increased over the growing season for both nutrient addition treatments, though significantly only for soils with nutrient addition since 1989.
- The C:N declined in light fraction in soils with nutrient addition since 1989.
- Whole soil root biomass increased in June, then dropped by August. Root biomass was greater in soils with nutrient addition than the control.

The results from Chapter 3 provide evidence that both the rate of organic matter input and decomposition both increase with nutrient addition. The proportion of whole soil carbon associated with the macroaggregate light fraction increased over the growing season, as did the microaggregate iPOM fraction. These two results may provide evidence that organic matter processing is increasing, and that it is becoming occluded within aggregates. The coarse light fraction associated with macroaggregates may become occluded within newly formed macroaggregates, and may have been sites of microaggregate formation within the macroaggregate (Angers *et al.* 1997; Oades 1984).

Live root biomass was observed to increase through late June in soils with nutrient addition as evidence of an increase in the rate of plant growth. By the end of the season, root biomass declined. If the rate of plant growth and subsequent organic matter inputs increased at the same rate as organic matter decomposition, then the C:N of light fraction particulate organic matter should remain relatively stable, as it did in control plots. However, the C:N declined in the light fraction of soils with nutrient addition since 1989. This means that more carbon is being respired than is entering the system because it is likely that nitrogen is being conserved within the system.

Taken together, the results from Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 do not provide evidence of carbon loss from the system as found by Mack *et al.* (2004), but instead suggest a reallocation of soil organic matter within the soil matrix. Terrestrial carbon storage depends on a balance between rates of input due to net primary productivity and decomposition (Arneth *et al.* 2010; Jahn *et al.* 2010). It is likely that the rate of both

144

processes has increased with nutrient addition. The effects of changes in soil organic matter allocation and processing rates in Arctic systems are not yet clear, and in the next section postulations are made on possible interactions with other components of terrestrial systems, including the belowground foodweb and microbial activity.

Section 4.2. Soil Organic Matter, microbes, food web, and nutrient addition

In the following sub-sections, brief descriptions of previous findings on relationships between nutrient addition and food webs, microbes, and aggregates/POM are provided as pieces of evidence of both nutrient addition and the interactivity of components within arctic terrestrial systems. Discussion as to how these relationships form linkages to soil organic matter (SOM) in arctic soils is provided in Section 3.

Section 4.2 Subsection 1: Linkages between nutrient addition and foodweb dynamics

Gough *et al.* (in preparation) have observed an increase in phytophagous nematodes with nutrient addition in the mineral layer of tussock tundra soils. An increase in phytophagous nematodes may lead to an increase in root herbivory. In June, an increase in live root biomass was observed in the mineral soil with nutrient addition, but by August, this declined. This loss of root biomass may be due to the addition of a new trophic level at the mineral soil depth (herbivores). If herbivores are colonizing soils under nutrient addition in my study, a range of effects may result, including increased organic matter processing. In other systems, the addition of a new trophic level altered nutrient cycling dynamics (Carpenter *et al.* 1985).

Section 4.2 Subsection 2: Linkages between nutrient addition and microbial activity

Tussock tundra soils are N-limited (Hobbie and Chapin 1998), particularly at the end of the growing season. The largest flush of nutrients occurs at spring thaw then declines throughout the growing season. Shrub tundra, on the other hand, is not N-limited at the end of the growing season (Weintraub and Schimel 2005). Long-term nutrient addition experiments in tussock tundra may have helped alleviate this N-limitation.

Wallenstein *et al.* (2009) suggested that microbial enzyme activity is N-limited in tussock tundra, which would result in a decline in microbial activity by the end of the growing season. They did not observe this decline in microbial enzyme activity in shrub tundra. If nutrient addition has alleviated nutrient limitations in tussock tundra plots, then continued microbial activity throughout the growing season may lead to increased decomposition. An increase in decomposition would result in increased light fraction production, which is what was observed in soils with nutrient addition (Chapter 3). Nutrient availability tends to increases as decomposition rates increase, but only for a finite period of time. Eventually as soil organic pools are decomposed, leaving increasingly humified material, mineral nitrogen availability will decrease (Luo 2007).

Section 4.2 Subsection 3: Linkages between nutrient addition and aggregate/particulate organic matter dynamics

Nutrient addition in tussock tundra soils has resulted in an increased allocation of SOM to particulate organic matter. The amount of SOM as both light fraction and intraaggregate particulate organic matter (iPOM) has increased, and silt+clay-associated organic matter has decreased in small macroaggregates and microaggregates. Total soil carbon and nitrogen content did not change, but their distribution did.

147

Over the course of the growing season, the C:N of light fraction and aggregates declined, which may indicate that SOM decomposition is occurring, which reduces carbon content through respiration while largely conserving nitrogen in increasingly complex SOM structures and microbial biomass. In addition, the C:N of free microaggregates became more similar to occluded microaggregates at the end of the growing season in control soils (Chapter 2). These results may suggest that in control soils, there is macroaggregate turnover at the end of the growing season, which may result in a release of previously occluded microaggregates to the free microaggregate fraction. If new aggregates are forming at the beginning of the growing season, then macroaggregate turnover mid-late season would be in agreement with previous studies that demonstrated that macroaggregate mean residence time could range from 30-95 days (Plante *et al.* 2002; De Gryze *et al.* 2006).

Section 4.3. Conceptual model of relationships between aggregates, POM, and biota with nutrient addition

In the previous section, the relationships between nutrient addition in tussock tundra and foodweb, microbial, and aggregate/POM dynamics were discussed. The results from this dissertation, taken with the results of Gough *et al.* (in preparation), and Wallenstein *et al.* (2009), may be used to form a conceptual model of the relationships between aggregates/POM and the biotic community. Nutrient addition in tussock tundra results in a shift from old, recalcitrant organic matter to a relatively young pool (Nowinski *et al.* 2008) of particulate organic matter (POM). A conceptual model is presented in Figure 1. The mechanism of this shift is envisioned as follows:

Nutrient addition leads to increased root infiltration into the active mineral layer. This increase in plant growth occurs early in the growing season (June). This increase in root growth at lower depths, combined with increased nitrogen, enables the belowground community to remain active throughout the growing season and to exist below the organic horizon into the mineral soil layer (Moore *et al.* in preparation). The active belowground community affects soil aggregate and POM dynamics. Phytophagous nematodes, which Gough *et al.* (in preparation) found in tussock tundra with nutrient addition, but not in unfertilized soil, may consume live roots, which would lead to the observed decrease in live root biomass. Root herbivory results in root fragmentation and exudate production. A large amount of root-based organic matter is lost from plants and



Figure 4.1. Conceptual model of relationships between plants, soil biota, and soil organic matter with nutrient addition.

is consumed by microbes (Merckx *et al.* 1985). Soil organic matter in the arctic may be considered to be 'suspended' rather than stabilized due to low rates of humification processes (Davidson and Janssens 2006). In other systems that contain more processed organic matter, the addition of fresh substrate results in accelerated SOM decomposition of both old SOM and new residues (Hallam and Bartholomew 1953), which is termed the "priming effect" (Parnas 1976). Shifts in plant community structure and the amounts of root inputs can alter decomposition rates (Dormaar 1990).

Under control conditions in tussock tundra, microbial enzyme activity is N-limited by the end of the growing season, but is not in shrub tundra, which does not have a period of N-limitation during the growing season (Wallenstein *et al.* 2009). Long-term nutrient addition in tussock tundra may lead to a hybrid system between tussock and shrub tundra in which nitrogen is not limiting at the end of the growing season, resulting in continued microbial enzyme activity. The result of continued microbial enzyme activity and root

herbivory in soils with nutrient addition is an increase in light fraction organic matter. The light fraction is also decomposed, which results in a lowering of its C:N ratio. As the light fraction is decomposed, some of it becomes occluded within aggregate structures, resulting in an increase in intra-particulate organic matter (iPOM).

Control tussock tundra soils are not as active in the mineral layer as soils with nutrient addition ones due to nutrient limitations and a lack of root infiltration, which results in less light fraction production and subsequent integration into aggregates as iPOM. Because aggregate formation may occur at a lower rate in control soils, macroaggregates may begin to break down by the end of the growing season, releasing microaggregates contained within them. These microaggregates, which have a lower C:N than previously free microaggregates, lower the collective free microaggregate C:N ratio upon their entry into this fraction. Faster SOM turnover with nutrient addition has been previously noted by other researchers. Nowinski *et al.* (2008) determined that long term nutrient addition in tussock tundra results in faster carbon turnover than in control mineral soils.

Section 4.4. Long-term effects/Unanswered Questions/ Future Work

Terrestrial carbon storage in arctic systems is predicted to decline with increasing temperature (Schuur *et al.* 2009; White *et al.* 2004 Oechel *et al.* 1993). It is important to understand how feedbacks on soil carbon loss may affect long-term carbon storage dynamics. For instance Waelbroeck *et al.* (1997) have predicted that carbon dioxide efflux would increase, followed by a longer period of carbon accumulation in response to partial permafrost thawing and increases in both decomposition and nutrient availability. Stieglitz *et al.* (2006) modeled the effects of an increased active layer in arctic soils and estimated that carbon at lower depths would decompose, resulting in a lower soil carbon residence time, but raised the question that the extent to which this carbon loss will occur is unknown.

The preliminary results from 2006 (Chapter 1) suggested that aggregate structure and growing season carbon accumulation were related. As the aggregate mean weightdiameter (MWD) increased, so did carbon accumulation. In the control soils, the MWD increased more than in soils with nutrient addition. At the same time, control soils accumulated carbon whereas soils with nutrient addition remain relatively neutral in terms of carbon accumulation. However, in 2007, the same increase in MWD and carbon accumulation in control soils was not observed. These results suggest that aggregate formation and SOM stabilization are dynamic within arctic systems, and the controls on these processes are not yet as fully understood and predictable as they are in temperate systems (Six *et al.* 2004).

152

Long-term experiments are necessary in order to elucidate mechanisms that affect SOM dynamics in arctic tundra. On a large scale, carbon balance measurements at the ecosystem scale such as the work of Mack *et al.* (2004) provide a snapshot of long-term nutrient addition affects and subsequent shifts in vegetation and microbial community composition and dynamics. The work within this dissertation illustrates that multiple sampling efforts over a growing season provide an added dimension of arctic terrestrial carbon research, which has been shown to be dynamic, both intra- and inter-seasonally. Aggregation and SOM turnover may undergo multi-year cycles. For instance, the high quality (low C:N) free microaggregates left at the end of the growing season in control soils may result in the formation of highly stable macroaggregates the following year, resulting in carbon accumulation. Conversely, if increases in nitrogen availability drive decomposition and does not result in physical protection of SOM through aggregate formation, then carbon loss will occur.

In the future, work that fully integrates SOM dynamics with the plant community, belowground community, including microbial enzyme activity will aid in our understanding of carbon storage in tussock tundra and the mechanisms of its stabilization. In particular, the role of amino acids as a source of nitrogen for both plants and microbes is of interest in a nitrogen-limited system (Chapin *et al.* 1993; Kielland 1994; Schimel and Bennett 2004), along with the effect of increases in temperature on decomposition (Conant *et al.* 2008; Kirschbaum 2006). As rising temperatures in the arctic remove constraints, including nutrient availability, on both decomposition and NPP (e.g. Shaver *et al.* 1992), understanding how aggregate formation and SOM

153

stabilization moderate the interaction between these processes will aid in our ability to predict carbon gain/loss from arctic systems.

Section 4.5. References

Angers, D.A, S. Recous, and C. Aita. 1997. Fate of carbon and nitrogen in water-stable aggregates during decomposition of ¹³C¹⁵N-lavelled wheat straw in situ. European Journal of Soil Science 48: 295-300.

Arneth, A, S.P. Harrison, S. Zaehle, K. Tsigaridis, S. Menon, P.J. Bartlein, J. Feichter, A. Korhola, M. Kulmala, D. O'Donnell, G. Schurgers, S. Sorvari, and T. Vesala. 2010. Terrestrial biogeochemical feedbacks in the climate system. Nature Geoscience 3: 525-532.

Carpenter, S.R., J.F. Kitchell, and J.R. Hodgson. 1985. Cascading trophic interactions and lake productivity. BioScience 35: 634-639.

Chapin, F.S. III, L. Moilanen, and K. Keilland. 1993. Preferential use of organic nitrogen for growth by a non-mycorrhizal arctic sedge. Nature 361: 150-153.

Conant, R.T., R.A. Drijber, M.L. Haddix, W.J. Parton, E.A. Paul, A.F. Plante, J. Six, and J.M. Steinweg. 2008. Sensitivity of organic matter decomposition to warming varies with its quality. Global Change Biology 14: 868-877.

Davidson, E.A. and I.A. Janssens. 2006. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440: 165-173.

De Gryze, S., J. Six, and R. Merckx. 2006. Quantifying water-stable soil aggregate turnover and its implication for soil organic matter dynamics in a model study. European Journal of Soil Science 57: 693-707.

Dormaar, J.E. 1990. Effect of active roots on the decomposition of soil organic materials. Biology and Fertility of Soils 10: 121-126.

Gough, L., J.C. Moore, G.R. Shaver, R.T. Simpson, and D.R. Johnson. In Preparation. Linking above- and belowground responses to increased nutrients in arctic tundra.

Hallam, M.J. and W.V. Bartholomew. 1953. Influence of rate and plant residue addition in accelerating the decomposition of soil organic matter. Proceedings of the Soil Science Society of America 17: 365-368.

Hobbie, S.E. and F.S. Chapin, III. 1998. The response of tundra plant biomass, aboveground production, nitrogen, and CO_2 flux to experimental warming. Ecology 79: 526-545.

Jahn, M., T. Sachs, T. Mansfeldt, and M. Overesch. 2010. Global climate change and its impacts on the terrestrial Arctic carbon cycle with special regards to ecosystem components and the greenhouse-gas balance. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 173: 627-643.

Kielland, K. 1994. Amino acid absorption by arctic plants: implications for plant nutrition and nitrogen cycling. Ecology 75: 2373-2383.

Kirschbaum, M.U.F. 2006. The temperature dependence of organic-matter decomposition – still a topic of debate. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38: 2510-2518.

Luo, Y. 2007. Terrestrial carbon-cycle feedback to climate warming. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 38: 683-712.

Mack, M.C., E.A.G. Schuur, M.S. Bret-Harte, G.R. Shaver, and F.S. Chapin, III. 2004. Ecosystem carbon storage in arctic tundra reduced by long-term nutrient fertilization. Nature 431: 440-443.

Merckx, R., A. den Hartog, and J.A. van Veen. 1985. Turnover of root-derived material and related microbial biomass formation in soils of different texture. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 17: 565-569.

Moore, J.C., L. Gough, H. Horton, R. Simpson, K. Wyant, and G. Selby. In Preparation. Transitions in soils and soil communities to nutrient addition in a moist acidic arctic tundra ecosystem. In: Hobbie, J. and G. Kling (eds). A warming Arctic: ecological consequences for tundra, streams, and lakes. Oxford University Press.

Nowinski, N.S., S.E. Trumbore, E.A.G. Schuur, M.C. Mack, and G.R. Shaver. 2008. Nutrient addition prompts rapid destabilization of organic matter in an arctic tundra ecosystem. Ecosystems 11: 16-25.

Oades, J.M. 1984. Soil organic matter and structural stability: mechanisms and implications for management. Plant and Soil 76: 319-337.

Oechel, W.C., S.J. Hastings, G. Vourlitis, M. Jenkins, G. Riechers, and N. Gruelke. 1993. Recent changes of arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source. Nature 361: 520-533.

Parnas, H. 1976. A theoretical explanation of the priming effect based on microbial growth with two limiting substrates. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 8: 139-144.

Plante, A.F., Y. Feng, and W.B. McGill. 2002. A modeling approach to quantifying soil macroaggregate dynamics. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 82: 181-190.

Schimel, J.P. and J. Bennett. 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. Ecology 85: 591-602.

Schuur, E.A.G., J.G. Vogel, K.G. Crummer, H. Lee, J.O Sickman, and T.E. Osterkamp. 2009. The effect of permafrost thaw on old carbon release and net carbon exchange from tundra. Nature 459: 556-559.

Shaver, G.R., W.D. Billings, F.S. Chapin, III, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, W.C. Oechel, and E.B. Rastetter. 1992. Global change and the carbon balance of arctic ecosystems. Bioscience 42: 433-442.

Six, J., H. Bossuyt, S. Degryze, and K. Denef. 2004. A history of research on the link between (micro)aggregates, soil biota, and soil organic matter dynamics. Soil and Tillage Research 79: 7-31.

Stieglitz, M., R.B. McKane, and C.A. Klausmeier. 2006. A simple model for analyzing climatic effects on terrestrial carbon and nitrogen dynamics: an arctic case study. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 20: GB3016.

Waelbroeck, C., P. Monfray, W.C. Oechel, S. Hastings, and G. Vourlitis. 1997. The impact of permafrost thawing on the carbon dynamics of tundra. Geophysical Research Letters 24: 229-232.

Wallenstein, M.D., S.K. McMahon, and J.P. Schimel. 2009. Seasonal variation in enzyme activities and temperature sensitivities in Arctic tundra soils. Global Change Biology 15: 1631-1639.

Weintraub, M.N. and J.P. Schimel. 2005. The seasonal dynamics of amino acids and other nutrients in Alaskan Arctic tundra soils. Biogeochemistry 73: 359-380.

White, D.M., D.S. Garland, C.L. Ping, and G. Michaelson. 2004. Characterizing soil organic matter quality in arctic soil by cover type and depth. Cold Regions Science and Technology 38: 63-73.

APPENDIX A

AGGREGATE MEAN WEIGHT-DIAMETER

AND WHOLE SOIL CARBON CONTENT FROM 2006.

Table A1: Aggregate MWD and whole soil carbon content from 2006.

	content.
-	carbon
-	vhole soil
-	cer and w
	-diatmet
	n weight
•	gregate mear
	e al. Agg
Ē	lab

Treatment Control				
Control	Date	Block	(mtl) (MM)	content (% C)
	June	1	1198.48	3.90
		2	840.10	3.44
		ю	801.05	3.26
		4	931.90	3.66
	July	1	2434.74	5.37
		2	1244.65	6.26
		ю	1725.76	5.69
		4	965.80	3.78
I+P since 1996	June	1	866.33	4.57
		2	2619.32	3.94
		ю	713.80	2.79
		4	851.46	4.33
	July	1	1244.02	4.72
		2	939.65	2.98
		С	1685.92	3.95
		4	1301.68	3.58
I+P since 1989	June	1	935.43	4.73
		7	no data	no data
		б	542.19	2.46
		4	892.80	6.60
	July	1	1702.54	4.89
		7	795.68	3.80
		ю	1163.90	3.39
		4	1075.75	3.59

APPENDIX B

AGGREGATE SIZE DISTRIBUTION AND SMALL MACROAGGREGATE SUB-FRACTION SIZE DISTRIBUTION

Table B1: Aggregate size distribution from Control soils.

Table B2: Aggregate size distribution from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table B3: Aggregate size distribution from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table B4: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction size distribution from Control soils.

Table B5: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction size distribution from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table B6: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction size distribution from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

		I		Aggregate size distribu	ution (% of whole soil)		I
							Mean Weight-
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	Diameter (µm)
Control	Early June	1	11.35	59.55	17.58	11.52	1267.31
		2	5.33	51.64	25.77	17.26	890.94
		ŝ	8.96	57.34	19.87	13.83	1126.95
		4	7.61	55.65	22.99	13.74	1045.04
	Mid June	-	5.97	58.22	20.98	14.82	989.36
		7	5.15	57.08	24.32	13.45	940.04
		ŝ	5.94	60.51	21.22	12.33	1013.27
		4	8.84	59.67	19.96	11.53	1146.49
	Late June	-	32.17*	38.78*	16.55*	12.50*	2073.10*
		2	1.83	59.10	24.68	14.39	797.52
		ŝ	7.00	64.07	17.57	11.36	1100.48
		4	4.73	50.78	29.14	15.36	855.77
	August	1	12.84	54.85	18.58	13.72	1290.99
		7	0.72	43.35	35.02	20.92	582.13
		ю	16.70	36.40	29.93	16.97	1294.34
		4	10.04	52.47	22.94	14.55	1130.76
	*Only orga	nic soil: no	t used for analysis.				

Table B1. Aggregate fraction size distribution (Control soils)

				Aggregate size distribu	tion (% of whole soil)		
		1		0 00			- Mean Weight-
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	Diameter (µm)
N+P since	Early June	1	13.54	53.73	19.22	13.51	1314.01
1996		2	2.26	59.22	24.24	14.28	819.77
		3	10.19	55.80	21.37	12.64	1172.90
		4	12.40	66.31	13.66	7.63	1388.78
	Mid June	-	3.07	49.00	29.93	18.00	754.78
		7	3.75	56.84	25.11	14.30	868.78
		3	4.39	39.68	33.51	22.42	722.72
		4	13.77	39.94	26.91	19.38	1337.73
	Late June	1	1.92	54.15	25.69	18.24	748.81
		7	3.79	58.59	22.98	14.64	887.11
		3	1.08	33.81	39.84	25.27	501.55
		4	1.14	54.26	28.73	15.87	715.26
	August	1	6.17	60.93	20.31	12.58	1028.00
		7	2.36	50.18	31.09	16.36	734.15
		З	22.96	53.33	14.88	8.83	1773.04
		4	2.18	38.80	31.08	27.93	600.16

Table B2. Aggregate fraction size distribution (N+P since 1996)

				Aggregate size distribu	tion (% of whole soil)		
		1					— Mean Weight-
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	Diameter (µm)
N+P since	Early June	1	1.68	48.88	31.72	17.72	686.64
1989		7	2.25	63.02	22.06	12.66	858.47
		ŝ	1.09	45.03	33.15	20.74	616.57
		4	8.76	64.64	16.07	10.53	1192.14
	Mid June	-	1.71	59.29	25.73	13.27	794.92
		7	2.73	52.39	28.78	16.09	773.87
		ю	0.46	44.52	33.57	21.45	581.66
		4	4.13	62.23	21.12	12.52	941.70
	Late June	1	1.50	43.66	32.93	21.92	621.69
		7	14.60	43.18	26.04	16.19	1259.28
		ю	0.18	43.11	34.66	22.06	552.26
		4	5.80	55.27	22.48	16.46	950.25
	August	1	1.96	50.50	29.91	17.63	715.91
		2	3.26	52.92	26.29	17.53	802.59
		Э	14.65	50.26	22.94	12.16	1335.90
		4	6.39	43.42	30.14	20.05	858.80

Table B3. Aggregate fraction size distribution (N+P since 1989)

			Small macroaggre (percent of	<pre>sgate sub-fraction di small macroaggregs</pre>	stribution ate)	Whole soil conten fractions (n	t of small macroagg ng fraction/g whole	gregate sub- soil)
			Aggrega	te sub-fraction size		Aggreg	ate sub-fraction size	e
Treatment	Date	Block	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	000-250-00 mm	53-250µm	<53µm
Control	Early June	1	18.59	49.34	32.07	110.82	293.47	191.23
		7	18.21	45.51	36.28	93.61	235.27	187.55
		С	18.97	47.77	33.26	107.54	272.79	193.05
		4	19.74	48.73	31.53	108.09	272.69	175.74
	Mid June	1	22.28	48.24	29.47	127.63	281.51	173.05
		2	14.51	55.79	29.70	81.72	318.46	170.63
		С	17.95	52.65	29.40	108.13	318.61	178.32
		4	18.64	49.41	31.95	111.26	294.43	191.05
	Late June	1	organic	soil: Not analyzed		organie	c soil: Not analyzed	_
		7	14.27	58.78	26.95	84.34	347.38	159.24
		С	13.95	57.85	28.20	89.87	370.80	180.00
		4	19.46	55.15	25.39	98.75	280.28	128.78
	August	1	19.37	47.06	33.58	105.77	258.25	184.52
		7	15.84	51.56	32.59	68.68	223.53	141.29
		С	21.28	43.85	30.94	80.72	159.69	116.12
		4	17.48	52.34	30.18	91.33	275.15	158.25

Table B4. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction distribution (Control soils)

ıggregate sub- le soil)	ize	<53µm	171.20	173.44	155.45	176.15	131.77	151.09	100.31	100.28	167.12	167.09	81.25	123.46	196.73	107.48	186.48	90.59
tt of small macroa ng fraction/g who	gate sub-fraction s	53-250µm	241.59	287.45	300.05	366.14	264.67	287.82	195.21	185.11	277.54	297.60	145.71	294.08	325.25	246.79	266.94	157.00
Whole soil conter fractions (r	Aggreg	250-2000 µm	124.55	131.29	102.54	120.79	93.58	129.52	101.30	108.36	97.11	128.80	103.74	120.68	87.37	157.41	79.92	135.51
distribution gate)	e	<53µm	31.96	29.01	27.87	26.57	26.29	26.34	24.88	24.51	30.87	28.37	23.48	22.64	32.09	21.38	34.96	20.41
sgate sub-fraction c small macroaggres	ate sub-fraction siz	53-250µm	45.35	47.24	53.77	55.22	54.08	50.17	45.83	43.21	51.24	50.86	42.60	54.14	53.49	49.25	50.05	35.47
Small macroaggre (percent of	Aggreg	250-2000 µm	22.69	23.75	18.37	18.22	19.63	23.49	29.29	37.57	18.02	19.98	26.75	24.83	14.42	29.86	14.98	24.78
I	Į	Block	1	7	б	4	1	7	б	4	1	7	б	4	1	7	б	4
		Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
		Treatment	N+P since	1996			-				-				-			

Table B5. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction distribution (N+P since 1996)

Interf Date Notestion state Inaction size incert Date Block 250-2000 µm 53-250µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 53-350µm 55-31 250-2000 µm 53-250µm 55-31 260-2000 µm 53-250µm 55-31 260-2000 µm 33-256 133-23 174.37 Nid June 1 18.34 52.77 28.89 106-27 312.23 174.37 Mid June 1 18.34 55.13 29.755 111.08 268-21 143.14 2 18.68 49.95 25.755 118.390 2052.23 114.30 3 2.479 45.				Small macroaggre	gate sub-fraction d	istribution	Whole soil content	t of small macroagg	regate sub-
			I	Aggrega	te sub-fraction size	alc)	Aggreg	ate sub-fraction size	solly
since Early June 1 21.42 51.31 27.27 104.34 250.96 133.54 39 2 17.41 49.89 32.69 106.47 251.17 130.35 3 19.07 48.45 28.99 106.47 221.17 130.35 4 15.12 55.13 29.75 97.92 356.48 191.97 Mid June 1 18.34 52.77 28.89 106.27 312.23 174.37 3 24.79 45.51 25.82 138.90 205.23 116.90 4 15.86 56.15 27.99 98.76 349.91 173.62 143.14 144.10 22.16 45.20 27.65 117.26 195.15 119.37 3 24.96 47.73 27.61 105.49 209.02 122.09 173.62 1 ate June 1 24.96 47.73 27.61 105.49 209.02 122.09 1 ate June 1 24.96 47.73 27.65 117.26 195.15 119.37 3 24.96 48.97 26.07 103.39 213.48 114.19 August 1 9.61 54.99 27.56 117.26 195.15 119.37 3 16.45 54.10 22.51 118.30 272.34 162.04 4 21.37 44.10 32.51 118.30 277.34 162.04 4 29.75 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.75 277.87 139.17 4 29.79 47.73 28.14 10.55.31 273.46 141.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.74 162.04 4 29.79 47.73 28.14 125.34 162.04 123.81 207.30 122.34 162.04 124.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.77.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.74 273.66 141.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 141.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 141.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 141.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 277.87 139.17 3 17.57 14 125.53 175.55 175.5	ment	Date	Block	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	since	Early June	1	21.42	51.31	27.27	104.34	250.96	133.54
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	89		7	17.41	49.89	32.69	108.31	315.58	206.28
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			ю	19.07	48.45	28.99	106.47	221.17	130.35
Mid June118.3452.7728.89106.27312.23174.37218.6849.9527.55111.08268.21143.14324.7945.5125.82138.90205.23116.90415.8656.1527.9998.76349.91173.622227.1647.7327.65117.26195.15119.37227.1645.2027.65117.26195.15119.37324.9648.9726.07103.39213.48114.19421.3749.3129.32118.30273.48114.19August119.6154.9927.5692.75277.87139.17316.4554.1032.51115.53237.63173.77316.4554.1028.2592.75277.87139.17429.7947.7328.14123.81207.30122.43429.7928.1428.2592.24277.86141.77			4	15.12	55.13	29.75	97.92	356.48	191.97
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mid June	1	18.34	52.77	28.89	106.27	312.23	174.37
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			7	18.68	49.95	27.55	111.08	268.21	143.14
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			б	24.79	45.51	25.82	138.90	205.23	116.90
Late June1 24.66 47.73 27.61 105.49 209.02 122.09 22 27.16 45.20 27.65 117.26 195.15 119.37 3 24.96 48.97 26.07 103.39 213.48 114.19 4 21.37 49.31 29.32 118.30 272.34 162.04 August1 19.61 54.99 27.56 92.75 277.87 139.17 316.45 54.10 32.51 115.53 237.63 173.77 4 29.79 47.10 28.25 92.24 277.66 141.77 4 29.79 28.14 123.81 207.30 122.43			4	15.86	56.15	27.99	98.76	349.91	173.62
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Late June	1	24.66	47.73	27.61	105.49	209.02	122.09
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			7	27.16	45.20	27.65	117.26	195.15	119.37
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			ю	24.96	48.97	26.07	103.39	213.48	114.19
August 1 19.61 54.99 27.56 92.75 277.87 139.17 2 22.43 44.10 32.51 115.53 237.63 173.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 273.66 141.77 4 29.79 47.73 28.14 123.81 207.30 122.43			4	21.37	49.31	29.32	118.30	272.34	162.04
2 22.43 44.10 32.51 115.53 237.63 173.77 3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 273.66 141.77 4 29.79 47.73 28.14 123.81 207.30 122.43		August	1	19.61	54.99	27.56	92.75	277.87	139.17
3 16.45 54.10 28.25 92.24 273.66 141.77 4 29.79 47.73 28.14 123.81 207.30 122.43			7	22.43	44.10	32.51	115.53	237.63	173.77
4 29.79 47.73 28.14 123.81 207.30 122.43			ю	16.45	54.10	28.25	92.24	273.66	141.77
			4	29.79	47.73	28.14	123.81	207.30	122.43

Table B6. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction distribution (N+P since 1989)

APPENDIX C

AGGREGATE CARBON CONTENT, NITROGEN CONTENT, AND C:N

Table C1: Aggregate carbon content from Control soils.

Table C2: Aggregate carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table C3: Aggregate carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table C4: Aggregate nitrogen content from Control soils.

Table C5: Aggregate nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table C6: Aggregate nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table C7: Aggregate carbon:nitrogen ratio from Control soils.

Table C8: Aggregate carbon:nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table C9: Aggregate carbon: nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

			Aggregate	Carbon concen	tration (mg C/ ₈	g fraction)		Whole Soil Agg (mg C in fractio	gregate Carbon n/g whole soil)	
		•		Aggregate si	ize fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
Control	Early June	1	55.48	51.24	45.74	63.07	6.21	30.59	8.06	7.26
		2	57.85	40.81	31.29	38.36	3.71	21.21	7.90	6.56
		З	40.15	36.48	30.22	45.48	3.97	21.13	5.56	5.99
		4	44.45	37.29	30.47	40.82	3.45	20.59	7.08	5.69
	Mid June		67.69	60.09	50.75	63.60	4.26	34.99	10.71	9.50
		2	62.79	54.08	43.72	43.33	3.02	31.26	10.73	5.92
		ю	39.23	34.31	29.84	42.07	2.46	20.68	6.27	5.13
		4	40.47	40.00	35.50	45.92	3.82	23.85	7.01	5.24
	Late June	1	org	unic soil: Not an	alyzed for C ar	N pr	orga	mic soil: Not ani	alyzed for C an	d N
		2	44.27	35.22	27.62	35.91	0.81	20.81	6.82	5.17
		З	43.07	41.12	34.40	45.67	3.14	26.07	6.00	5.18
		4	43.94	35.26	27.38	37.72	2.08	17.84	8.01	5.81
	August	1	51.99	49.14	40.19	62.74	6.60	26.84	7.45	8.72
		2	57.78	42.94	30.95	36.23	0.41	18.61	10.84	7.58
		Э	38.04	32.19	29.67	46.38	10.28	11.83	8.37	7.60
		4	55.05	39.04	26.98	37.37	5.58	20.80	6.08	5.40

Table C1. Aggregate carbon content (Control Soils)

			Aggregate	Carbon concen	tration (mg C/§	g fraction)		Whole Soil Agg	gregate Carbon	
		- •		Aggregate si	ize fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	>2000 µm	250-2000 μm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	1	62.03	52.30	43.33	50.50	9.00	27.49	8.38	6.83
1996		7	40.20	38.99	35.46	49.00	0.95	23.64	8.19	6.81
		ю	33.83	29.16	23.31	35.31	3.60	16.25	4.98	4.41
		4	74.38	61.61	47.02	48.46	9.22	40.85	6.42	3.70
	Mid June	1	57.56	44.70	38.14	48.60	1.83	21.65	11.48	8.81
		7	50.40	46.51	41.54	53.89	1.97	26.91	10.16	7.40
		З	43.44	26.18	21.68	32.97	2.04	10.56	7.17	7.34
		4	47.27	39.63	29.42	33.64	11.90	17.59	7.17	5.50
	Late June	1	41.15	39.11	29.77	39.82	0.92	21.19	7.65	7.26
		7	51.99	49.31	45.14	61.08	3.24	29.05	10.33	8.84
		З	16.91	24.94	22.65	35.01	0.12	8.67	8.92	8.75
		4	37.97	34.56	32.42	42.03	0.83	18.97	8.93	6.63
	August	1	60.69	53.86	44.22	54.43	3.49	32.45	9.26	6.94
		2	44.85	21.67	23.19	37.18	0.46	10.89	7.21	6.09
		Э	28.50	28.13	24.46	36.91	6.54	15.00	3.64	3.26
		4	42.58	23.35	18.80	28.00	1.85	11.26	5.47	7.50

Table C2. Aggregate carbon content (N+P since 1996)

			Aggregate	Carbon concen	tration (mg C/g	g fraction)		Whole Soil Agg	gregate Carbon	
		-		Aggregate si	ize fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	1	41.76	44.71	40.04	49.79	0.76	21.79	12.81	8.83
1989		0	40.50	33.71	29.70	38.80	0.99	21.62	6.31	4.77
		б	33.91	36.56	31.99	42.32	0.93	16.19	10.94	8.92
		4	66.34	52.36	40.16	50.10	5.68	33.83	6.47	5.29
	Mid June	1	51.05	45.51	41.07	49.68	0.84	26.81	10.69	6.62
		0	46.48	29.54	24.72	32.32	1.74	16.20	6.84	5.03
		б	63.76	35.83	31.75	42.50	0.50	16.76	10.22	9.06
		4	50.64	43.81	35.34	44.23	2.09	27.33	7.45	5.50
	Late June	1	62.09	40.43	32.06	41.80	0.93	17.82	10.45	9.13
		0	130.30*	51.99	31.20	39.48	19.02*	22.45	8.12	6.39
		ю	no sample ^{\dagger}	33.57	31.94	43.94	no sample ^{\dagger}	14.43	11.29	69.6
		4	37.72	35.26	26.06	38.08	2.39	19.44	5.80	6.25
	August	1	41.23	49.37	39.82	47.16	0.36	24.88	11.61	8.42
		0	44.53	28.56	23.54	31.58	2.59	16.00	5.82	5.30
		б	52.09	47.03	35.05	41.95	4.77	22.44	7.97	5.10
		4	49.48	58.29	48.17	54.97	0.44	25.35	14.49	11.07
*No aggrega	ttes in sample	: - only l	arge organic n	natter. Not used	l in analysis.					
[†] Not enough	sample for c	arbon an	alvsis							
indhoire indhoire	o tot otdumo		·····							

Table C3. Aggregate carbon content (N+P since 1989)

170
			Aggregate	Nitrogen concer	ntration (mg N/	/g fraction)		Whole Soil Aggr mg N in fraction	regate Nitrogen n/g whole soil)	
				Aggregate si	ize fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
Control	Early June	1	2.14	2.10	1.85	2.89	0.24	1.26	0.33	0.33
		7	2.22	1.81	1.42	2.01	0.14	0.94	0.36	0.34
		б	1.72	1.41	1.21	1.99	0.16	0.81	0.23	0.27
		4	1.85	1.47	1.15	1.84	0.14	0.82	0.26	0.25
	Mid June	1	3.10	2.73	2.24	3.12	0.20	1.56	0.47	0.47
		0	3.03	2.67	2.09	2.38	0.14	1.56	0.50	0.32
		б	1.75	1.44	1.33	2.05	0.11	0.86	0.28	0.25
		4	1.58	1.62	1.41	2.17	0.14	0.97	0.28	0.25
	Late June	1	orga	mic soil: Not an	alyzed for C ar	N pr	orga	nic soil: Not ans	alyzed for C an	d N
		0	1.92	1.65	1.23	1.86	0.04	0.98	0.30	0.27
		б	1.59	1.54	1.21	1.92	0.11	0.98	0.21	0.22
		4	1.68	1.30	0.95	1.84	0.08	0.66	0.28	0.28
	August	1	2.11	1.83	1.62	2.93	0.27	0.99	0.31	0.41
		7	2.79	2.36	1.71	2.40	0.02	1.02	0.60	0.50
		б	1.62	1.59	1.35	2.23	0.43	0.62	0.31	0.25
		4	2.36	1.86	1.32	2.02	0.25	0.99	0.29	0.29

Table C4. Aggregate nitrogen content (Control Soils)

			Aggregate	Nitrogen concei	ntration (mg N/	/g fraction)		Whole Soil Aggr	regate Nitrogen	
				Aggregate si	ize fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 um	53-250um	<53µm	>2000 um	250-2000 um	53-250um	<53um
N+P since	Early June	1	2.63	2.33	1.90	2.61	0.38	1.22	0.37	0.35
1996	•	2	1.82	1.62	1.46	2.37	0.04	0.98	0.34	0.33
		ю	2.08	1.19	0.89	1.69	0.21	0.66	0.19	0.21
		4	3.83	3.23	2.51	3.06	0.48	2.14	0.34	0.23
	Mid June	1	2.65	1.91	1.82	2.49	0.08	0.93	0.54	0.45
		7	2.16	1.82	1.57	2.53	0.08	1.05	0.39	0.35
		ю	1.83	1.17	0.96	1.64	0.08	0.47	0.31	0.36
		4	2.50	1.50	1.17	1.71	0.62	0.50	0.30	0.34
	Late June	1	1.91	1.59	1.12	1.98	0.04	0.86	0.29	0.36
		7	2.13	2.01	1.65	2.83	0.13	1.30	0.30	0.32
		З	0.84	0.98	1.21	1.70	0.01	0.38	0.45	0.40
		4	1.79	1.27	0.98	1.51	0.04	0.62	0.32	0.24
	August	1	2.76	2.41	1.89	2.90	0.16	1.45	0.40	0.37
		2	1.77	1.13	1.29	2.00	0.02	0.59	0.38	0.34
		З	1.18	1.25	1.20	1.86	0.27	0.67	0.18	0.16
		4	2.07	2.00	1.68	2.09	0.09	1.09	0.43	0.33

Table C5. Aggregate nitrogen content (N+P since 1996)

			Aggregate	Nitrogen concer	itration (mg N/	g fraction)		Whole Soil Agg	regate Nitrogen	
		-		Aggregate si	ze fraction			Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	-	1.68	1.84	1.57	2.26	0.03	0.90	0.50	0.40
1989		2	2.31	1.71	1.45	2.26	0.06	1.09	0.31	0.28
		З	1.56	1.27	1.03	1.79	0.04	0.71	0.26	0.29
		4	3.16	2.33	1.74	2.60	0.28	1.50	0.28	0.27
	Mid June	1	2.21	1.81	1.58	2.23	0.04	1.07	0.41	0.30
		7	2.55	1.85	1.42	2.18	0.10	1.10	0.35	0.26
		З	3.00	2.24	1.89	2.60	0.02	1.26	0.49	0.45
		4	2.28	2.02	1.67	2.39	0.10	1.26	0.35	0.30
	Late June	1	2.62	1.91	1.51	2.46	0.04	0.84	0.49	0.54
		7	5.67*	2.72	1.69	2.31	0.83*	1.17	0.44	0.37
		ю	no sample ^{\dagger}	1.26	1.72	2.12	no sample ^{\dagger}	0.55	0.64	0.47
		4	1.99	1.66	1.22	2.17	0.12	0.92	0.27	0.36
	August	1	1.63	1.50	1.24	2.05	0.01	0.71	0.43	0.35
		2	2.19	1.87	1.46	2.14	0.13	1.11	0.32	0.32
		Э	2.70	1.87	1.52	2.28	0.24	1.05	0.36	0.25
		4	2.82	2.93	2.38	3.38	0.02	1.22	0.80	0.81
*No aggrega	tes in sample	: - only l	arge organic n	natter. Not used	in analysis.					
[†] Not enough	sample for c	arhon an	alvsis							

Table C6. Aggregate nitrogen content (N+P since 1989)

173

		I		Aggregate fraction	Carbon:Nitrogen	
				Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 um	250-2000 um	53-250um	<53um
Control	Early June	1	25.91	24.43	24.78	21.84
	•	7	26.01	22.61	22.00	19.06
		3	23.37	25.86	25.03	22.84
		4	24.08	25.35	26.45	22.13
-	Mid June	1	21.84	22.34	22.69	20.37
		7	20.70	20.26	20.95	18.18
		с	22.38	23.91	22.39	20.50
		4	25.54	24.66	25.09	21.18
-	Late June	1		organic soil: Not an	alyzed for C and N	
		0	23.01	21.31	22.53	19.33
		С	27.16	26.64	28.34	23.84
		4	26.21	27.18	28.68	20.53
	August	1	24.62	26.91	24.80	21.43
		7	20.68	18.20	18.07	15.13
		С	23.52	20.31	21.97	20.84
		4	23.35	21.04	20.44	18.51

(Control Soils)
ratio
bon:nitrogen
carl
Aggregate
CJ.
Table

				Aggregate fraction	Carbon:Nitrogen	
				Aggregate s	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 um	250-2000 um	53-250um	<53um
N+P since	Early June	1	23.63	22.44	22.82	19.37
1996	•	2	22.04	24.03	24.29	20.65
		ю	16.27	24.61	26.30	20.84
		4	19.41	19.08	18.71	15.86
	Mid June	1	21.71	23.38	20.95	19.55
		2	23.31	25.56	26.44	21.31
		ю	23.72	22.41	22.62	20.12
		4	18.92	26.46	25.19	19.62
	Late June	1	21.52	24.64	26.50	20.16
		2	24.39	24.52	27.29	21.60
		ю	20.04	25.37	18.77	20.61
		4	21.18	27.13	32.94	27.89
	August	1	21.96	22.36	23.36	18.80
		7	25.41	19.21	18.00	18.57
		б	24.15	22.49	20.35	19.85
		4	20.61	11.70	11.19	13.38

		I		Aggregate fraction	Carbon:Nitrogen	
				Aggregate si	ize fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	>2000 µm	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	1	24.80	24.29	25.51	22.06
1989		7	17.54	19.73	20.53	17.18
		З	21.79	28.72	30.96	23.63
		4	20.99	22.49	23.02	19.29
-	Mid June	1	23.09	25.15	26.00	22.26
		7	18.25	15.96	17.40	14.85
		З	21.24	15.99	16.77	16.35
		4	22.22	21.73	21.21	18.54
-	Late June	1	23.73	21.13	21.30	17.01
		7	22.98*	19.11	18.43	17.07
		3	no sample ^{\dagger}	26.58	18.59	20.73
		4	18.91	21.24	21.43	17.56
	August	1	25.25	33.00	32.14	23.01
		7	20.34	15.26	16.16	14.74
		Э	19.27	25.14	23.04	18.39
		4	17.55	19.92	20.23	16.25
*No aggregat	es in sample - e	only large o	organic matter. N	ot used in analysis.		
[†] Not enough	sample for carb	oon analysis				

1989)
since
(N+P
ratio
arbon:nitrogen
Aggregate c
60.
Table

APPENDIX D

SMALL MACROAGGREGATE SUB-FRACTION CARBON CONTENT,

NITROGEN CONTENT, AND C:N

Table D1: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content from Control soils.

Table D2: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table D3: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table D4: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content from Control soils.

Table D5: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table D6: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table D7: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon:nitrogen ratio from Control soils.

Table D8: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon:nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table D9: Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon: nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

of small ion carbon (mg /hole soil)	action	<53µm	12.08	7.67	8.86	7.21	11.41	7.87	7.53	8.71	malyzed	6.21	8.12	5.61	11.05	5.87	5.28	6 56
soil content te sub-fract fraction/g v	egate size fr	53-250µm	14.39	9.18	8.91	10.57	17.40	18.19	10.48	12.24	c soil: Not a	12.66	13.71	9.25	12.09	10.25	4.70	10.61
Whole macroaggrega C in sub-	Aggr	250-2000 µm	1.25	2.22	1.42	2.12	3.56	2.95	1.28	1.19	organie	1.44	1.06	2.35	1.39	0.86	0.72	2,17
ent of small carbon (mg mall	ion	<53µm	20.22	14.80	15.11	13.07	19.53	13.66	12.45	14.59	lyzed	10.50	12.82	11.09	20.24	13.55	14.05	12.44
tggregate conte te sub-fraction ub-fraction/g si acroaggregate)	egate size fract	53-250µm	24.05	17.68	15.46	19.06	30.45	31.55	17.39	20.57	soil: Not anal	21.41	21.56	18.28	22.22	23.64	13.04	19.88
Small macros macroaggrega C in si m.	Aggr	250-2000 µm	2.07	4.27	2.55	4.08	6.49	5.04	2.13	1.99	organic	2.43	1.65	4.65	2.56	1.98	2.08	4.07
o-fraction fraction)	ion	<53µm	63.02	40.70	43.95	41.48	66.85	46.63	42.68	46.13	yzed	38.98	45.17	43.60	60.29	41.58	45.04	40.74
baggregate sultent (mg C/g)	egate size frac	53-250µm	48.85	38.91	32.62	39.19	63.52	55.98	32.97	41.22	soil: Not anal	36.43	37.31	33.20	47.37	45.84	29.75	38.20
Small macre carbon cor	Aggre	250-2000 µm	11.04	23.80	12.97	20.00	26.31	36.19	11.77	10.63	organic	17.04	11.92	23.85	13.09	12.51	8.45	23.89
		Block	1	0	б	4	1	0	n	4	1	0	б	4	1	0	б	4
		Date	Early June	I			Mid June				Late June				August			
		Treatment	Control															

Table D1. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content (Contr	ol soils
Table D1. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content	(Contr
Table D1. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon	content
Table D1. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction	carbon
Table D1. Small macroaggregate sub-	fraction
Table D1. Small macroaggrega	te sub-
Table D1. Small 1	nacroaggrega
Table D1.	Small 1
_	Table D1.

	small t carbon (mg	tion		<53µm	8.84	8.83	5.65	8.98	6.51	8.71	3.75	4.36	7.20	10.26	3.13	5.86	11.10	3.90	6.80	3.07
	oil content of e sub-fraction	eate size frac	0	53-250µm	13.20	10.33	8.62	23.69	11.07	14.19	5.37	9.13	10.58	14.23	3.58	10.23	16.67	5.64	6.53	4.78
	Whole s macroaggrega		0	250-2000 µm	3.29	1.97	1.42	3.79	2.05	1.86	1.33	2.33	2.46	1.96	1.43	1.04	1.95	1.19	0.63	1.33
-	ent of small carbon (mg nall	ion		<53µm	16.79	14.54	10.13	13.55	13.11	14.92	9.15	10.13	13.30	17.39	8.91	10.54	18.25	7.77	12.74	6.67
	ggregate conte te sub-fraction ib-fraction/g si	eruaggrogarc) eate size fract	0	53-250µm	25.49	16.70	15.48	35.72	22.85	24.48	12.08	19.78	19.52	24.32	10.33	18.52	27.79	11.25	12.24	9.44
	Small macros macroaggrega C in su	Aggre	0	250-2000 µm	6.07	3.56	2.55	5.71	4.53	3.42	3.99	5.43	4.54	3.45	4.28	1.92	3.27	2.36	1.17	3.45
-	o-fraction	ion		<53µm	52.35	49.54	36.28	51.00	50.01	56.23	36.71	40.64	43.24	61.22	37.27	46.12	57.27	36.37	36.44	31.37
	baggregate sul	eate size fract	0	53-250µm	54.59	34.94	28.64	64.69	42.23	48.60	25.47	41.95	37.86	47.82	24.06	34.15	51.72	22.85	24.46	22.45
	Small macro	Aggre	00	250-2000 µm	27.51	14.97	14.04	31.34	22.76	14.21	12.97	21.37	25.37	16.45	12.96	8.33	22.43	8.03	7.83	9.61
		•	•	Block	1	0	б	4	1	0	С	4	1	0	б	4	1	0	б	4
				Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
				Treatment	N+P since	1996							-				-			

Table D2. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content (N+P since 1996)

	small carbon (mg le soil)	ion	<53µm	6.71	7.74	5.60	9.58	8.97	5.02	5.17	7.85	5.64	5.73	4.78	6.33	7.27	6.18	6.68	6.86
	oil content of e sub-fraction raction/g who	gate size fract	53-250µm	11.22	10.24	7.80	17.57	14.19	8.91	7.80	16.18	8.51	10.07	7.13	9.64	13.94	6.97	12.27	13.05
	Whole s macroaggregat C in sub-f	Aggre	250-2000 µm	1.69	1.59	2.12	2.93	1.74	1.26	2.34	2.20	3.03	4.74	1.57	2.60	1.84	2.56	1.98	3.90
-	nt of small carbon (mg nall	on	<53µm	13.73	12.10	12.69	14.86	14.91	9.41	11.18	12.63	12.78	13.27	11.00	11.46	14.41	11.23	13.60	15.81
	ggregate conte e sub-fraction b-fraction/g sn croaggregate)	gate size fracti	53-250µm	22.98	15.91	17.51	27.18	24.31	15.86	16.55	25.87	19.49	23.32	16.63	17.50	27.66	12.16	25.88	29.92
	Small macroag macroaggregat C in su ma	Aggre	250-2000 µm	3.49	2.54	4.74	4.57	3.09	2.39	5.21	3.50	6.79	10.98	3.70	4.69	3.64	4.72	4.70	8.80
-	-fraction raction)	ion	<53µm	50.46	36.64	43.61	49.94	51.79	34.28	42.69	45.33	46.37	48.01	42.37	39.08	51.14	34.24	48.11	56.37
	aggregate sub tent (mg C/g f	gate size fract	53-250µm	44.81	31.51	36.48	49.36	46.00	30.60	36.77	45.88	40.85	51.60	34.18	35.34	50.92	26.86	48.41	62.53
	Small macro carbon con	Aggre	250-2000 µm	16.11	15.04	21.53	30.71	16.22	11.28	17.93	21.95	28.74	40.43	15.28	22.00	22.92	22.28	24.58	37.80
			Block	1	0	б	4	1	0	б	4	1	7	ю	4	1	7	Э	4
			Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
			Treatment	N+P since	1989			-				-							

Table D3. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon content (N+P since 1989)

small on nitrogen thole soil)	tion	<53µm	0.59	0.45	0.43	0.39	0.59	0.48	0.41	0.44	lyzed	0.33	0.38	0.30	0.52	0.36	0.25	0.35
oil content of ate sub-fractic b-fraction/g w	gate size frac	53-250µm	0.64	0.47	0.41	0.50	0.83	0.94	0.55	0.53	soil: Not ana	0.58	0.58	0.43	0.51	0.53	0.23	0.51
Whole s macroaggreg (mg N in sul	Aggre	250-2000 µm	0.08	0.11	0.08	0.10	0.18	0.14	0.08	0.08	organic	0.08	0.07	0.09	0.07	0.05	0.05	0.09
nt of small n nitrogen ; small	ion	<53µm	0.99	0.88	0.74	0.71	1.01	0.83	0.68	0.74	yzed	0.56	0.60	0.59	0.96	0.84	0.67	0.67
ggregate conte ite sub-fractio sub-fraction/g croaggregate)	gate size fracti	53-250µm	1.07	06.0	0.72	0.90	1.45	1.62	0.91	0.89	soil: Not anal	0.99	06.0	0.85	0.94	1.23	0.63	0.96
Small macroag macroaggrege (mg N in ma	Aggre	250-2000 µm	0.13	0.22	0.15	0.20	0.32	0.24	0.13	0.13	organic	0.13	0.10	0.19	0.13	0.11	0.14	0.18
b-fraction fraction	ion	<53µm	3.09	2.41	2.20	2.25	3.46	2.82	2.34	2.31	yzed	2.10	2.14	2.30	2.86	2.56	2.21	2.21
aggregate sub tent (mg N/g	gate size fract	53-250µm	2.18	1.98	1.50	1.85	3.04	2.88	1.73	1.79	soil: Not anal	1.68	1.56	1.55	2.00	2.38	1.43	1.84
Small macro nitrogen co	Aggre	250-2000 μm	0.68	1.20	0.78	0.97	1.31	1.68	0.71	0.70	organic	0.90	0.74	0.96	0.66	0.71	0.55	1.03
·		Block	1	0	б	4	1	7	б	4	1	0	б	4	1	7	ю	4
		Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
		Treatment	Control															

Table D4. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content (Control soils)

	small on nitrogen hole soil)	ion	<53µm	0.50	0.47	0.32	0.60	0.36	0.44	0.22	0.27	0.42	0.47	0.16	0.31	0.59	0.23	0.32	0.20
	oil content of ate sub-fractic b-fraction/g w	gate size fract	53-250µm	0.64	0.50	0.42	1.33	0.73	0.61	0.26	0.47	0.56	0.60	0.17	0.49	0.78	0.30	0.30	0.28
	Whole s macroaggreg (mg N in su	Aggre	250-2000 µm	0.17	0.11	0.08	0.18	0.10	0.11	0.08	0.12	0.12	0.11	0.08	0.08	0.09	0.07	0.04	0.08
-	nt of small n nitrogen small	ion	<53µm	0.94	0.78	0.57	0.91	0.73	0.75	0.53	0.62	0.78	0.81	0.46	0.56	0.96	0.45	0.59	0.44
	ggregate conte ate sub-fraction 1 sub-fraction/g acroaggregate)	egate size fracti	53-250µm	1.23	0.81	0.76	2.00	1.44	1.06	0.59	1.01	1.03	1.03	0.49	0.90	1.30	0.60	0.56	0.57
	Small macroa macroaggreg (mg N in ma	Aggre	250-2000 µm	0.30	0.20	0.15	0.27	0.23	0.20	0.24	0.30	0.22	0.19	0.24	0.15	0.16	0.15	0.07	0.23
-	-fraction fraction	ion	<53µm	2.93	2.65	2.04	3.41	2.78	2.84	2.11	2.47	2.55	2.85	1.92	2.46	3.03	2.10	1.70	2.05
	aggregate sub ntent (mg N/g	gate size fract	53-250µm	2.63	1.70	1.41	3.63	2.65	2.11	1.26	2.19	1.99	2.02	1.15	1.66	2.41	1.22	1.13	1.37
	Small macro nitrogen coi	Aggre	250-2000 µm	1.36	0.84	0.80	1.50	1.15	0.86	0.82	1.10	1.25	0.93	0.74	0.63	1.07	0.51	0.44	0.61
		•	Block	1	7	З	4	1	7	Э	4	1	2	З	4	1	2	Э	4
			Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
			Treatment	N+P since	1996														

 Table D5.
 Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1996)

	small on nitrogen hole soil)	ion	-53µm		0.34	0.50	0.31	0.54	0.44	0.34	0.28	0.46	0.32	0.38	0.25	0.39	0.38	0.39	0.38	0.41
	oil content of ate sub-fractic b-fraction/g w	gate size fract	53_750mm		0.49	0.57	0.37	0.85	0.63	0.54	0.39	0.79	0.44	0.57	0.34	0.52	0.66	0.40	0.62	0.67
	Whole s macroaggreg (mg N in su	Aggre	250-2000 um		0.10	0.11	0.11	0.15	0.10	0.09	0.14	0.11	0.13	0.23	0.09	0.15	0.09	0.14	0.11	0.18
-	nt of small n nitrogen small	uo	~53lim	TIMA CON	0.69	0.79	0.70	0.84	0.73	0.64	0.61	0.73	0.73	0.88	0.57	0.70	0.75	0.71	0.77	0.95
	ggregate conte ate sub-fraction sub-fraction/g icroaggregate)	gate size fracti	53-250um		1.01	0.00	0.82	1.31	1.08	0.96	0.82	1.26	1.01	1.33	0.79	0.94	1.31	0.71	1.31	1.54
	Small macroa, macroaggreg (mg N in ma	Aggre	250-2000 um		0.20	0.18	0.26	0.24	0.18	0.18	0.32	0.17	0.31	0.54	0.22	0.27	0.18	0.27	0.25	0.40
-	-fraction fraction)	on	mil/2/		2.53	2.39	2.40	2.83	2.53	2.32	2.31	2.64	2.64	3.17	2.19	2.40	2.65	2.16	2.73	3.40
	aggregate sub ntent (mg N/g	gate size fracti	53-250mm		1.97	1.78	1.70	2.38	2.05	1.86	1.83	2.23	2.11	2.94	1.62	1.90	2.42	1.57	2.45	3.22
	Small macro nitrogen cor	Aggre	20-2000 um		0.94	1.04	1.16	1.59	0.95	0.82	1.11	1.07	1.27	1.98	0.88	1.27	1.12	1.23	1.34	1.70
			Blook	DIUCN .	1	7	e	4	1	7	ю	4	1	7	ю	4	1	2	Э	4
			Data	Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
			Turnation	T I CALINCIIL	N+P since	1989		1												

Table D6. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1989)

		I	Small macroag	gregate sub-fraction carbon	:nitrogen ratio
		I		Aggregate size fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
Control	Early June	1	16.34	22.39	20.42
		2	19.84	19.68	16.87
		ю	16.65	21.68	19.94
		4	20.52	21.20	18.46
-	Mid June	1	20.10	20.90	19.31
		2	21.49	19.46	16.55
		ю	16.58	19.10	18.22
		4	15.13	23.08	19.94
-	Late June	1	OL	ganic soil: C:N not analyze	q
		2	18.85	21.65	18.60
		ю	16.18	23.95	21.12
		4	24.82	21.47	18.94
-	August	1	19.72	23.72	21.10
		2	17.57	19.27	16.23
		ю	15.40	20.77	20.39
		4	23.13	20.74	18.42

 Table D7
 Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon:nitrogen ratio (Control soils)

			Small macroage	tregate sub-fraction carbon	l:nitrogen ratio
		11	5	Aggregate size fraction	D
Treatment	Date	Block	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	1	20.30	20.76	17.85
1996		2	17.75	20.50	18.67
		б	17.63	20.38	17.74
		4	20.95	17.82	14.95
	Mid June	1	19.77	15.93	17.98
		2	16.58	23.05	19.79
		б	15.77	20.19	17.38
		4	19.49	19.18	16.43
	Late June	1	20.24	19.00	16.97
		2	17.75	23.65	21.46
		ŝ	17.55	20.87	19.40
		4	13.25	20.60	18.74
	August	1	20.89	21.45	18.92
		2	15.89	18.74	17.30
		ю	17.87	21.74	21.42
		4	15.82	16.40	15.29

Table D8. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon:nitrogen ratio (N+P since 1996)

		I	Small macroagg	regate sub-fraction carbor	n:nitrogen ratio
		I		Aggregate size fraction	
Treatment	Date	Block	250-2000 µm	53-250µm	<53µm
N+P since	Early June	1	17.13	22.80	19.91
1989		2	14.51	17.73	15.32
		С	18.62	21.43	18.21
		4	19.33	20.76	17.64
	Mid June	1	17.09	22.41	20.46
		2	13.83	16.41	14.78
		С	16.22	20.09	18.48
		4	20.57	20.58	17.19
	Late June	1	22.66	19.35	17.55
		2	20.40	17.58	15.16
		С	17.37	21.16	19.33
		4	17.28	18.57	16.27
	August	1	20.52	21.08	19.32
		2	18.10	17.08	15.82
		ю	18.40	19.79	17.62
		4	22.25	19.43	16.58

Table D9. Small macroaggregate sub-fraction carbon:nitrogen ratio (N+P since 1989)

APPENDIX E

WHOLE SOIL CARBON CONTENT, NITROGEN CONTENT, AND C:N

Table E1: Whole soil carbon content, nitrogen, and carbon:nitrogen ratio from Control soils.

Table E2: Whole soil carbon content, nitrogen, and carbon:nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table E3: Whole soil carbon content, nitrogen, and carbon:nitrogen ratio from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table E1. Whole soil carbon content, nitrogen content, and carbon:nitrogen ratio (Control soils)

			Whole Soil Carbon	Whole Soil Nitrogen	
			content	content	Whole Soil C:N
Treatment	Date	Block	mg C/g whole soil	mg N/g whole soil	
Control	Early June	1	52.12	2.15	24.25
		2	39.39	1.79	22.06
		3	36.65	1.47	24.93
		4	36.82	1.48	24.88
	Mid June	1	59.45	2.70	22.03
		2	50.92	2.53	20.12
		с	34.54	1.50	23.07
		4	39.91	1.64	24.35
	Late June	1	organi	ic soil: Not analyzed for C a	and N
		7	33.61	1.58	21.24
		ю	40.40	1.52	26.49
		4	33.75	1.30	26.01
	August	1	49.61	1.98	25.07
		7	37.44	2.14	17.47
		З	34.66	1.66	20.85
		4	37.85	1.82	20.81

96
19
since
d-
Ę
ratio
on:nitrogen
carb
and
tent,
con
, nitrogen
content
carbon
soil
hole
M
able E2.
Ε

			Whole Soil Carbon	Whole Soil Nitrogen	
			content	content	Whole Soil C:N
ment	Date	Block -	mg C/g whole soil	mg N/g whole soil	
ce 1996	Early June	1	51.71	2.33	22.20
		0	39.59	1.70	23.32
		б	29.24	1.27	22.99
		4	60.20	3.19	18.85
•	Mid June	1	43.77	2.00	21.93
		0	46.44	1.87	24.86
		С	27.12	1.23	21.98
		4	38.19	2.00	19.13
•	Late June	1	36.56	1.72	21.31
		2	49.86	1.98	25.23
		ю	26.40	1.02	25.88
1		4	34.95	1.50	23.28
•	August	1	52.14	2.38	21.94
		0	24.42	1.29	18.94
		б	28.44	1.28	22.20
		4	25.16	1.48	16.96

1989)
since
I+N)
ratio
carbon:nitrogen
and
content,
nitrogen
content,
carbon
soil
Whole
le E3.
Tabl

			Whole Soil Carbon	Whole Soil Nitrogen	
			content	content	Whole Soil C:N
Treatment	Date	Block	mg C/g whole soil	mg N/g whole soil	
V+P since 1989	Early June	1	44.19	1.83	24.17
		2	33.69	1.73	19.43
		ю	36.35	1.57	23.08
		4	51.27	2.34	21.94
-	Mid June	1	44.96	1.81	24.88
		2	29.23	1.53	19.07
		С	36.21	1.62	22.37
		4	42.37	2.00	21.15
-	Late June	1	38.34	1.91	20.03
		7	36.96	1.99	18.58
		С	35.41	1.65	21.43
		4	33.87	1.66	20.34
-	August	1	45.03	1.96	23.02
		7	28.84	1.75	16.48
		С	38.69	1.98	19.56
		4	51.05	2.63	19.41

APPENDIX F

CARBON AND NITROGEN CONTENT OF SILT+CLAY (<53 µm) FROM SMALL

MACROAGGREGATES AND MICROAGGREGATES

Table F1: Carbon content of silt+clay (<53 μ m) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from control soils.

Table F2: Carbon content of silt+clay ($<53 \mu m$) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table F3: Carbon content of silt+clay (<53 μ m) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table F4: Nitrogen content of silt+clay ($<53 \mu m$) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from control soils.

Table F5: Nitrogen content of silt+clay ($<53 \mu m$) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table F6: Nitrogen content of silt+clay ($<53 \mu m$) from small macroaggregates and microaggregates from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table F1. Carbon content of Silt+clay (<53μm) from Small Macroaggregates and Microaggregates (Control Soils)

(mµ(mg mucro- aggregate <53µm	subtraction C/g whole soil	5.61	6.15	4.34	5.53	6.03	7.38	4.66	5.52	<53 fraction	5.33	4.25	6.28	5.23	8.11	6.56	4.42
oaggregate (53-250		mg micro- aggregate <53µm	subtraction Ug micro-aggregate	31.89	23.94	23.14	23.66	28.75	29.62	22.13	28.10	: Not analyzed for	21.61	24.34	21.41	27.96	23.17	23.48	19.42
Micr	ma total >52.1m	C from micro- aggregate/g total	<pre><sum irom<br="">micro-aggregate</sum></pre>	59.08	40.70	43.42	39.63	58.61	44.98	39.70	43.46	organic soil	34.15	41.69	35.99	57.39	34.66	39.63	36.85
2000µm)		mg small macro- aggregate <53µm	subtraction C/g whole soil	23.29	13.95	16.01	15.30	23.59	20.80	15.56	19.18	<53 fraction	17.67	18.39	13.05	18.10	13.20	8.95	12.65
croaggregate (250-	mg small macro-	aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g	small macro- aggregate	39.03	26.87	27.44	27.44	40.80	36.19	25.86	32.19	Not analyzed for <	29.90	28.93	25.79	33.15	30.44	24.14	23.95
Small Ma	mg total <53µm C from small	macro- aggregate/g total <53µm from	small macro- aggregate	60.29	40.13	41.57	43.45	68.20	49.80	41.16	46.72	organic soil:	41.58	42.36	41.93	55.93	44.71	43.81	40.02
			Block	-	7	б	4	1	7	б	4	1	7	б	4	1	0	б	4
			Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
			Treatment	Control															

192

Table F2. Carbon content of Silt+clay (<53μm) from Small Macroaggregates and Microaggregates (N+P since 1996)

			Small Ma	croaggregate (250-	2000μm)	Micr	oaggregate (53-250)	hm)
			mg total <53µm C from small macro- aggregate/g total <53µm from small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53μm subfraction C/g small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g	mg total <53µm C from micro- aggregate/g total <53µm from	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate	aggregate	whole soil	micro-aggregate	micro-aggregate	whole soil
N+P since								
1996	Early June	1	52.17	36.22	19.04	52.01	29.58	5.69
		7	49.46	27.33	16.89	44.78	26.22	6.22
		б	33.07	20.36	11.35	33.82	19.01	4.06
		4	58.99	41.61	27.59	56.23	33.33	4.55
	Mid June	1	47.22	28.49	13.92	46.97	30.06	9.09
		7	55.64	33.72	19.64	53.72	32.34	7.86
		ю	32.96	16.72	7.41	32.79	17.45	5.78
		4	37.72	19.57	6.73	32.54	18.76	4.48
	Late June	1	40.06	25.62	13.88	40.47	23.14	5.95
		0	61.71	39.08	23.09	57.25	32.27	7.50
		б	34.24	14.93	5.24	35.22	18.25	7.19
		4	42.16	24.21	13.34	40.68	25.61	7.06
	August	1	53.35	36.67	22.16	52.56	31.65	6.53
		7	32.46	16.86	8.47	33.77	18.02	5.61
		б	34.82	21.88	11.67	34.68	19.24	2.86
		4	31.85	13.72	6.62	26.29	13.68	4.01

Carbon content of Silt+clay (<53μm) from	roaggregates and Microaggregates (N+P since 1989)
Table F3. C	Small Macre

			Small Ma	croaggregate (250-	.2000µm)	Micr	oaggregate (53-250)	um)
			mg total <53µm C from small macro- aggregate/g total <53µm from small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53μm subfraction C/g	mg total <53μm C from micro- aggregate/g total <53um from	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction C/g
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate	aggregate	whole soil	micro-aggregate	micro-aggregate	whole soil
N+P since								
1989	Early June	1	47.94	30.48	14.88	49.09	30.23	9.64
		7	35.50	24.38	15.67	35.98	23.23	4.96
		б	41.10	26.02	11.56	39.32	24.38	8.33
		4	50.00	37.34	24.16	49.25	30.24	4.87
	Mid June	1	53.51	35.61	20.95	52.18	32.51	8.41
		2	34.49	22.26	12.32	34.60	20.64	5.76
		б	37.02	20.45	9.76	40.62	23.49	7.80
		4	45.10	33.51	20.85	42.01	26.50	5.57
	Late June	1	46.68	24.92	11.08	40.56	23.30	7.58
		2	51.14	29.31	12.65	35.97	18.61	4.85
		ю	41.39	23.72	10.18	37.51	22.49	8.03
-		4	37.73	24.52	13.50	35.26	18.05	4.01
	August	1	52.16	34.35	17.33	47.16	27.92	8.27
		7	32.87	19.35	10.90	31.73	18.32	4.57
		ю	46.01	29.21	14.23	39.22	23.56	5.40
		4	58.08	35.31	15.32	47.52	28.75	8.63

Table F4. Nitrogen content of Silt+clay (<53μm) from Small Macroaggregates and Microaggregates (Control Soils)

			Small Ma	croaggregate (250-	·2000µm)	Micr	oaggregate (53-250)	(un)
			mg total <53µm N from small macro- aggregate/g total <53µm from small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g	mg total <53µm N from micro- aggregate/g total <53µm from	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate	aggregate	whole soil	micro-aggregate	micro-aggregate	whole soil
Control	Early June	- 0	2.66	1.73	1.03	2.79	1.50	0.27
		n n	2.11 1.88	1.42	0.74 0.71	2.38 2.25	1.40	0.37 0.23
		4	2.21	1.39	0.77	2.08	1.24	0.29
	Mid June	-	3.65	2.18	1.25	3.24	1.58	0.33
		2	2.93	2.14	1.24	2.61	1.71	0.42
		З	2.08	1.30	0.78	2.12	1.18	0.25
		4	2.05	1.42	0.84	2.21	1.42	0.28
	Late June	1	organic soil.	: Not analyzed for <	<53 fraction	organic soil:	Not analyzed for <	53 fraction
		2	2.17	1.56	0.92	1.69	1.07	0.26
		e	1.84	1.25	0.80	1.87	1.09	0.19
		4	2.14	1.31	0.67	1.70	1.01	0.29
	August	1	2.59	1.53	0.84	2.74	1.32	0.25
		2	2.70	1.84	0.80	1.93	1.29	0.45
		Э	2.07	1.13	0.41	1.84	1.09	0.30
		4	2.17	1.30	0.69	1.95	1.03	0.23

Table F5. Nitrogen content of Silt+clay (<53μm) from Small Macroaggregates and Microaggregates (N+P since 1996)

sgate (250-2000μm) Microaggregate (53-250μm)	ull macro- regate mg small macro- 3µm aggregate N from micro- aggregate aggregate ction N/g <53µm aggregate/g total <53µm <53µm macro- subfraction N/g subfraction N/g subfraction N/g	regate whole soil micro-aggregate micro-aggregate whole soil	.87 0.98 2.77 1.58 0.30	.31 0.81 2.24 1.31 0.32	.00 0.56 1.65 0.92 0.20	.65 1.75 3.65 2.16 0.30	.53 0.75 2.41 1.55 0.46	.54 0.88 2.81 1.69 0.41	.91 0.40 1.89 0.95 0.38	.04 0.35 1.78 1.02 0.26	.36 0.74 2.43 1.39 0.36	.69 1.00 2.58 1.46 0.34	.74 0.25 1.66 0.86 0.34	.22 0.67 2.12 1.34 0.37	.84 1.11 2.95 1.77 0.37	.92 0.46 1.93 1.03 0.32	
Small Macroag	mg total <53µm N from small mg sr macro- ag aggregate/g total . <53µm from subfi small macro- sm	aggregate aş	2.69	2.37	1.63	3.75	2.53	2.57	1.81	2.04	2.13	2.67	1.73	2.11	2.67	1.78	1 50
		Block	-	2	б	4	1	7	ю	4	1	0	ю	4	1	7	(
		Date	Early June	•			Mid June				Late June				August		
		Treatment	N+P since 1996												I		

			Small Ma	croaggregate (250-	2000µm)	Micr	oaggregate (53-250	hm)
			mg total <53μm N from small macro- aggregate/g total <53μm from small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g small macro-	mg small macro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g	mg total <53µm N from micro- aggregate/g total <53µm from	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g	mg micro- aggregate <53µm subfraction N/g
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate	aggregate	whole soil	micro-aggregate	micro-aggregate	whole soil
N+P since								
1989	Early June	1	2.26	1.44	0.70	2.34	1.44	0.46
		2	2.13	1.47	0.95	2.16	1.39	0.30
		Э	2.08	1.32	0.59	1.96	1.22	0.42
		4	2.53	1.89	1.22	2.74	1.68	0.27
	Mid June	1	2.56	1.70	1.00	2.80	1.75	0.45
		7	2.03	1.31	0.73	2.41	1.44	0.40
		З	2.10	1.24	0.59	2.25	1.29	0.43
		4	2.30	1.71	1.06	2.42	1.53	0.32
	Late June	1	2.51	1.34	0.60	2.08	1.20	0.39
		2	3.36	1.93	0.83	2.10	1.09	0.28
		e	2.08	1.19	0.51	1.72	1.03	0.36
_		4	2.25	1.45	0.80	1.94	1.00	0.22
	August	1	2.85	1.89	0.96	2.42	1.43	0.42
		7	2.01	1.18	0.66	2.00	1.16	0.29
		ю	2.58	1.64	0.78	2.08	1.24	0.28
		4	3.46	2.10	0.91	2.92	1.77	0.53

APPENDIX G

SMALL MACROAGGREGATE AND MICROAGGREGATE

LIGHT FRACTION CARBON CONTENT

Table G1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction carbon content from control soils.

Table G2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table G3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table G4. Microaggregate (53-250 µm) light fraction carbon content from control soils.

Table G5. Microaggregate (53-250 μ m) light fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table G6. Microaggregate (53-250 μ m) light fraction carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table G1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction carbon content (Control Soils)

					Small Macroaggregate		
							% of total soil C as
					mg small	% of small	small
				mg LF-C/g small	macroaggregate LF- n	nacroaggregate C in	macroaggregate LF-
Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-C/g LF	macroaggregate	C/g whole soil	LF	C
N+P since	Early June	1	272.39	4.67	2.43	8.88	4.79
1996		6	257.61	2.35	1.32	6.30	3.36
		ю	280.18	1.76	0.98	6.02	3.36
		4	278.55	3.36	2.23	5.45	3.70
	Mid June	1	201.48	2.41	1.11	5.31	2.53
		7	208.76	2.37	1.26	5.45	2.87
		ю	286.61	1.51	0.57	5.82	2.07
		4	299.26	2.75	0.94	8.26	2.45
	Late June	1	289.48	3.79	2.06	9.75	5.63
		0	272.08	2.79	1.55	5.84	3.18
		с	295.72	2.25	0.73	9.79	2.91
		4	279.17	1.58	0.86	4.60	2.48
	August	1	305.70	3.51	2.06	6.25	3.85
		7	335.94	1.47	0.73	6.81	3.00
		ю	264.74	1.22	0.65	4.33	2.28
		4	290.72	3.66	1.40	24.58	5.45

Table G2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction carbon content (N+P since 1996)

					Small Macroaggrega	ite	
					mg small	% of small	70 01 LULAI SOIL C AS small
eatment	Date	Block	mg LF-C/g LF	mg LF-C/g small macroaggregate	macroaggregate LF- C/g whole soil	macroaggregate C in LF	macroaggregate LF- C
+P since	Early June	-	333.31	2.06	1.00	4.57	2.25
1989	•	2	291.78	1.64	1.05	5.02	3.14
		С	277.54	2.43	1.10	6.78	3.15
		4	293.28	3.47	2.23	6.62	4.35
	Mid June	-	312.07	1.73	1.02	3.80	2.29
		0	323.56	1.71	0.89	6.34	3.09
		С	282.56	2.46	1.16	6.71	2.91
		4	295.27	2.33	1.45	5.35	3.43
	Late June	1	289.78	3.90	1.78	9.47	4.52
		0	256.97	5.61	2.42	10.79	6.55
		С	292.44	2.17	0.94	6.46	2.68
		4	267.68	2.32	1.28	6.65	3.82
	August	1	271.00	3.16	1.60	5.49	3.09
		0	301.93	3.60	2.04	12.46	09.9
		С	280.09	4.07	1.75	7.42	4.43
		4	272.40	8.02	3.55	13.54	6.94

Table G3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction carbon content (N+P since 1989)

Microaggregate	mg LF-C/g mg microaggregate % of microaggregate % of total soil C as	mg LF-C/g LF microaggregate LF-C/g whole soil C in LF microaggregate LF-C	246.49 2.99 0.53 6.53 1.01	350.37 0.98 0.25 3.15 0.65	283.67 1.52 0.27 4.78 0.73	300.93 1.06 0.26 3.44 0.69	225.49 5.27 1.14 10.12 1.82	309.86 1.36 0.32 3.24 0.64	288.54 0.75 0.13 2.34 0.36	295.16 1.05 0.21 2.95 0.52	organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction carbon	337.42 1.00 0.25 3.62 0.74	266.43 1.23 0.21 3.42 0.50	310.18 0.81 0.24 2.90 0.69	244.43 3.92 0.77 9.61 1.40	392.98 0.77 0.27 2.47 0.72	308 54 105 0.29 3.52 0.80	
	mg	mg LF-C/g LF micro	246.49	350.37	283.67	300.93	225.49	309.86	288.54	295.16	10	337.42	266.43	310.18	244.43	392.98	308 54	- 0:000
I		Block	1	2	ю	4	1	6	С	4		7	С	4	1	7	"	c
		Date	Early June				Mid June				Late June				August			
		Treatment	Control				I			ļ					I			

Table G4. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction carbon content (Control Soils)

Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-C/g LF	mg LF-C/g microaggregate	mg microaggregate LF-C/g whole soil	% of microaggregate C in LF	% of total soil C as microaggregate LF-C
N+P since	Early June		318.34	2.22	0.43	4.87	0.79
1996		2	286.03	1.35	0.31	3.66	0.78
		Э	349.38	0.65	0.14	2.78	0.47
		4	291.16	1.48	0.20	3.14	0.34
	Mid June	1	318.04	1.81	0.56	4.72	1.26
		2	288.82	1.25	0.31	3.05	0.71
		Э	370.90	1.08	0.37	5.03	1.37
		4	391.22	0.83	0.20	3.43	0.75
	Late June	1	310.19	1.46	0.38	4.89	1.02
		2	278.48	1.54	0.37	3.42	0.77
		ю	320.67	1.16	0.46	5.21	1.79
		4	300.87	1.40	0.37	3.92	0.99
	August	1	309.91	1.96	0.44	4.28	0.79
		7	360.07	0.66	0.20	2.85	0.83
		3	288.15	1.00	0.15	4.07	0.52
		4	371.10	0.78	0.24	4.77	1.16

Table G5. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction carbon content (N+P since 1996)

Microaggregate

					Microaggregate		
				mg LF-C/g	mg microaggregate	% of microaggregate	% of total soil C as
Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-C/g LF	microaggregate	LF-C/g whole soil	C in LF	microaggregate LF-C
N+P since	Early June	1	283.13	1.48	0.48	3.61	1.07
1989		0	336.30	0.68	0.15	2.28	0.45
		б	332.46	1.01	0.35	3.09	0.93
		4	319.13	1.41	0.23	3.53	0.44
	Mid June	1	299.80	1.07	0.27	2.62	09.0
		0	373.15	0.51	0.15	2.21	0.59
		б	318.12	1.51	0.48	4.75	1.30
		4	341.83	0.80	0.17	2.27	0.40
	Late June	1	315.09	1.35	0.40	4.02	1.00
		0	309.95	1.40	0.37	4.50	0.99
		б	328.34	1.18	0.40	3.76	1.13
		4	342.75	1.06	0.24	4.11	0.73
	August	1	341.54	1.37	0.38	3.00	0.75
		7	354.67	0.98	0.24	4.14	0.88
		б	321.85	1.38	0.31	3.80	0.79
		4	296.55	3.09	0.94	6.45	1.83

Table G6. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction carbon content (N+P since 1989)

204

APPENDIX H

SMALL MACROAGGREGATE AND MICROAGGREGATE

LIGHT FRACTION NITROGEN CONTENT

Table H1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction nitrogen content from control soils.

Table H2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table H3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) light fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table H4. Microaggregate $(53-250 \ \mu m)$ light fraction nitrogen content from control soils.

Table H5. Microaggregate (53-250 μ m) light fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table H6. Microaggregate $(53-250 \ \mu m)$ light fraction nitrogen content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

	l small e N in macroaggregate LF N 1.880 3.791 2.178 3.773 6.655 6.655 1.915 1.912 3.257 1.912 3.257 1.912 3.266	% of smal macroaggregat LF 3.191 7.209 3.996 6.463 11.772 6.463 3.995 5.275 2.952 5.275 5.275 5.722	mg small macroaggregate LF- N/g whole soil 0.043 0.043 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.032 0.033 0.035 0.035 0.035 0.035 0.035 0.035 0.035	mg LF-N/g small macroaggregate 0.071 0.133 0.055 0.095 0.055 0.095 0.060 0.060 0.061 0.061 0.087 0.045 0.045 0.045	mg LF-N/g LF 10.168 12.213 9.903 9.469 8.899 11.311 10.805 12.055 12.055 12.055 9.917	Block	Date Early June Mid June Late June August
	1.227	3.820	0.020	0.058	12.038	С	
	1.227	3.820	0.020	0.058	12.038	c	
				0.050		ç	
	2.866	5.722	0.066	0.123	9.917	1	August
August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	3.086	6.071	0.039	0.077	8.383	4	
4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	1.912	2.952	0.029	0.045	10.119	Э	
3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	3.257	5.275	0.052	0.087	12.810	2	
2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866		t fraction nitrogen	1: Not analyzed for light	organic soi			Late June
Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	1.915	3.213	0.031	0.051	12.055	4	
4 12.055 0.051 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.257 3.257 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	2.266	3.995	0.035	0.060	10.805	С	
3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 4 12.055 0.051 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.257 3.257 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	3.753	6.053	0.100	0.164	11.311	7	
2 11.311 0.164 0.100 6.053 3.753 3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 4 12.055 0.051 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.213 1.915 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	6.655	11.772	0.202	0.373	8.899	1	Mid June
Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 2 11.311 0.164 0.100 6.053 3.753 3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 4 12.055 0.051 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.213 1.915 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 6.071 3.086 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	3.370	6.463	0.050	0.095	9.469	4	
4 9.469 0.095 0.050 6.463 3.370 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 2 11.311 0.164 0.100 6.053 3.753 3.753 3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 4 12.055 0.061 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.213 1.915 2 12.810 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.722 2.866	2.178	3.996	0.032	0.055	9.903	З	
3 9.903 0.055 0.032 3.996 2.178 4 9.469 0.095 0.050 6.463 3.370 2 11.311 0.100 6.053 3.373 3 10.805 0.051 0.100 6.053 3.753 4 12.055 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction mitrogen 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction mitrogen 3.213 1.915 August 1 9.017 0.087 0.052 5.275 3.257 3 10.119 0.045 0.029 2.952 1.912 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.059 5.775 3.286	3.791	7.209	0.070	0.133	12.213	7	
2 12.213 0.133 0.070 7.209 3.791 3 9.903 0.055 0.032 3.996 2.178 4 9.469 0.095 0.050 6.463 3.370 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 3 10.805 0.164 0.100 6.053 3.753 3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 4 12.055 0.051 0.031 3.213 1.915 Late June 1 organic soil: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen 3.257 3 10.119 0.065 0.052 5.275 3.257 4 8.383 0.077 0.052 5.275 3.257 4 8.383 0.077 0.039 5.972 3.266 3.10 11915 3.213 1.912 3.257 3.257 4 8.383 0.077 0.059 2.952 1.912	1.880	3.191	0.043	0.071	10.168	1	Early June
trol Early June 1 10.168 0.071 0.043 3.191 1.880 2 12.213 0.133 0.070 7.209 3.791 3 9.903 0.055 0.032 3.996 2.178 3 9.903 0.055 0.032 3.996 2.178 4 9.469 0.095 0.050 6.463 3.370 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 3 10.805 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 1.373 0.001 0.035 3.995 2.266 1.915 Late June 1organic soli: Not analyzed for light fraction nitrogen A 8.383 0.077 0.029 2.952 1.912 August 1 9.917 0.123 0.066 5.772 2.866	Ν	LF	N/g whole soil	macroaggregate	mg LF-N/g LF	Block	Date
	e N in macroaggregate LF	macroaggregat	macroaggregate LF-	mg LF-N/g small			
mg LF-Ng small macroaggregate LF- macroaggregate N in macroaggregate LF- tment Date Block mg LF-Ng LF macroaggregate N in macroaggregate LF ntrol Early June 1 10.168 0.071 0.043 3.191 1.880 atrol 2 12.213 0.133 0.070 7.209 3.791 3 9.903 0.055 0.070 7.209 3.791 1.880 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.050 6.463 3.791 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 Mid June 1 8.899 0.373 0.202 11.772 6.655 Mid June 1 8.899 0.060 0.035 3.995 2.266 Mid June 1 11.311 0.164 0.100 6.653 3.753 Late June 1 1 - - - - - Late June 1 0.060	ll small	% of smal	mg small				
method median median median small small	CO LI TING IDINI IN 0/						
small% of smallsmallgregate LF-macroaggregate Ninmacroaggregate LF-hole soilLFN 043 1.91 1.880 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 070 7.209 3.791 050 6.463 3.773 050 6.463 3.773 050 1.772 6.655 100 6.053 3.753 031 3.213 1.915 032 3.213 1.915 072 5.275 3.257 052 5.275 3.257 029 2.952 1.912 029 6.071 3.086 006 5.722 2.866	CO AT TING INNAL AN AL						

Table H1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction nitrogen content (Control Soils)
					Small Macroaggrega	ite	
							% of total soil N as
					mg small	% of small	small
				mg LF-N/g small	macroaggregate LF-	macroaggregate N in	macroaggregate LF-
Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-N/g LF	macroaggregate	N/g whole soil	LF	Ν
N+P since	Early June	1	12.917	0.222	0.116	9.544	5.115
1996		6	10.615	0.097	0.054	6.334	3.199
		б	10.502	0.067	0.037	5.570	2.888
		4	11.763	0.142	0.094	4.390	2.944
	Mid June	1	8.212	0.098	0.046	5.117	2.322
		0	8.385	0.094	0.050	5.484	2.798
		б	12.307	0.064	0.025	5.498	2.014
		4	13.017	0.120	0.041	7.659	2.052
	Late June	1	13.039	0.171	0.093	9.758	5.474
		7	11.515	0.127	0.070	6.824	3.610
		б	11.655	0.092	0.029	11.660	3.144
		4	12.535	0.069	0.037	4.910	2.535
	August		12.187	0.136	0.080	5.461	3.316
		7	12.190	0.054	0.027	4.931	2.099
		б	11.019	0.051	0.027	4.050	2.109
		4	13.202	0.166	0.063	19.236	4.171

Table H2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1996)

					Small Macroaggrega	ate	
							% of total soil N as
					mg small	% of small	small
				mg LF-N/g small	macroaggregate LF-	macroaggregate N in	macroaggregate LF-
Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-N/g LF	macroaggregate	N/g whole soil	LF	N
N+P since	Early June		14.925	060.0	0.044	4.917	2.418
1989		7	16.155	0.090	0.057	5.406	3.337
		С	13.702	0.122	0.055	8.307	3.625
		4	13.911	0.164	0.105	7.063	4.529
	Mid June	-	13.394	0.074	0.044	4.100	2.471
		7	15.977	0.085	0.044	6.585	2.996
		ю	14.395	0.183	0.080	12.198	2.893
		4	12.594	0.100	0.062	4.970	3.097
	Late June	1	11.229	0.143	0.064	7.428	3.343
		7	13.264	0.290	0.125	10.644	6.283
		ю	12.668	0.094	0.040	7.430	2.518
		4	13.612	0.118	0.065	7.105	3.902
	August	1	11.908	0.148	0.074	5.754	3.205
		2	15.462	0.183	0.103	10.820	5.525
		З	14.398	0.189	0.083	7.015	4.110
		4	12.310	0.369	0.164	12.506	6.307

Table H3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) light fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1989)

					Microaggregate		
Treatment	Date	Block	mg I.F-N/g I.F	mg LF-N/g microaggregate	mg microaggregate L.F-N/9 whole soil	% of microaggregate N in L.F	% of total soil N as microaggregate L.F-N
Control	Early June	1	8.232	0.101	0.018	5.397	0.818
	•	7	11.112	0.031	0.008	2.198	0.447
		3	9.026	0.048	0.008	3.757	0.573
		4	9.026	0.031	0.007	2.694	0.497
	Mid June	-	9.610	0.229	0.050	9.879	1.737
		7	10.854	0.049	0.011	2.491	0.450
		С	9.492	0.025	0.004	1.819	0.282
		4	7.806	0.027	0.005	1.927	0.331
	Late June	-		organic soi	il: Not analyzed for light	fraction nitrogen	
		2	9.861	0.029	0.007	2.387	0.457
		3	7.686	0.034	0.006	2.813	0.372
		4	5.959	0.017	0.005	1.702	0.375
	August	1	7.625	0.140	0.028	8.183	1.187
		0	11.196	0.022	0.008	1.274	0.356
		б	8.963	0.033	0.007	2.290	0.432
		4	10.235	0.049	0.011	3.299	0.513

Table H4. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction nitrogen content (Control Soils)

					Microaggregate		
T		Dicol	ma I F_N/a I F	mg LF-N/g microaccreate	mg microaggregate I F_N/a whole coil	% of microaggregate N in I F	% of total soil N as
N+P since	Early June	DIUCK	11.402	0.085	0.016	4.093	0.651
1996	•	0	9.730	0.046	0.011	3.007	0.625
		ю	13.573	0.023	0.005	2.663	0.392
		4	12.340	0.063	0.00	2.493	0.268
	Mid June	1	9.012	0.052	0.016	2.966	0.792
		2	7.835	0.034	0.00	2.181	0.480
		ю	8.018	0.026	0.010	3.072	0.900
		4	12.578	0.027	0.006	2.198	0.420
	Late June	1	10.933	0.052	0.013	3.952	0.771
		2	7.150	0.039	0.010	2.403	0.495
		ю	8.251	0.030	0.012	3.710	1.229
		4	9.253	0.040	0.011	2.848	0.678
	August	1	9.759	0.064	0.014	3.200	0.562
		7	10.721	0.020	0.006	1.583	0.470
		ю	8.481	0.029	0.004	2.440	0.341
		4	13.871	0.029	0.00	3.073	0.688

Table H5. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1996)

Treatment	Date	Block	mg LF-N/g LF	mg LF-N/g microaggregate	mg microaggregate LF-N/2 whole soil	% of microaggregate N in LF	% of total soil N as microaggregate LF-N
N+P since	Early June	1	7.474	0.038	0.012	2.383	0.660
1989	5	2	13.247	0.025	0.005	1.823	0.342
		ю	10.354	0.030	0.010	2.266	0.633
		4	12.116	0.054	0.00	3.114	0.373
	Mid June	-	7.753	0.028	0.007	1.765	0.388
		7	13.710	0.020	0.006	2.118	0.650
		ю	10.347	0.049	0.015	3.480	0.831
		4	10.880	0.026	0.005	1.532	0.267
	Late June	1	10.249	0.048	0.014	3.143	0.737
		7	12.086	0.055	0.014	3.233	0.716
		ю	9.486	0.034	0.012	2.339	0.702
		4	12.666	0.039	0.00	3.208	0.529
	August	1	10.861	0.047	0.013	2.376	0.548
		0	14.356	0.040	0.010	2.723	0.578
		б	12.210	0.054	0.012	2.966	0.599
		4	12.277	0.130	0.040	5.481	1.502

Table H6. Microaggregate (53-250µm) light fraction nitrogen content (N+P since 1989)

Microaggregate

APPENDIX I

CONCENTRATION OF SMALL MACROAGGREGATE AND

MICROAGGREGATE LIGHT FRACTION MASS AND C:N

Table I1. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and carbon:nitrogen from control soils.

Table I2. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and carbon:nitrogen from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table I3. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and carbon:nitrogen from soils with nutrient addition since 1989

rauo (cor	ILLOI SOIIS							
			Ϋ́.	mall Macroagorega	a		Microagoregate	
			0, of small master .	% of whole coil mace		% of miono_	0, of whole coil mace	
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate mass as	as small macro- as small macro-	Small Macro- acorecate C:N	aggregate mass as	as micro-aggregate	Micro- aggregate C:N
Control	Early		0.66	0.40	25.86	1.21	0.21	29.94
	June	0	1.13	0.59	24.19	0.28	0.07	31.53
		ю	0.56	0.32	26.14	0.57	0.10	31.43
		4	1.26	0.67	26.31	0.36	0.09	33.34
		-	3.90	2.16	23.38	2.41	0.52	23.46
	Mid June	7	1.46	0.89	23.32	0.44	0.11	28.55
		ю	0.55	0.32	24.33	0.29	0.05	30.40
		4	0.43	0.26	23.14	0.37	0.07	37.81
		1		organic soil	l: Not analyzed for lig	ght fraction		
	Late June	7	0.68	0.40	24.99	0.30	0.07	34.22
		б	0.46	0.29	26.80	0.47	0.08	34.66
		4	0.92	0.47	32.14	0.27	0.08	52.05
	August	1	1.26	0.68	26.45	1.69	0.33	32.06
		0	0.59	0.26	22.66	0.19	0.07	35.10
		б	0.48	0.17	24.49	0.35	0.09	34.42
		4	1.22	0.65	23.16	0.42	0.09	29.54

Table I1. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and light fraction carbon:nitrogen

rauo (N+r	since 19	(06						
			S	mall Macroaggregate			Microaggregate	
			% of small macro- 9 aggregate mass as	% of whole soil mass as small macro-	Small Macro-	% of micro- aggregate mass as	% of whole soil mass as micro-aggregate	Micro-
Treatment	Date	Block	LF	aggregate LF	aggregate C:N	LF	LF	aggregate C:N
N+P since	Early	1	1.74	0.90	21.09	0.70	0.14	27.92
1996	June	7	0.88	0.50	24.27	0.47	0.10	29.40
		ю	0.63	0.35	26.68	0.19	0.04	25.74
		4	1.21	0.80	23.68	0.51	0.07	23.59
		1	1.20	0.57	24.53	0.57	0.18	35.29
	Mid June	7	1.05	0.57	24.90	0.43	0.11	36.86
		б	0.52	0.20	23.29	0.29	0.10	46.26
		4	0.97	0.34	22.99	0.22	0.05	31.10
_		1	1.31	0.71	22.20	0.47	0.12	28.37
	Late June	0	1.05	0.58	23.63	0.54	0.13	38.95
		б	0.76	0.25	25.37	0.36	0.14	38.86
		4	0.58	0.32	22.27	0.54	0.14	32.52
-	August	1	1.14	0.67	25.08	0.64	0.14	31.76
		7	0.44	0.22	27.56	0.18	0.06	33.58
		б	0.46	0.25	24.03	0.35	0.05	33.98
		4	1.26	0.48	22.02	0.21	0.07	26.75

Table I2. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and light fraction carbon:nitrogenratio (N+P since 1996)

ratio (N+F	P since 19)89)						
		-	S	mall Macroaggregate			Microaggregate	
			% of small macro- %	% of whole soil mass		% of micro-	% of whole soil mass	
Treatment	Date	Block	aggregate mass as LF	as small macro- aggregate LF	Small Macro- aggregate C:N	aggregate mass as LF	as micro-aggregate LF	Micro- aggregate C:N
N+P since	Early	1	0.62	0.30	22.33	0.52	0.17	37.88
1989	June	2	0.58	0.37	18.06	0.21	0.04	25.39
		ю	0.88	0.39	20.26	0.31	0.11	32.11
		4	1.21	0.78	21.08	0.44	0.07	26.34
		1	0.55	0.33	23.30	0.36	0.09	38.67
	Mid June	7	0.53	0.28	20.25	0.14	0.04	27.22
		с	0.92	0.44	19.63	0.49	0.16	30.74
		4	0.79	0.49	23.45	0.24	0.05	31.42
		1	1.37	0.63	25.81	0.44	0.13	30.74
	Late June	2	2.18	0.94	19.37	0.45	0.12	25.65
		б	0.74	0.32	23.09	0.36	0.12	34.61
		4	0.87	0.48	19.66	0.31	0.07	27.06
	August	1	1.21	0.61	22.76	0.43	0.12	31.45
		2	1.20	0.67	19.53	0.27	0.07	24.71
		С	1.46	0.63	19.45	0.43	0.10	26.36
		4	2.90	1.28	22.13	1.04	0.32	24.15

Table I3. Concentration of small macroaggregate and microaggregate light fraction mass and light fraction carbon:nitrogen

APPENDIX J

SMALL MACROAGGREGATE AND MICROAGGREGATE INTRA-AGGREGATE

PARTICULATE ORGANIC MATTER (iPOM) CARBON CONTENT

Table J1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 $\mu m)$ iPOM carbon content from control soils.

Table J2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) iPOM carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table J3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000 μ m) iPOM carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

Table J4. Microaggregate (53-250 µm) iPOM carbon content from control soils.

Table J5. Microaggregate (53-250 $\mu m)$ iPOM carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1996.

Table J6. Microaggregate $(53-250 \ \mu m)$ iPOM carbon content from soils with nutrient addition since 1989.

				Small Macr	oaggregate.	
				mg small	% of small	% of total soil C as
Treatment	Date	Block	mg iPOM C/g small macroaggregate	macroaggregate iPOM C/g whole soil	macroaggregate C in iPOM	small macroaggregate iPOM C
Control	Early June	1	10.41	6.20	20.40	11.91
	`	2	10.63	5.52	25.92	13.86
		ю	7.61	4.30	22.09	12.42
		4	7.37	3.99	19.43	10.73
-	Mid June	1	11.91	6.87	19.76	11.75
		2	14.20	8.23	26.74	16.19
		ю	6.96	4.25	20.93	12.68
		4	6.59	3.94	16.68	10.01
-	Late June	1		organic soil: Not anal	lyzed for iPOM	
		2	3.14	1.86	8.92	5.52
		ю	10.96	6.90	26.21	16.94
		4	6.98	3.53	19.72	10.44
-	August	1	12.76	7.01	25.52	13.96
		0	10.72	4.65	24.97	12.41
		б	6.62	2.37	21.62	7.23
		4	11.62	6.29	25.46	14.09

Table J1. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) iPOM carbon content (Control Soils)

				Small Macr	oaggregate.	
				=	H	
			mo iPOM C/o small	mg small macroacorecate iPOM	% OI SMAII macroacorecate C in	% OI LOLAI SOII C AS small macroagoregate
Treatment	Date	Block	macroaggregate	C/g whole soil	iPOM	iPOM C
Control	Early June	1	11.41	6.02	21.91	12.00
		2	9.31	5.44	24.84	13.86
		б	7.04	3.92	24.51	13.60
		4	16.64	11.03	27.01	18.33
	Mid June	1	13.80	6.62	30.57	15.12
		7	10.42	6.01	22.44	12.73
		б	7.96	2.58	31.29	9.70
		4	11.44	3.89	34.79	10.25
	Late June	1	69.6	5.25	24.89	14.38
		7	7.44	4.42	15.02	8.78
		С	7.76	2.70	31.11	9.93
		4	8.77	4.76	25.68	13.85
	August	1	13.68	8.23	25.45	15.96
		7	3.35	1.69	15.41	6.88
		б	5.03	2.68	17.89	9.44
		4	5.97	3.24	16.67	9.77

Table J2. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) iPOM carbon content (N+P since 1996)

				Small Macr	oaggregate	
			mg iPOM C/g small	mg small macroaggregate iPOM	% of small macroaggregate C in	% of total soil C as small macroaggregate
Treatment	Date	Block	macroaggregate	C/g whole soil	iPOM	iPOM C
Control	Early June	1	12.17	5.91	27.06	13.33
		7	7.69	4.90	23.56	14.64
		3	8.11	3.53	21.82	9.76
		4	11.54	7.43	22.01	14.48
	Mid June	1	8.17	4.83	17.98	10.82
		7	5.57	2.99	19.20	9.82
		ю	10.88	4.56	35.16	13.24
		4	7.97	5.04	17.66	11.57
	Late June	1	11.61	4.96	29.16	13.01
		2	17.07	7.37	32.84	19.94
		ю	7.69	3.31	22.90	9.45
		4	8.41	4.66	24.45	14.07
	August	1	11.86	5.96	23.78	12.88
		0	5.61	3.06	20.31	10.34
		ŝ	13.76	6.45	28.51	16.60
		4	14.96	6.48	25.77	12.56

Table J3. Small Macroaggregate (250-2000µm) iPOM carbon content (N+P since 1989)

		1		Microa	ggregate	
		I				
						% of total soil C as
			mg iPOM C/g	mg microaggregate	% of microaggregate C	microaggregate iPOM
Treatment	Date	Block	microaggregate	iPOM C/g whole soil	in iPOM	С
Control	Early June	1	10.86	1.92	23.64	3.66
		2	6.37	1.51	19.33	3.71
		б	5.56	0.95	16.82	2.52
		4	5.75	1.29	19.16	3.55
-	Mid June	-	16.73	3.54	32.90	5.93
		2	12.74	3.03	27.64	5.66
		б	6.95	1.48	24.67	4.49
		4	6.34	1.29	18.06	3.30
-	Late June	1		organic soil: Not and	alyzed for iPOM	
		2	5.01	1.24	18.14	3.68
		ю	8.83	1.54	25.77	3.88
		4	5.15	1.50	19.15	4.47
-	August	1	8.31	1.45	20.80	3.19
		7	7.02	2.46	22.67	6.56
		3	5.14	1.52	17.53	4.69
		4	6.26	1.37	22.46	3.79

Table J4. Microaggregate (53-250µm) iPOM carbon content (Control Soils)

		ļ		Microa	iggregate	
						% of total soil C as
Treatment	Date	Block	mg iPOM C/g microagoregate	mg microaggregate iPOM C/ø whole soil	% of microaggregate C in iPOM	microaggregate iPOM C
Control	Early June	1	11.54	2.25	24.72	4.04
		2	7.88	1.66	21.04	4.14
		ю	3.66	0.78	14.78	2.53
		4	12.21	1.67	25.96	2.77
-	Mid June	1	6.27	1.84	16.80	4.28
		2	7.95	1.98	19.26	4.42
		б	3.15	1.02	14.44	3.80
		4	4.25	1.15	19.57	4.95
-	Late June	1	5.16	1.33	17.00	3.58
		2	11.33	2.46	25.00	4.94
		б	3.25	1.27	13.95	4.72
		4	5.41	1.51	17.04	4.43
-	August	-	10.61	2.29	23.43	4.19
		2	4.50	1.40	19.41	5.74
		3	4.23	0.63	17.29	2.21
		4	4.33	1.22	21.53	4.79

Table J5. Microaggregate (53-250µm) iPOM carbon content (N+P since 1996)

				Microa	ggregate	
						% of total soil C as
Treatment	Date	Block	mg iPOM C/g microaggregate	mg microaggregate iPOM C/g whole soil	% of microaggregate C in iPOM	microaggregate iPOM C
Control	Early June	1	8.33	2.69	20.59	5.99
		7	5.79	1.21	18.64	3.53
		3	6.60	2.26	20.61	6.08
		4	8.51	1.38	21.14	2.68
	Mid June	1	7.49	2.01	18.04	4.39
		2	3.58	0.93	13.52	3.05
		б	6.75	1.94	18.35	5.11
		4	8.04	1.71	22.75	4.09
-	Late June	1	7.41	2.48	23.40	6.60
		2	11.18	2.91	35.84	7.88
		ŝ	8.27	2.86	26.15	8.01
		4	6.95	1.55	26.68	4.63
-	August	1	10.52	2.96	24.81	6.36
		2	4.23	1.01	17.19	3.67
		б	10.11	2.26	27.03	5.71
		4	16.33	4.92	33.94	9.61

Table J6. Microaggregate (53-250µm) iPOM carbon content (N+P since 1989)

APPENDIX K

LIVE ROOT BIOMASS FROM 8-mm-SIEVED SOIL

Table K1. Live root biomass from 8-mm-sieved soil.

			Control Soils	N+P since 1996	N+P since 1989
Treatment	Date	Block	mg dried roots/g dry soil	mg dried roots/g dry soil	mg dried roots/g dry soil
Control	Early June	1	0.075	1.349	1.103
		7	0.380	0.431	0.151
		ŝ	0.735	0.359	3.389
		4	0.685	2.470	3.797
	Mid June	1	1.316	2.040	0.492
		7	0.550	0.274	0.586
		ŝ	1.295	1.076	1.420
		4	0.124	4.321	3.159
			organic soil: Not analyzed for		
	Late June	-	root biomass	5.612	1.553
		7	0.630	0.365	1.487
		ю	0.100	0.944	2.555
		4	1.236	3.111	4.961
	August	1	0.212	1.484	0.614
		7	0.360	0.207	0.122
		З	0.359	0.044	1.457
		4	0.077	0.370	0.308

Table K1. Live root biomass from 8mm-sieved soil